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PERSONAL FORE-WORD

WCCORDED the advantage of mingling
with people of different hemispheres, ana-
Ivsing characteristics, studving and par-
ticipating in pioncer life, under changed
and changing conditions; obscrving kaleidoscopic
variations in manners, customs and fashions
throughout Europe and the American continent,
has been to me profoundly enlightening.

NMore solacing, more exhilarating: to have, even
remotely, assisted in moulding the destinies of the
Dominion of Canada, enjoved untrammeled free-
dom—each day, something accomplished, some-
thing achieved—to have basked beneath the sun-
shine of vouthful phantasics, when the world of
bovhood was a vast plavground, surcharged with
the elixir of life, love, friendship and confiding
brotherhood—the cup of contentment secemed filled
to the brim.

Alas! the illusive alchemy of adolescence, with
its tempting wiles and exquisite thrills,is chimerical,
the battle of life a stern corrective; the newer,
wholesome awakening to the fact that legitimate
labour in the vinevard of human pursuit vields
abundant harvests, and he who, rich or poor,
cultivates self-denial, a spirit of broad charity,
respecting privileges and tolerating even prejudices,
will alwavs be recognized as a patriotic and trust-
worthy citizen. What could be more meritorious,
more distinctive?

Bevond peradventure, the world is gradually
coming to recognize all professions, all work, as
alike honourable, when falling within the scope
of human intelligence.

Recalling incidents of an active life, having co-
operated withscoresof menwho, heart toheart, shoul-
der to shoulder and head to head, devoted their lives
to the making of Canada; with many of them
encountered storm and sunshine, failure and
success, | reverently thank the Almighty for Dhless-
ings vouchsafed me and those near and dear.
Impelled by no motive of sclf-glorification, I desire
to perpetuate the commemoration of the Dominion’s
Sixticth Anniversary by a volume, which, while
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faithfully registering the proceedings of 1927,
includes two following vecars, emphasizing the
world’s recognition of Canada’s possibilities, her
status, her achievements; the ¢lory, too, of a
majestic superstructure crowning the corner stone
of Confederation.

When preparing letterpress and illustrations, the
writer aimed at presenting what, figuratively, may
be termed a scrics of moving pictures, portraying
various phases of Canadian public life; man’s
devotion to Dutv, Faith in the resources of his
country and a Trust sacredly administered: finally,
spontancous recognition of patriotic attributes by
appreciative and grateful fellow-countrymen.

Those who have time and inclination will find
in public and private libraries many historic
works dealing with Canada’s past and present.
The Government archives are open to all. The
works of Francois Garneau, Benjamin Sulte,
M. Descelles, Francis Parkman, Sir Sandford
Fleming may also be found. During the Jubilee,
a volume, “Sixty Years of Canada’s Progress,”
appeared, teeming with facts concerning the
Dominion. Before that William Kingsford’s “His-
tory of Canada,” comprising twelve volumes and
“Canada and Its Provinces,” published in 1917
(twenty-three volumes), contributed to by one hun-
dred able writers, Dr. Shortt and Dr. Doughty as
general editors. With Garneau, Kingsford and
other volumes enumerated, any student will find
Canadian cvents dealt with under various and
varying aspects. One of the finest pieces of work,
cither literary or constructive, is Mr. D. S. Douglas’
Index to “Canada and Its Provinces'"—a model of
industry and perspicacity.

Believing that Canada’s Commemorative Jubilce
merited the publication of a distinctive volume, a
record preceding as well as following Confederation,
including certain epoch-making events, their causes
and consequences, the tvriter has ventured to deal
with such details. He has attempted to tell the
story n plain Anglo-Saxon to the men and women
of the Dominion; an object lesson and appeal,



urging all to gaze towards the beautiful stars,
rather than loiter in sombre depths of frivolity,
indolence and indifference. The writer would ask
these to remember the truism:—what man did,
his successor can do. It involves untiring effort,
ceaseless vigilance, unflagging energy, continuous
endeavour; only unflinching zeal, dauntless courage
and self-sacrifice, concentrated upon overcoming
obstacles, eventually achicve victory.
Ambitiousminds, rejoicing inspectacularenviron-
ments, are prone to minimize the mighty efforts
and attainments of superiors. Not so the sterling
character, be he Canadian or one owing allegiance
to his adopted country. Such men adoringly hail
those whose prowess subdued nature, grappled
with the seemingly unattainable, conquering that
which seemed insuperable, and proclaiming, “\We
come of a race that never evaded responsibilities,
nor faltered, nor trembled, in hours of tribulation
and discouragement—when freedom, loyalty, God
and honour were talismanic incentives.” The writer
has observed both classes. Today, in all sincerity,
he believes that those who love Canada can be
trusted to continue the great work of enriching
the treasure vault of which they hold the keys,

Guardians of a charge so sacred, they must in-
violably keep faith.

I frequently wonder (no doubt multitudes have
done likewise) whether the Creator vouchsafes
longevity as a counter-irritant to the belief in
vouth's infallibility. In earlier years, cne too often
solves problems by personal prejudice. Today the
sunset of life, with its mellowing influence, super-
induces disenchantment. Physical endurance may
deteriorate with age—only in a qualified sense
does age seriously impair the mental faculties. It
may, in some cases; if so, my dear friends who
read these chronicles will, I am sure, recall the
circumstances and accept probabilities as apologies
for many shortcomings, uniting with me in re-
calling the words of James Russell Lowell:

“God give us men! A time like this demands
Strong minds, brave hearts, true faith and
willing hands!
Men whom the lust for office does not kill;
Men whom the spoils of office cannot buy;

Men who have opinions and a will.
Men of high honour—men who do not lie!”

194 Chapel Street,
Ottawa, Ontario

CHARLES H. MACKINTOSH

G
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PART I

SHADOW AND SUNSHINE
A CORNER STONE WELIL AND TRULY LAID
Out of Partial Eclipse Emerged a Beautiful Dawn

VROR many vears the pressing advisability of
| merging the Provinces of British North America,

attendant upon communication between the Provinces were
recognized to be an insuperable bar to any closer relations
than those involved in the common allegiance to the Crown
of Great Britain, and it was not until railways had in some
measure removed obstacles, that the scheme entered the
domain of practical politics.

Shortly after the conclusion of the Treaty of Paris in
1763, His Majesty George II1 signed a Royal Proclama-
tion outlining the boundaries of his possessions in North
America, including Canada, out of which were carved the
inhabited portions, named Quebec. The Quebec Act of 1774
extended the houndaries in such form as included the whole
of Canada, as understood by the old French Government.
In 1791, an Imperial Act of Parliament divided the Province
of Quebec into two Provinces, to be called respectively,
Upper and Lower Canada. In 1841 these Provinces were
re-united under the name of Canada.

Earlyv in 1864, a movement upon the part of Nova Scotia,
New Brunswick and Prince Edward Island, having for its
object the legislative union of those Provinces, and a
meeting of delegates arranged to convene at Charlottetown,
P.E.I., on the 1st of September, 1864. The occasion was
deemed opportune by the Canadian Government; accord-
ingly, eight members of the Ministry, comprising leaders of
both parties, repaired to Charlottetown, addressing the
Conference in advocacy of a scheme embracing all the
British Colonies. This proposal so far commended itself
to the Maritime members, that they agreed to meet at
Quebec City during the following month, for the purpose of
conferring with Canadian representatives on the subject of a
federal union of all the British North American Provinces.

(CONFERENCE AT (QUEBEC, 10TH OF OCTOBER, 1864

It was composed of thirty-three members from the
various Colonies, under the presidency of Sir Etienne
Taché, Prime Minister of Canada. It closed its session in
Montreal on the 29th of October, having adopted favourable
resolutions, defining the powers and functions of the
General and Provincial Legislatures, which it was proposed
to establish. These resolutions were subsequently approved
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by the Canadian Parliament, the Legislatures of Nova
Scotia and New Brunswick contenting themselves with the
passage of a resolution authorizing, in general terms, the
appointment of delegates to arrange with the Imperial
Government a plan of union. Prince Edward Island and
Newfoundland rejected the whole scheme. At a further
Conference, held in London in December, 1866, and open-
ing months of 1867, the Quebec resolutions were, with some
modifications, incorporated in an Act of the Imperial
Parliament, designated the British North America Act,
which received Royal assent on the 29th of March, 1867,
taking effect by a Royal Proclamation on the 22nd of Nay
following, declaring that after the 1st of July, 1867, the
Provinces of Canada, Nova Scotia, and New Brunswick
should form and be one Dominion under the name of Canada.

In 1869-70 Rupert's Land and the alleged rights in the
North-Western territory were purchased from the Hudson's
Bay Company for £300,000 ($1,500,000) out of which were
subsequently carved the Provinces of Manitoba, Saskatche-
wan and Alberta. In 1871, the colony of British Columbia
came into the Union, followed in 1873 by Prince Edward
Island.

The experiment of sixty vears proved cminently advan-
tageous. A number of sparselv-settled provinces, hitherto
lacking methods of rapid communication, divided by tariffs,
different currencies, dissimilar postal syvstems and the like,
became one vast community, stretching from sea to sea,
united by a common purpose, and destined, in all human
probability, to attain unexampled prosperity-.

A BrLissinGg WELL DISGUISED

Early in 1862, Mr. John A. Macdonald introduced a
Militia bill; the report of a special committee had recom-
mended an active force of 50,000; field batteries to be
composed of eighty-five men, cavalry troops of fifty-three
and battalions of infantry of 804 men; training to be twenty-
eight and never less than fourteen days. The Minister of
Militia (whichdepartment Mr. Macdonald then controulled),
entered into details connected with Armouries, which with
grounds would cost probably $24,000, while the aggregate
amount for the whole service would approach $1,000,000.
It was the intention of the Government to request the
British Government to supply arms. Upon the second
reading, the Conservative Government was defeated,
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sixtv-one to fifty-four. The vote being adverse, the Cartier-
Macdonald administration resigned, succeeded by the
Sandfield Macdonald-Sicotte Cabinet. It was about this
time the writer experienced a thrill of interest in the political
game, for he came into possession of a pamphlet published
before the defeat and addressed by Mr. Macdonald to his
Kingston constituents. The document contained seventy or
eighty pages, proving most informative to any tyro desirous
of absorbing one side of every issue. He remembers this
publication, because in that appeal John A. Macdonald, as
in 1891, nailed his colours to the masthead, declaring, “A
British subject I was born—a British subject I will die.”
Sentiments disseminated, seed sown, the harvest was soon
to be garnered.

For a time, the significance of the Militia bill rejection
was not fully comprehended by a respectable body of Cana-
dians. The contrary in England, where, as usual, unjust
estimates and ungenerous criticisms were indulged in. East
Middlesex, adjoining London, U.C., was at that period
represented by the Hon. Maurice Portman (afterwards Lord
Portman), who, then sojourning in England, wrote to Sir
John Macdonald:

“You have no idea of the feeling that exists here about the Militia
bill and the defence of Canada generally. No one will believe that
there is not a want of loyalty among the Canadians, and whenever
I try to defend Canada, the answer is always the same—‘the English
look for actions not assertions.” Many hard and unjust things were
said about the country.”

Mr. Portman was highly esteemed throughout Western
Upper Canada; he married a London lady, Miss Harris,
subsequently returning to the old country and taking his
place in the House of Lords.

The defeat of the Militia bill, after the warnings of Trent
indignities, presaged war at any moment, while the frat-
ricidal struggle in the United States became more
menacing, created much anxiety, the Governor-General,
Lord Monck, not hesitating to declare at a public dinner
given him at Montreal shortly after (July):

“l may remark that in case of aggression on any part of the
Dominion the whole resources of the Empire will be put forth to
defend the part attacked, no matter from what part the attack may
come or in what possession of the extensive Dominions of Great
Britain the assault may be delivered. . . . I will not attempt now
to lay down the amount of protection that could be contributed
from what I will not call Imperial, but the Home and Colonial in case
of war . .. what I wish to impress upon Canadians is this—not that
they should raise a standing army, or engage in any large expendi-
tures; but that they should take such measures, as will enable them,
in a sudden emergency, to put forth their strength to meet any
attack.”

Canada was soon to regret the supineness of her repre-
sentatives in Parliament; it cost much. Had it not been for
that bulwark of Empire, Great Britain, far more serious
conditions would have prevailed.

The London Times, never really obsessed with Canada,
increased the excitement by its comments:—

“In the first place, the Parliament of Canada has shown itself
signally wanting in those instincts of liberty which urge a free people
to fly to arms on the least surmise of danger from foreign enemies.
It is to us inconceivable that 3,000,000 of civilized people can watch
the explosions of the great American volcano, without realizing to
themselves the fact that the fiery flood which is destroying so large

and so fair a portion of the earth’s surface, may come, even to them
.. . the only solution that can be offered for so strange a fact is, t_hat
Canada has learnt to trust to others for the performance of services
for which weaker and less wealthy populations are wont to rely
exclusively on themselves.”

There were many inclined to resent this rebuke; but the
truth would not down, and at that time charges of luke-
warm patriotism were ceaselessly proffered in some districts
and various journals.

THE DAawN OoF BETTER DAvs

By this time powerful interests in every walk of life
realized that sectionalism, discord, political acrimony and
personal recrimination, were questionable factors in the
stupendous task of laying the foundations of national
progress. For years the situation suggested one fixed con-
dition—which political party could command a numerical
majority, sufficient to drive its opponent from office? Still,
men there were on both sides, whose eyes were opening and
whose patriotism asserted itself. Canada’s imminent peril
was exemplified by the chaotic and naturally alarming state
of affairs. Seven administrations had been formed, seven
administrations fallen, seven administrations proclaimed
trumpet-tongued that the ship of state was nearing the
breakers. The country was carrying its load with a courage
and far-sightedness superior to its stewards, impelled as
the latter were by partisanship and self-advancement.
Since 1838, the following leaders and their cabinet ministers
had proclaimed policies promising much, but, consequent
upon factions, opposition and sectional bitterness, never
reaching the stage of fruition. This was the record:

CARTIER-MACDONALD (Con.) 1857-58
Browx-Doriox (Reform) 2 days
CARTIER-M ACDONALD (Con.) 1858-61
S. MACDONALD-SICOTTE (Reforn) 1861-62
S. MAcbONALD-DORION (Reform) 1862—64
Joux AL MacpoNaLp-CaRrTIER (Con.) 1864
TACHE-MACDONALD (Coun.) 1864

AFTER—COALITION

Public men and honest journalists had lamented frequent
changes of ministry, only denouncing those thev were
opposed to. Orthodoxy was their doxy, heterodoxy applied
to the other side. The parting of the wavs had been
reached—Deadlock was in command. Announcing the resig-
nation of the Liberal-Conservative Government, John A.
Macdonald moved the adjournment of the Legislative
Assembly, which convened again on the 17th of June, after
interregnum of two davs.

The Attorney-General West announced :

“Considering the state of parties in this House, the equality in
numbers of those who support and those who are opposed to the
Government, and the great improbability of their being able to form
out of the existing House a Government that would command a
majority, they thought it their duty to advise an appeal to the
people; after the necessary business was gone through with, there
should be a dissolution.”

His Excellency consented to this:

““The Government has had from time to time, until that moment,
before them the consideration of the very grave questions that divide
parties in this country, and the expediency, if possible, of avoiding
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the extreme measure of
proceeding to a dissolution,
and with that in view, for
the purpose of seeing
whether there is any means
of solving the difficulties
which have arisen, espe-
cially those between Upper
and Lower Canada; the
House will, therefore, not
be surprised when I ask
them to adjourn until Mon-
day, in order that there
may be a full conference
between leading parties on
both sides. I may say that
the honourable gentleman
with whom I conferred is
the honourable member for
South Oxford.”

S

Throughout Canada,
John A. Macdonald’s
utterances were hailed with wild acclaim, knowing that the
hatchet used with such deadly effect by the Conservative
leader and George Brown alternately would probably be
buried, justified hopesof better daysand better achievements.
The writer enjoyed the advantage of the Hon. John Henry
Pope’s confidence. That able man had more to do than is
generally known, in smoothing the way towards pacification
between the rival leaders. He, with Alex. T. Galt, Alexander
Morris (M.P. for Perth) were the main mediators in all the
preliminary negotiations. The conference between John A.
Macdonald, George Brown, Galt, Cartier and Taché were
prolific of a thorough understanding being arrived at, after
which Mr. Brown called his supporters together.

HON. H. B. McGIVERIN, K.C.,P.C.

At a meeting held on the 21st of June, 1864, Mr. Hope
F. Mackenzie (brother of Alexander Mackenzie) moved,
seconded by Mr. W. McGiverin, M.P. (father of the Hon.
Hal McGiverin, who years after became M.P. for Ottawa),
entering the Government of Mr. Mackenzie King in 1924
but retiring from Parliament in 1926, at the General
Election.

“That we approve of the course which has been pursued by Mr.
Brown, in negotiations with the Government and that we approve
of the project of a Federal Union of the Canadas, with provisions
for its extension to the Maritime Provinces and the North-Western
Territories, as one basis on which the constitutional difficulties now
existing could be settled.” Carried. The vote was thirty-four to five.

Mr. A. Mackenzie (afterwards Premier, Nov.,1873-78) op-
posed the entrance of three Reformers into the Government,
favourable to the settlement of sectional difficulties
being dependent upon outside support. Thus fortified, Mr.
Brown met John A. Macdonald and Sir E. P. Taché for a
final adjustment of a few minor details, resulting in the
entrance of three Reformers into a Coalition Government,
of which Sir E. P. Taché would be Premier, was agreed
upon, and following this, the Hon. George Brown, described
by the reports of the hour as ‘“‘almost overcome by his feel-
ings,” addressed the Legislative Assembly at some length.
The writer will only venture to reproduce two or three
salient sentences:
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1 would be deceiving the House if I attempted, for one moment,
to conceal the fact that I am aware of the painful position I am
occupying before the country, as being that of one who will probably
be spoken of doing as I am from personal motives—for self-aggrandize-
ment. I think the House will see that if ever there was an occasion
in the affairs of any country which would justify such a coalition as
the present, that crisis has arrived in the position of Canada .. .1
will not say that it was not without great pain that I had to listen
to the advances of honourable gentleman opposite . . . I have always
maintained, while claiming Representation by Population for Upper
Canada, that the feelings of Lower Canada must be consulted and
I am now prepared to go into such arrangements as will settle and
do justice to both sections of the Province.”

There should be little doubt of Mr. Brown'’s sincerity in
method and patriotism combined, with a fair modicum of
perspicacity—for he must, by that time, have fully realized
the dangers threatening his position, should he persevere in
stirring to its depths the smouldering embers of sectional
and racial passions. When death by the pistol of an infuri-
ated workman, overtook him, in 1880, citizens of Toronto
erected a monument to his memory; for party feeling sinks
into insignificance in the presence of death and George
Brown’s career, measured by the times and the occasion, a
powerful party believed, was one reflecting no discredit
upon him—rather the reverse. John A. Macdonald and
George Brown could never have been warm or cordial
associates; with them, co-operation would have been repel-
lent. The great Conservative disliked by instinct, George
Brown through political fanaticism. Speaking of his oppo-
nent’s coalescing with him before Confederation, Mr.
Macdonald, at Hamilton, spoke candidly:

“It perhaps may be as well for me to say that, whatever may be
the personal differences between the gentleman and myself, I believe
he is a sincere well-wisher and friend of Confederation. I honestly

and truly believe him to be so, and it would be exceedingly wrong
and dishonest for me to say anything to the contrary.”

Happily this political armistice presaged Canada’s day of
deliverance from the petty environment gradually under-
mining the Commonwealth and poisoning the body politic.
The great National Charter contributed their mentality to
the Council Board, while politicians were burying hatchets,
some, perhaps, careful to place the handles in position for
convenient recovery.

The reason for Mr. Brown's withdrawal from Sir John
Macdonald’s Coalition Administration has ever since been
a controversial point. Some alleged the incident was brought
about to harrass the Premier, and as a warning to his Liberal
colleagues. Others, that it was occasioned by jealousy of
Sir A. T. Galt. The most probable cause was that confided
to Mr. Thomas Sellar, Montreal correspondent of the Globe,
who stated that on the 19th of December, 1865, the retiring
Minister “astonished him by announcing he had left the
Government . . . Asked why, his reply was, I could nct
stand the conduct of certain of my colleagues, Cartier and
Langevin in particular.” Sellars adds, ‘‘Brown was content
the public should think he resigned because Galt, instead
of himself, had been chosen to go to Washington for renewal
of the Reciprocity Treaty.”
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BIRTH OF A NATION

Prior to and well into
the vear 1864, sombre
shadows hovered over
Canada’s political hori-
zon. Four administra-
tions had existed in so
many vears—alwaysupon
the ragged edge of disso-
lution. When the Sand-
field Macdonald-Sicotte
Government came to
grief early in the vear
chaos and deadlock were
svnonvms. That admin-
istration had staked its
fortunes upon results in
the County of Leeds,
where an election contest
became necessary, conse-
quent upon the Hon. A.
N. Richards being called
to the Privy Council
as Solicitor-General. The electors refused ratification,
Mr. D. Ford Jones of Gananoque, a Conservative, being
returned. The Macdonald-Sicotte Government resigned.
The outgoing Premier had left no stone unturned wherewith
to prop his tottering ranks, but without avail.

]

SANDFIELD MACDONALD

A member of the late Cabinet, Mr. Ferguson-Blair,
was called by Lord Monck to form a government. Coalition
—anything, to avert disaster; in fact, no strong man ap-
peared to covet the honour—hence, only drastic methods
could restore anything approaching harmony. Deadlock had
triumphed. Parliament in those days (1849-1865) met al-
ternately at Toronto and (Quebec, maintaining this system
until Ottawa became the Capital.

The deadlock of 1864 was followed by a coalition, Sir
E. P. Taché, Conservative, becoming Premier, Sir John
Macdonald accepting responsibility for choice of Upper
Canada's Cabinet representatives. He selected Alexander
(‘ampbell, Michael Hamilton Foley, John Simpson, Isaac
Buchanan and James Cockburn. The Taché-Macdonald
Administration found no bed of roses when vaulting into
the treasury benches. Deadlock trailed every movement,
until one fine morning Messrs. Alexander Morris, Sir A. T.
Galt and Mr. John H. Pope—whose son is the present
Senator Pope—foregathered at the St.Louis Hotel, Quebec,
where they were guests. These men did more to expedite th
issue of Union than scores of speeches delivered by prominent
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advocates of the proposed measure. Mr. Morris was highly
respected in the county town he represented (Perth), a
gentleman popular with the thinking minds of the Assembly.
He was subsequently Lieutenant-Governor of Manitoba
(1872-77) and ex-officio of the North-West Territories, until
October, 1875. Mr. J. H. Pope represented Compton, P.Q.,up
to 1888 and was Minister of Agriculture (1871) and Minister
of Railways in Sir John Macdonald’s Administration.
The honourable gentlemen achieved eminence in the field
of practical departmental work and was one of the brightest
intellects attached to Sir John, personally and politically.
To speak of Sir Alexander Galt is to speak of a man whose
deep foresight and broad views brought a wealth of intellect
to bear upon any national question; he resigned the office
of Minister of Finance in 1867 and after that declined to
accept election to Parliament. These were giants in their
days, and mentioned here because thev should never be
forgotten. They were close friends with mutual aspirations,
and determined to appeal to the Hon. George Brown, which
they did with remarkable success: the latter responded to
their suggestions by calling a meeting of Liberals, and repre-
senting that assemblage, Colonel McGiverin, then M.P. for
Lincoln, seconded a resolution already referred to, approving
of his leader’s action (including Messrs. Wm. Macdougall,
Oliver Mowat and Ferguson Blair). The resolution was
carried,and greatly advanced settlement of the issue. Finally,
Sir John Macdonald and Sir George Cartier, after consult-
ing their supporters, held a conference with Mr. Brown and
within a few weeks the question of Confederation assumed
definite shape. Many vyears afterwards, Sir John Mac-
donald, speaking in Montreal on the 24th of November,
1875, referred to Mr. Brown’s action in 1864 as having
been very helpful :—

“He deserves the credit of joining with me: he and his party gave

me that assistance in Parliament that enabled us to carry Confeder-

" ation; and now a Dominion and if we are we must not forget it is

owing in great measure to Mr. Brown's momentary patriotism, of
which he soon repented.”

Much must be said in modification of Mr. Brown's actions
throughout so far as affecting his extreme views. He was a
journalistic factor, inciting extreme sectionalism: he was
the leader, whose leadership superinduced prejudices and
almost personal hatred; in short, he was a fanatical politi-
cian who became a statesman for the time being. The mel-
lowing influences of great events and lapse of vears during
that period justify a lenient and more appreciative view of
Mr. Brown's earlier policy, productive though it was of
political discord and unrelenting agitation. “To those days
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of chronic discord, we cannot go back,"” he confessed from
his place in Parliament. Even his great opponent Sir John
Macdonald was moved to applause when his hitherto
implacable opponent forgot partisanship and espoused the
cause of a united Dominion.

The Hon. (ieorge Brown in the réle of a patriotic Peace-
maker, fairly astonished political parties and astounded the
general public. He had placed his hands on the plough and
his wily rival, John A. Macdonald, determined to induce
him to turn some pebbly furrows. Mr. Brown desired Con-
federation in pieces or sections; Upper Canada and Lower
Canada made one, and following this the Maritime Prov-
inces to be invited to join under a Federal System. Finally,
he accepted the more stately policy and, by the end of June,
joined Sir John Macdonald's Coalition.

Simultaneously, the Maritime Provinces were called to
meet at Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island, in Septem-
ber, 1864, to consider a scheme which was thought would
result in mutual advancement and improved ocean advan-
tages with Great Britain. Sir Charles Tupper was Premier
of Nova Scotia and naturally favoured the conference,
convinced that it would tend to promote the more nationally
attractive policy.

After very interesting interchange of views, the meeting
adjourned, delegates returning to report to their respective
Governments. One of the papers written by Mr. Norman
S. Cole of Ottawa, during the Diamond Jubilee, and issued
by the National Committee, was an excellent contribution,
reflecting much credit upon his historic research. In this he
traces (‘anada’s early history and events following a most
remarkable meeting which took place at Quebec on the
10th of October, 1864, thus commenting upon the august
occasion:

“Slowly, patiently, loyally, those earnest men built up a new
Constitution for a new Dominion, as they sat within sight of the
historic Plains of Abraham and the mighty St. Lawrence River,
where the representatives of the Fleur de Lys of France and the
Cross of St. George of England, had fought for the possession of this
great and rich Domain.”

On the morning of October 10, 1864, in the Parliament
Buildings at Quebec, this historical meeting was held.
Delegates from Canada—Upper and Lower—Nova Scotia,
New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island, and Newfoundland,
assembled. Thus was opened a convention whose deliber-
ations were to exercise a marvellous effect upon the future
of British North America. Strange as it may seem, no
full record of the proceedings of this gathering was officially
issued, although many volumes were written giving inter-
esting details. Even discussions were held in private, and
perhaps better so, for many delicate and confidential mat-
ters were debated which might have become a subject for
public and political controversy had they been published
at the time. We know this, however, that after nineteen
davs of earnest consultation they were in a position to
agree upon the momentous conclusions embodied in
seventy-two resolutions covering all phases of Federal and
Provincial Government. These included such important
matters as transportation, taxation, representation, finan-
cial awards, laws, means of defence, constitution, education,
and a host of other important regulations. The British
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North America Act, 1867, stands sponsor for the fealty
and judicial foresight of the national stewards who sub-
sequently framed it in accordance with the final conclusions
arrived at by the body of delegates. Since Confederation
thirtv-three Acts have been passced by the Parliament of
the United Kingdom modifving the original Act, together
with four Orders-in-Council. These deal with admission of
new provinces, extension of boundaries, and rearrangement
of the financial terms of Confederation. One feature of
deliberations at Quebec was that no pressure be brought to
bear upon delegates save and except portraying benefits to
be derived from merging their interests; another was that
each of the Provinces should be vouchsafed opportunity for
submitting the proposal of Union to their respective
Legislatures.

In the Canada Assem-
blv the resolutions werc
passed by a large major-
ity. In New Brunswick,
the terms of Confeder-
ation were only agreed
to after a general election
had been held for the ex-
press purpose. The chief
sponsors for Confeder-
ation, two able men,
Hon. Leonard Tilley and
Hon. Peter Mitchell. In
Nova Scotia, the Quebec
resolutions were only
passed in the face of
great opposition on the
part of Joseph Howe,
counteracted by his old
opponent, the ““War
Horse of (‘umberland’ —
Doctor Charles Tupper.
Prince Edward Island refused to ratify the agreement en-
tered into by its delegates, and, for the time being, withheld
its support, being admitted in 1873. Newfoundland withdrew
from any further part in Confederation mergers, and remains
outside the circle of the Dominion.

SIR JOSEPH HOWE

When, in 1870, the Province of Manitoba was created,
the remainder of the vast prairie lands that had Dbeen
acquired by the Dominion from the Hudson's Bay Com-
pany, were formed into the North-West Territories; and in
1882 the provisional districts of Assiniboia, Saskatchewan,
Alberta and Athabaska were established. In 1897, a certain
measure of responsible self-covernment was granted to
these districts.

In 1871 British Columbia entered Confederation, which,
consequent upon agreement between the Province and
Dominion, concentrated immediate attention upon the
construction of the Canadian Pacific between two oceans.
On July the 1st, 1873, Prince Edward Island, the smallest
of the Colonies of British North America, expressed willing-
ness to join the growing family of the Dominion, and amid
great rejoicings ‘“The Garden of the Gulf”’ was added to
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the rest of Canada. In 1905 the Dominion Government
created out of the four districts comprising the (anadian
North-West Territories, the two Provinces of Alberta and
Saskatchewan. These on September 1st, 1905, took their
places officially with the seven older Provinces, thus mould-
ing a continuous Dominion from the Atlantic to the Pacific!

A source of general satisfaction was when quite recently
most of the difficulties and disappointments under which
the Maritime Provinces had been labouring for years, were
settled by awards of the Federal Government, acting on
the findings and recommendations of the Duncan Royal
Commission.

Even a cursory examination of Canada's statistical re-
turns dealing with her past auspicious economic resources,
furnishes convincing evidence that every Province within
its own boundaries possesses advantages which, when fully
developed, must justify confidence that this British North
America portion of the continent, promises to be the richest
area known to civilization. Wheat and land to produce
marvellous harvests; minerals of vast values; forests,
with reforestation, inexhaustible; water power sufthcient to
operate the spindles of two continents; fisheries carefully
conserved, abundant and unfailing; manufactures, so varied
as well as cheaply produced, that by wise methods and a
courageous policy will, within a few decades, command the
markets of the world. Sixty years of Confederation have
sealed the destiny of this commonwealth, which now looks
to the stewards, holding a sacred trust, to administer it
faithfully, wisely and honestly.

The various publications, issued under Government super-
vision during the recent Jubilee, justify the spirit of
optimism expressed, fortified by incontrovertible evidence,
must stimulate unremitting efforts upon the part of the
men and women of Canada. One factor should not be
overlooked, namely, the new relationships established with
other countries, more particularly the United States, with
whom international amity and neighbourly good fellowship
have been mutually cultivated to a degree not only unique
but unprecedented. That great Republic has at last recog-
nized the fact that the Dominion of Canada has an inherent
right to guard her own interests and to maintain, through
good and ill, connection with the British Empire. To a
greater extent than many belicve, the seal upon Cana-
dian nationhood, was affixed as a solemn compact commem-
orative of the late war. Canada raised 595,000 men (418,000
of whom went overseas); supplied the Allies with over
$1,002,000,000 worth of munitions, and doubled her food
exports. In the Patriotic Fund, Red Cross and other vol-
untary subscriptions, she raised fully $100,000,000; while
incurring financial responsibility amounting in the aggre-
gate to over two billions of dollars. From this great effort
she emerged without permanent disability and with every
prospect of future development, far surpassing any pre-
ceding cvcle.

It is officially estimated that before C(onfederation
Canada’'s wealth as an asset, did not reach One and a Half
Billions. The latest official estimate of the economic pro-
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gress of tangible wealth, not including undeveloped national
resources amounts to Twenty-Two Billions of Dollars. The
following estimate will convey a more comprehensive table
of reference:

Estimated ;::;;%L:ii \\'e;llt!m
Provinces wealth of wealth per capita
$ p.c. $

Prince Edward Island. ... 119,912,060 0.5 1,353
Nova Scotia............ 752,697,986 3.4 1.437
New Brunswick...... ... 597,596,369 2.7 1,541
Quebec................ 5,541,819,967 25.0 2,347
Ontario................ 7,353,397,816 33.1 2,507
Manitoba. .......... ... 1,650,495,868 7.4 2,705
Saskatchewan.......... 2,845,642,985 12.8 3,757
Alberta............. ... 1,950,973,479 8.8 3,317
British Columbia........; 1,365,896,120 6.2 2,604
Yukon.............. ... 16,869,792 0.1 4,058

Canada..... .... 22,195,302,443 100.0 2,525

It was natural that both Senate and House of Commons
of Canada, as well as the Provincial Legislatures, should
unite in commemorating the Sixtieth Anniversary of (‘on-
federation; equally commendable that favourable resolu-
tions were chronicled in their official proceedings. On the
14th of April, 1927, both Houses of Parliament unanimously
adopted the following resolution:

“Resolved, that as Canada is approaching the sixtieth anniversary
of her founding as a Dominion, the Parliament of Canada places on
record its deep appreciation of the achievements of the Fathers of
Confederation, and with united voice expresses its faith and confidence
in the future of this our country, and its development as a member
of the British Commonwealth of Nations, owing allegiance to His
Majesty the King.

“It is the earnest wish of Parliament that the Diamond Jubilee
Celebration for which plans are now being rapidly matured, shall
commemorate appropriately and enthusiastically the accomplishment
of Confederation and the subsequent progress of the Dominion. \We
trust that this commemoration will lend added inspiration to the
patriotic fervour of our people, and afford a clearer vision of our
aspirations and ideals, to the end that from sea to sea there may be
developed a robust Canadian spirit, and in all things Canadian,
profounder national unity.”

The robust national spirit responding to this appeal,
reverberated from Prince Edward Island to Vancouver and
Yukon—even within the shadows of the Arctic circle,
pulsated throughout the British Empire the mighty
cheers accompanying the raising of the Union Jack and the
flag of the Dominion of Canada, commemorating the 60th
anniversary of the union of nine provinces, whose marvellous
achievements justified a horoscope of assured prosperity,
a commonwealth whose present presaged mighty possibili-
ties, were Canadians true to themselves and their steward-
ship; thankful to Providence and worthy successors of the
Fathers of Confederation.



OTTAWA CONFIRMED

Canada’s Ambassadors - A\ Joyous Message

The arrival of Hon.
J. A. Macdonald and
Hon. Willilam Mac-
dougall from England,
after the successful
passing of the British
North America Act,
was an event of the
first importance to
Ottawa. The distin-
guished statesman,
who even then was re-
garded as a certainty
for the premiership of
the new Dominion,
was warmly greeted in
the Capital. The Citi-
senon May 10th, 1867,
describes thereception
accorded the Hon. J.
A. Macdonald and the Hon. Willlam Macdougall:

“A telegram was received Saturday morning, stating that
the Hon. J. A. Macdonald and Hon. \Wm. Macdougall would
arrive by special train at five o'clock in the afternoon. A
meeting of the City Council was called and an address
framed. As early as four o’clock in the afternoon a steady
stream of people wended their way to the railway station.”
The Civil Service Regiment, numbering 284 men, under
command of Lt.-Col. Wiley, assembled at the square in
front of the Parliament Buildings, and before marching to
the station, executed battalion drill. By the permission of
Col. Campbell, the band of the 100th Regiment was present,
and their soul-inspiring music added much to the attract-
iveness of the proceedings. At half-past four, the regiment,
headed by the band, marched to the station and was drawn
up on the platform. A cold, chilling rain, accompanied by
a northeast wind, began to fall and large numbers who were
on their way to the station returned, preferring a shelter
from the inclement weather, to waiting for the return of the
delegates; vet, after all, over two thousand persons were
present. At half-past five the train arrived and the appear-
ance of Hon. Mr. Macdonald and Hon. Mr. Macdougall
was greeted with prolonged cheers from the now immense
crowd. Three more cheers were given for Mrs. Macdonald
(afterwards Baroness), and those personally acquainted
with the distinguished gentlemen shook hands with them
congratulating them upon their successful trip and safe re-

SIR JOHN A. MACDONALD
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turn home. 1lis Worship Mayvor Robert Lyon, in his robe
of office, wearing the gold chain, and attended by the City
Council, presented the following address, which he read in
a clear, effective manner:

“To the Honourable J. A. Macdonald, Attorney-General and Minister
for the Dominion of Canada:
“Sir:—

“The City of Ottawa cannot allow your arrival home, after so
lengthy an absence, to pass without some demonstration of our
pleasure at seeing you again among us, safe from the perils of a sea
voyage and in the enjoyment of health and vigour.

“We rejoice in offering you our warmest felicitations on the success
attendant upon the efforts of yourself and colleagues, in securing the
great measure for the confederation of the British North American
colonies. Your part in the achievements of success of this triumph
of statesmanship, crowns your career as a public man and attracts
towards you the gratitude of vour colleagues and countrymen.

““The announcement of your marriage since your departure, impels
us to the offer of our warmest congratulations, and we cordially wish
vou and vour estimable lady a long and happy life.

“On behalf of the Corporation of the City of Ottawa.

“R. LYON, Mayor.”

Hon. John A. Mlac-
donald thanked them
for the way theyv had
received him after an
absence of nearly six
months. \When leaving
Ottawa on his impor-
tant mission toEngland,
hefeltlikeleavinghome,
and inreturning experi-
enced all the pleasure of
revisiting it. He went
to Europe to advocate
the principles of Union,
and he thought that
he was only acting
consistently with those
principles in his marri-
age,atleast, thatiswhat
every inhabitant of
Ottawa should do—bring home a scttler. (Laughter.)

He spoke of the share which he and the Hon. Wm. Mac-

dougall had in bringing the Confederation scheme to com-
pletion, and hoped that the future statesmen of Canada

HON. WAL MACDOUGALL



would work as zealously, as faithfully and
as successfully, for the interests of the
Dominion as had the delegates.

But politics is a dry subject and as
he knew that his audience were anything
but dry subjects at this time (laughter),
he would take an early and more con-
venient opportunity to speak at length on
the question. He had some doubts before
going to England as to whether the seat
of government for the Dominion would
remain in Ottawa; but he was now happy
to say that there was no question Ottawa
was confirmed as the Capital of the new
Dominion, and those present, and their

Mr. Macdougall followed, returning
thanks in brief but eloquent terms for their
token of esteem.

The Hon. Mr. Macdonald then intro-
duced his wife to the people and she was
received with enthusiastic cheers. They
entered a splendid carriage, drawn by four
fine bay horses, furnished by Mr. Patrick
Buckley, and proceeded to the residence
of Hon. Mr. Macdonald, followed by a
procession of carriages, in which were
seated members of the City Council and
numbers of prominent citizens. The Civil

children, would live to see it the metropolis
of British North America. He thanked the
citizens of Ottawa for the enthusiastic man-
ner in which they had received himself and his wife. (Cheers.)

LADY MACDONALD

Service Regiment marched to the parade
ground and dismissed. The band of the
100th Regiment having returned to bar-
racks, the crowd dispersed.

Arrival of the First Governor-General

Lord Monck, Governor-General of British North America
arrived in Ottawa on May 3rd, 1866. At this time, which
preceded Confederation, Ottawa was known as the ‘‘Capital
of the Canadas,” and Lord Monck had been Governor for
several years.

The 3rd of May, 1866, marked an epoch in the history
of the Capital. The arrival of His Excellency the Governor-
General of British North America to take up his permanent
residence in Ottawa, was an event worthy of the enthusiasm
displayed and one looked upon as beyond question setting
at rest the many doubts and fears and rumors, constantly
heard, that old Bytown would not long enjoy the honour of
being the Seat of Government. There were people to be
found who for some years firmly believed the city was not
long destined to be called the Capital. Some lived to cast
a more optimistic augury.

FrRoM MONTREAL

His Excellency left Bonaventure station at 11 o’clock,
the 2nd of May, by special train, and at 2 o’clock p.m.
arrived in Cornwall where he was presented with an address
by the Town Council. At Prescott Junction, about four
o'clock. He was met by the Mayor, Mr. Macneil Clarke,
and members of the council, and presented with a loyal
address, to which His Excellency replied, thanking them
for their warm welcome and expressing his appreciation of
the sentiments of attachment therein to Her Majesty the
Queen. A guard of honour of 100 men was marshalled on the
platform.

PrescotT TO OTTAWA

At half-past four, His Excellency, accompanied by the
Hon. Messrs. Sir N. Belleau, Galt, McGee, Howland,
Langevin, Campbeli, Lt.-Col. Monck and others, departed
from Prescott. The “special”’ made rapid time and over-
hauled the regular mail train at Kemptville. Two companies
of the Hawkesbury Battalion, which had for some time
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been on duty at Cornwall, under command of Col. Higgin-
son, and which were then en route for home, having been
relieved by companies from Montreal, drew up in line,
presenting arms. His Excellency and suite came out of the
carriage, while the volunteers went through several exer-
cises. The train arriving at its destination a few minutes
after six o’clock.

At THE DEPOT

A cheering throng awaited the arrival of the Governor
at the station, number being estimated at 8,000. On His
Excellency alighting from the train, long and enthusiastic
greetings were sent up, the bands playing ‘“God Save the
Queen.” The lucky ones were those who could obtain
elevated positions, tall people certainly enjoying advantage;
for none but those could hope to catch sight of the Queen’s
Representative as he walked forward and took the place
prepared for him under a shady canopy at the west end
of the passenger depot.

THE DECORATIONS

The railway building was elaborately decorated for the
occasion. Evergreens and flags, by artistic hands, were
arranged to give a pleasing and exceedingly gala-likeeffect to
the depot. The platform was carpeted, and the end of the
section-house cushioned and artistically arranged. On a
raised dais was placed a chair for His Excellency. Above
this hung a beautifully worked coat of arms, in silk, by
Miss Durie, which attracted much attention. Above this
was placed a portrait of Her Majesty the Queen. Reserved
seats were occupied by about sixty ladies and gentlemen,
who had been furnished with tickets of admission by the
president of the railway—Thomas Reynolds—who was
credited with designing these extensive and appropriate
decorations and the fitting up of the place without expense
to the corporation. In front of the building were the words,
printed in monster characters, “Gop SAVE THE QUEEN."”



VicToria’'s PROCLAMATION

Copy of historical document of Queen ictoria announcing
Confederation of Canada’s Provinces

A PROCLAMATION

For uniting the Provinces of Canada, Nova Scotia and New I3runs-
wick into One Dominion, under the Name of CANADA.

VICTORIA R.
Whereas, by an Act of Parliament passed on the Twenty-ninth Day
of March, one thousand eight hundred and sixty-seven, in the
Thirtieth Year of our Reign, intituled—An Act for the Union of
Canada, Nova Scotia, and New Brunswick, and the Government
thereof, and for purposes connected therewith after divers Recitals,
it is enacted that it shall be lawful for the Queen, by and with the
Advice of Her Majesty's Most Honourable Privy: Council, to declare
by Proclamation that on and after a Day therein appointed, not
being more than six months after the passing of the Act, the Provinces
of Canada, Nova Scotia, and New Brunswick shall form and be One
Dominion under the Name of Canada, and on and after that Day
those Three Provinces shall form and be One Dominjon under that
Name accordingly: And it is thereby further enacted, that “‘such
Persons shall be first summoned to the Senate as the Queen by
Warrant under Her Majesty's Royal Sign Manual thinks fit to ap-
prove, and their names shall be inserted in the Queen’s Proclamation
of Union.” We therefore, by and with the Advice of Our Privy
Council, have thought fit to issue this Our Royal Proclamation and
we do Ordain, Declare, and Command, that on and after the First
Day of July, one thousand eight hundred and sixty-seven the Prov-
inces of Canada, Nova Scotia, and New Brunswick, shall form and
be One Dominion under the Name of Canada. And we do further
Ordain and Declare, that the Persons whose Names are herein
inserted and set forth are the Persons of whom We have, by Warrant
under our Royal Sign Manual, thought fit to approve as the Persons
who shall be first summoned to the Senate of Canada.

Given at Our Court at Windsor Castle this Twenty-second Day
of May in the Year of Our Lord One thousand eight hundred and
sixty-seven and in the Thirtieth Year of Our Reign.

GOD SAVE THE QUEEN
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THE MILITARY AND FIREMEN “May It Please Your Excellency:

Th d of honc | il Ser “The members of St. George’s Society of Ottawa, desire, through
e guard of honour was selected from the Civil Service us to approach Your Excellency, and to express their sentiments of

Rifles and other Rifle Corps. The Field Battery, under loyalty towards Their Most Gracious Sovereign, whose Represent-

command of Capt. Workman, was drawn up outside ready ative you are.

to fire the necessary salute. At the bridge, a portion of the “\Ve welcome Your Excellency most cordially to the Capital of
new company of Foot Artillery, Major Thomas Ross in Canada, on the occasion of your taking up your abode amongst us.
command, was in waiting. They presented a fine appear- “As the patron of the Benevolent Society over whose interests we

have been appointed guardian, we beg most humbly to assure Your
Excellency that we hail with the greatest pleasure the present
auspicious event, an event which will be chronicled in the annals of

ance, with their new uniforms; the men splendid looking
fellows and a very great acquisition to the city volunteer

force. The various fire companies, along with Gowan's and this province as one of the most important in its history.
the Chaudiere Bands, were stationed at the west end of the “We trust that Your Excellency, Lady Monck and the members
platform, being out in full force. of your family who may sojourn amongst us, will, when the period

ARRIVAL OF THE TRAIN

Immediately upon the stoppage of the train the Battery
fired a salute, and thousands of loyal throats gave three
ringing cheers for the Governor.

CORPORATION ADDRESS

His Worship the Mayor, M. K. Dickinson, having at
his side the City Clerk, Mr. W. P. Lett, read the following
address:

“To His Excellency the Right Honourable Lord Viscount Monck,
Governor-General of British North America:

““May It Please Your Excellency:

“The Corporation of the City of Ottawa upon the auspicious
occasion of your arrival to reside amongst us, begs us to approach
Your Excellency with the most sincere and hearty feelings of welcome.

““As the Representative of our beloved Queen, to whose wisdom
and discrimination the people of Central Canada owe so much, your
official advent as a permanent resident at the Seat of Government
is justly felt to be a matter for public rejoicing and congratulation.

“In its representative capacity the Corporation can with confidence
assure Your Excellency of the loyalty and attachment of the inhabi-
tants of this city to the Person and Government of Her Most Gracious
Majesty. In common with the great body of Canadian people, their
appreciation of the benefits arising from the happy connexion of
these provinces with the Mother Country, is just and comprehensive
and their love of British Institutions is of the most sincere and ardent
description. If at any future time it shall unfortunately become
necessary to subject their patriotism to the strongest test in the
preservation of the honour and peace of the country, Your Excellency
may rest satisfied that the citizens of Ottawa will be found advancing
together in defence of the rights and liberties we enjoy under the
free and enlightened government which rules this happy country.

*“The Corporation respectfully expresses the hope that the residence
of Your Excellency here may not only be conducive of pleasure to
yourself, Lady Monck and family, but productive also of those
beneficial and happy results naturally to be anticipated from the
presence of the Sovereign’s Representative.

“Permit the members of the Corporation, in conclusion, to offer
to Your Excellency personally the assurances of their highest respect
and consideration, and again in the name of the people of Ottawa,
to bid you welcome.——W. P. LETT, Clerk; M. K. DICKINSON,

Mayor.
“Ottawa, May 4th, 1866.”

ADDRESS OF ST. GEORGE'S SOCIETY

John Rochester, Esq., President of the St. George's
Society, next read, on behalf of the Association, the fol-
lowing:

“To His Excellency the Right Honourable CharlesStanley, Viscount
Monck. Governor-General of British North America and Governor-
in-Chief of the Provinces of Canada, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia
and the Island of Prince Edward, etc., etc.
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of your departure from this city arrives, be in a position to testify.
from experience, to the lovalty we entertain for our beloved Queen,
and our most respectful esteem for her Representative. —JOHN J.
ROCHESTER, President; T. D. HARRINGTON, 1st Vice-
President.”

REPLY

“To the Mayor and Council of the City of Ottawa.

“Mr. Mayor and Gentlemen:

“I thank you sincerely for the hearty welcome you have given me,
and have heard with much pleasure the loyal and patriotic senti-
ments contained in the address which you have presented me.

“It is right and fitting that those feelings which in ordinary times
lie unuttered in the hearts of the people, should now, when our
country is threatened with invasion, be openly and plainly pro-
claimed.”

[It might be here stated that the Governor referred to a Fenian
invasion of Canada.—Editor].

“It seems to me that the occasion of my arrival in the Capital of
Canada is one of which I may appropriately take advantage to state
publicly the satisfaction, and I may add, the just pride, which I feel
at the attitude now presented by the people over whom Her Majesty
the Queen has appointed me to rule.

“The armed demonstration which circumstances have compelled
this province to make, though it has demanded sacrifices from her
soldiers, and though it entails heavy expense upon the whole popula-
tion, has not been without counteracting benefits, and has already
been productive of invaluable results.

“Abundant proof has been given to ourselves, to the Mother
Country and to the world, that we have here in British America a
vigorous national life, which we defend; and Canada can never again
be charged with helplessness, inertness and dependence which have
been so often asserted to be characteristic of British colonies. Nova
Scotia and New Brunswick have also promptly responded to the
call for arms and have shown that they are animated by the same
spirit as ourselves.

“This concurrence of feeling between all the provinces, gives an
earnest of the increased force and vitality which will result from
the political union which we may confidently expect will soon take
place amongst us.”

At the conclusion of the reply of His Excellency, the
Mayor proposed three cheers for the Queen and His Excel-
lency, which were heartily given. The members of the City
Council were then formally introduced to the Governor, as
were those of St. George’s Society, by the president.

His Excellency was then escorted to a carriage to convey
him to Rideau Hall. A procession, consisting of the mem-~
bers of the City Council, in carriages, the militia and the
members of the various Fire and Hook and Ladder Com-

panics, accompanied the Governor-General to his residence
—Rideau Hall.



FIRST DOMINION
ADMINISTRATION

July 1st, 1867

The Governor-General (Lord Monck) commissioned Sir
John A. Macdonald to form the first administration. The
Prime Minister had already received the Roval honour of
knighthood. His Government was in many respects a
Coalition, Messrs. \V. Macdougall, W. P. Howland and
A.J. Ferguson being Liberals. The administration follows:

THE HoxN. SIR JoHN ALEXANDER MacboxaLD, Minister
of Justice and Attorney-General.

Hox. Aban Jouxstox FeErRGUsox BLAIR, President of
the Privy Council.

Hox. Hictor Louts LaNGEVIN, Secretary of State for
Canada.

Hox. ALixANDER TiLrocH GaLt, Minister of Finance.

Hox

Hox. ALEXANDER CAMPBELL, Postmaster-General.

Hox

Hox. Epwarbp KExNY, Receiver-General.

. WiLLiaM Macpoucaryr, Minister of Public Works.
. JEAN CHARLES CHAPALS, Minister of Agriculture.

Hox. GrorGE ETIENNE CARTIER, Minister of Militia and
Defence.

Hox. Sayvuen LEoNarD TILLEY, Minister of Customs.

Hox. WiLLiaym Pearce HowrLaxp, Minister of Inland
Revenue.

Hox. PETER MitcHELL, Minister of Marine and Fisheries.

Hox~. ApaMs GLEORGE ARCHIBALD, Secretary of State for
the Provinces.

None of these statesmen are now alive, nor their wives,
with one exception, Mrs. William Macdougall, who resides
in the City of Ottawa. Mrs. George Brown, eldest daughter
of William Macdougall, by his first wife, died in Vancouver
the latter part of March last (1929). Shc accompanied
her father to Manitoba in 1869.

FIrsST PARLIAMENT CONVENED

The first sitting of the parliament of the Dominion of
Canada, after the formal opening on November 6th, 1867,
took place on Thursday, November 7th. Interest mani-

fested in the proceedings was even greater than the
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preceding day. The gallery of the Senate Chamber was
crowded. On the floor of the House were a large number of
ladies and many distinguished personages. The Rifle
Brigade assumed a position at the main entrance of the
buildings, the 17th Regiment, the Garrison Artillery,
Ottawa Provisional Rifles and Civil Service Rifles lining
the way to the entrance on Elgin Street.

At three o'clock a salvo of guns from the Field Bat-
tery on Major’s Hill announced the arrival of the Governor-
General. His Excellency was accompanied by a brilliant
suite embracing many prominent officers of the Dominion.
The Hon. James Cockburn of Cobourg was elected Speaker
on the 6th of November.

Having taken his place upon the throne, His Excellency
commanded the attendance of the House of Commons. The
members of that body, preceded by their Speaker, Hon.
James Cockburn, appeared at the Bar. The Speaker informed
His Excellency that the choice of the House of Commons
had fallen on him tobe their Speaker, and demanded for the
members thereof the customary parliamentary privileges.

Hotsk oF Coyyoxs

When the Speaker had resumed the chair after return
of the members, a motion was made by Sir John A. Mac-
donald, seconded by Hon. Mr. Cartier, respecting the
administration of oaths of office, after which the Speaker
read the Speech from the Throne.

On motion of Sir John A. Macdonald it was decided to
take His Excellency's speech into consideration on Friday.

[t was resolved that the votes and proceedings of the
House be printed, after being first passed by the Speaker,
and that he do appoint the printing thereof, and that no
person but such as he shall appoint do print the same.

Sir John A. Macdonald announced that the resignations
of Hon. Mr. Archibald and Hon. Mr. Galt had been placed
in his hands and that an explanation of the matter would
be given tomorrow.

It was moved by Sir John A. Macdonald that the rules
and regulations of the Province of Canada be the rules and
regulations of this House. Carried.



VICE-REGAL RESIDENCE

Mr. Thomas McKay, a prominent lumberman, was the
founder of Rideau Hall, Ottawa. He, with his partner, John
Redpath, having successfully built a portion of the Rideau
Canal, the corner stone of which had been laid by the
lamented explorer Sir John Franklin in 1827 ere leaving
for the Arctic regions, where the tragedy of his death
caused universal mourning. The canal completed and By-
town thus brought into the Ottawa and St. Lawrence Rivers
transportation svstem, progressive citizens of
that flourishing town determined upon enlarging their
business operations, and building permanent residences.
Foremost was Mr. Thomas McKay, who owned quite a
respectable area of timber land in the vicinity of the Rideau
River, and within two years his two-storey stone mansion
was the pride of that district. In a very few years (1855)
Bytown became Ottawa and in 1858 Her Majesty Queen
Victoria, having been requested by parliament to decide
upon the issue, signified preference for old Bytown. The
McKayv residence was first leased, then purchased by
Government. It had been named ‘‘Rideau Hall”’ by the
original owner and remains Rideau Hall, the headquarters
for the representative of Royalty in the Dominion of
Canada.

many

This mansion, built in the days of candlewicks and the
civic lamplighter, whose ladder enabled him to apply his
match or inflammable material to the point of ignition.
Those were the times of 1837 and subsequent years. Never-
theless, Rideau Hall was destined to house very distinguish-
ed personages, visitors and governors. Improving, each
period marking the arrival of another Vice-Regal repre-
sentative, the process of cord wood heating made way for
coal, as coal is now doing, in many places, for oil. The oil
lamps succumbed to gas and gas to electricity. The same
with domestic equipment. In 1911 Rideau Hall emerged
from the hands of architects, builders and decorators, in
preparation for the arrival of a roval tenant, His Grace the
Duke of Connaught. The whole front was rebuilt; the
classic entrance crowned by stone structure of the Royal
Coat of Arms. For Lord Dufferin, the Marquis of Lorne,
Lords Lansdowne. Aberdeen, Minto, Grey and Willingdon,
many improvements were perfected.

In the case of the Duke of Connaught, brother of King
Edward \'l1, who had passed from the scene one year before
(May 6th, 1910), the Canadian Government decided to
adopt a policy the opposite from parsimony. The entrance
hall was paved with marble and a marble stairway, broad
and easy of ascent, invited to the promenade above. A
member of the Roval Family, a soldier who had lived in
Canada, an officer in the Rifle Brigade. seen service and

proved his prowess in foreign lands, few Governors had
faced the war year responsibilities from 1914 to 1916 with
greater diplomacy and foresight. Even when the tragedy
was closing and he returned to England, soldiers found in
him a friend, comforter and intercessor. Many a veteran
spoke in terms of appreciation and gratitude: some kindly
act, some influence for good, for which he was remembered
and will remember the Duke of Connaught.

As Governor-General of Canada during a critical war
period, His Grace assumed many onerous responsibilities.
As a soldier, his sympathies were ever with “‘the ranks.”
not only in words but actions. Returned Canadian soldiers
have retained solacing memories of the influence he exer-
cised in lightening the burthen of after-war complications;
even what is in England called “‘the near East”’—where as
the Duke of Albany he served with his regiment in the
Soudan, many years before being called as Governor-
General, his fine character was appreciated. Today his
name is honoured by the Arabian and Bedouin cohorts
who fought under Allenby and Colonel Thomas Lawrence
and half a score of other distinguished British officers—
driving the Turks out of strongholds held for many cen-
turies, reducing Petra, Aleppo and Damascus and pro-
claiming freedom for the Arabs from Turkish tyranny.
The Duke of Connaught was sent to confer honours upon
the conquerors. He placed the Grand Cross of the Order
of the Knights of St. John of Jerusalem upon General
Allenby's breast but when Colonel Lawrence, that man
of destiny, mystery and natural military ability, was looked
for to receive signal proofs of appreciation, he had taken
to his camel and made for the Arabian plains! Few soldiers
could have resisted the lure of Victoria Cross decoration:
Lawrence was one who did. Again, when asked why he
declined knighthood, he laughingly explained, ‘“Well, if I
became a Knight, my tailor would hear about it and double
my bills. I have trouble enough paving them, as it is!”
However, Field Marshal the Duke of Connaught returned
to England and still discharges important duties in various
branches of Empire service.

His Royal Highness at all times manifested patriotic
interest in Canadian prosperity and progress. He was in
early life an officer of the Rifle Brigade, quartered in various
cities, as well as visiting Prince Arthur’s Landing, ultimate-
Iy Port Arthur, named after him. He turned the first sod
of the Toronto, Grey and Bruce Railway; hunted in the
Mattawa and Gatineau country and manifested much re-
gard for Canada’s military efficiency. and is at the present
time honorary colonel of an Ottawa regiment.

CHARLES HERBERT MACKINTOSH

33



GOVERNORS-GENERAL

Since Confederation, thirteen Governors-General have represented the Crown in Canada.
Under responsible government a Governor-General'’s constitutional privileges are clearly defined.
No important legislation upon international subjects likely to precipitatc misunderstandings
is initiated without consultation between the representative of the Crown and the Canadian
Government.,

Assumed Office Until
Viscount Monck . . . . . . . . . . . . Ist July, 1867 23rd November, 1868
Sir John Young (Baron Lisgar) . . . . . . 2nd February, 1869 zoth June, 1872
Earl of Dufferin and Ava . . . . . . . . 25th June, 1872 14th November, 1878
Marquis of Lorne . . . . . . . . . . . . 25th November, 1878  2Ist October, 1883
Marquis of Lansdowne . . . . . . . . . 23rd October, 1883 3oth May, 1888
Baron Stanley of Preston . . . . . . . . 1Ith June, 1888 6th Scptember, 1893
Earl of Aberdeen . . . . . . . . . . . . 22nd May, 1893 12th November, 1898
Earl of Minto .. . . . . . . . . . . . . 3oth July, 1898 10th December, 1904
Earl Grey . . . . . . . . . . . .. . 26th September, 1904  13th October, 1911
H.R.H. Duke of Connaught . . . . . . . 6th March, 1911 11th November, 1916
Duke of Devonshire . . . . . . . . . . 8th August, 1916 11th August, 1921
Baron Byng . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2nd August, 1921 2nd October, 1926
Viscount Willingdon . . . . . . . . . . 5th August, 1926 In Office

The duties assumed by some of those who had been Governors in Canada may interest
readers. Lord Dufferin became V'iceroy of India and at various periods British Ambassador to
Paris and St. Petersburg (now Petrograd) and Constantinople. Lord Lansdowne was Viceroyv
of India in 1888, and Lord Minto from 1905 to 1910; he was highly esteemed for diplomacy
and circumspection, while Lady Minto added lustre to her husband’'s term of office by her
interpretation of Asiatic preference for the spectacular. ’

RIDEAU HALL—VICE-REGAL RESIDENCE
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LADY MONCK

ViscouNT Monck, who, from the 25th of October,
1861, to the 3oth of June, 1867, had been Governor of
Upper and Lower Canada (the ‘““Canadas’’), on July 1,
1867, assumed the office of Governor-General of the
Dominion of Canada. He took a deep interest in the
Confederation movement, and was of material assistance
in framing the general outline of the British North
America Act. He was deeply interested in perfecting
Canada’s autonomy, while Lady Monck sympathetically
devoted much time to the Capital's social life. as first
occupant of Rideau Hall. Lord and Lady Monck loved
horticulture and a simple Victorian life and did much
towards improving the grounds surrounding Rideau Hall.
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LADY LISGAR

SIR JOHN YOUNG, Bart., acted as Administrator from
the 1st of December, 1868, to the 1st of February, 1869,
when he was appointed Governor-General and gazetted
Lord Lisgar. With a new constitution and intricate
legislative machinery to adjust and increasing problems
to solve, little time was vouchsafed for amusement. In
this respect Lord and Lady Lisgar never overlooked an
opportunity promising to make gucests appreciate their
welcome. Lord Lisgar was in office during a period of great
moment to Canada, the purchase of the Hudson's Bav
Company’s North-West lands, the first Riel trouble and
Washington Treaty negotiations. He was an honest
devotee at the shrine of Duty.
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LORD DUFFERIN

MARQUIS OF DUFFERIN AND AvaA, succeeded Lord
Lisgar, 25th June, 1872. Prince Edward Island entered
Confederation, the Intercolonial Railway was opened
from Halifax to Quebec, and the Royal Military College
of Canada was established at Kingston. British Columbia
became greatly incensed consequent upon Government
delay in beginning the Canadian Pacific Railway con-
struction. Lord Dufferin visited the province in 1876 and
by his tact cleared the troubled atmosphere. He remained
in office until November 4th, 1878, and was very popular
as Governor-General, host and classical speaker. Lady
Dufferin excelled in hospitable courtesies. The beautifully
proportioned ballroom originated in the Dufferin epoch,
was resplendent with social ceremonies; this room was
opened by a brilliant Fancy Dress affair, one of the most
remarkable entertainments ever given in Canada; host
and hostess were the personification of refined hospitality.

(93]
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LADY DUFFERIN



PRINCESS LOUISE

The MARQUIS OF LORNE, became Governor-General
25th November, 1878. He and his Royal Consort main-
tained a high standard of social ethics. Rideau Hall was
in readiness for the stately functions which marked the
residence in Canada of the Marquis and Marchioness of
Lorne, the Princess Louise, daughter of Her Majesty
Queen Victoria. The Princess was famous as a sculptress
and artist. His Excellency made a tour through the North-
West Territories, his speeches descriptive of the country
being highly appreciated, and beneficial to the Dominion.
His Excellency signalised his Vice-Regal work in Canada
by signing the contract between the Canadian Pacific
directors and the Dominion Government as a signing
witness to this important state paper.
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LADY LLANSDOWNE

The MARQuUIs OF LANSDOWNE, succeeded Lord Lorne
as Governor-General. During his Vice-Regal term, he was
acknowledged by Sir John Macdonald to be a thorough
master of constitutional usage. Lord Lansdowne arrived
in 1883 and was in office during the uprising of the North-
West half-breeds and Indians, and the punishment of the
rebels. He was entertained at a banquet, given by Mavor
Macleod Stewart and the Ottawa City Council before
the expiry of his Vice-Regency. Returning to England, he
was made \'iceroy of India and subsequently called to the
Imperial Cabinet, where as Secretary for the Colonies
he rendered great service to Canada, always being
actively sympathetic towards Sir Charles Tupper while he
was High Commissioner for the Dominion.
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LORD STANLEY

BarRON STANLEY OF [PRESTON, succeeded Lord
Lansdowne on 11th of June, 1888. Both he and Ladyv
Stanley were not only sympathetic in interest mani-
fested on all occasions, but kindly, generous and hospitable
throughout their occupancy of Rideau Hall, while Lady
Stanley was a leader in every charitable work. Upon the
death of his brother, the Governor-General succeeded to
the Earldom of Derby on the 17th of May, 1893. The
Behring's Seal issue went to arbitration, and much national
legislation was added to the statutes: the Vice-Regal rep-
resentatives were appreciated and admired for their
generosity and hospitality. In her gentle thoughtfulness
for others Lady Stanley was singularly ¢ifted, and the
same may be said of Lord Stanley. Lord Stanlev witnessed
the controversy over the Manitoba School question, also
the Jesuit Estates enactment, by the Province of Quebcec.
During his time it was decided to submit the Behring Sca
Seal dispute to a commission in which the United States
was represented.

LADY STANLEY



LADY ABERDEEN

The EARL OF ABERDEEN succeeded Lord Stanley
in 1893. In Rideau Hall the founding of the National
Council of Women of Canada was discussed by Her
Excellency; while His Excellency encouraged agricultural
exhibitions. He opened in August, 1895, the first great
territorial exhibition in the Canadian North-West: in
1895 the launching of the Aberdeen Association for
distributing literature to people in isolated sections of the
country, and the establishment of the Victorian Order of
Nurses were effected. Lord Aberdeen’s tenure of office
was marked by the building of a chapel and installation
of an organ in connection with Rideau Hall. Some¢ impor-
tant national events during his term of office were the
Colonial Conference at Ottawa, the election of Sir Wilfrid
Laurier as Prime Minister of Canada, the meeting of the
Behring Sea Scal Commission at Victoria and Queen
Victoria's Diamond Jubilee.
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LADY MINTO EARL OF MINTO

The EARL OF MINTO assumed office in 1898, and many
important cvents took place while he sojourned in Canada.
Two Cent Postage came into force, the British Preferential
Tariff became law, Canadian contingents served in South
Africa, Queen Victoria died and King Edward VI
ascended the throne. Lady Minto and her family well
deserved the regard in which they were held throughout
Canada. Brightness, gaiety and an enthusiasm for winter
sports characterized the NMinto administration.




EARL GREY

EARL GREY was appointed Governor-General of
Canada in 1905. He and Lady Grey visited Regina upon
the creation of the Provinces of Alberta and Saskatchewan,
also the Tercentenary of the founding of Quebec. Lord
Grey's term witnessed the creation of the International
Joint Commission, and new trade agreements with
European countries. His Excellency made several tours
throughout North-West Canada, being warmly received
by all classes. His speeches before Canadian clubs and
many other audiences, ere returning to the motherland,
were widely distributed and heartily applauded. con-
sequent upon his expressions of love of Canada and
loyalty to the British Empire.
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H.R.H. THE DUKE OF CONNAUGHT H.R.H. THE DUCHESS OF CONNAUGHT

H.R.H. THE DUKE oF CONNAUGHT assumed office in
1911 ; during his term, momentous events occurred. Every-
thing was overshadowed by the World War. The Parlia-
ment Building was burned; he laid the corner stone of
the new structure in 1916. His services during a trying
period were inestimable. He is now H.R.H. Field Marshal,
the Duke of Connaught and Strathcona, still retains rank
in Ottawa’s military organization and in every way mani-
fests interest in the country of which he was Governor-
General. His Grace is referred to at some length in a
preceding article.




DUKE OF DEVONSHIRE

THE DUKE OF DEVONSHIRE arrived in Canada in
1916, the war being in full force. He was Vice-Regal rep-
resentative during reconstruction period and while the
Canadian National Railway was in course of organization.
Equally with other Canadian homes, economic methods
and assistance towards war relief and charitable require-
ments, essential repairs, improvements and changes
were suspended at Rideau Hall. Their Excellencies, never-
theless, in no way neglecting or minimising official re-
quirements. The Duchess of Devonshire was unremitting
in her efforts to lighten the burthen of war sufferers and
contribute as well towards creating a cheerful atmosphere
in Government House. The Duke of Devonshire carried
with him the golden opinion of all when leaving Canadian
shores.
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LORD BYNG

Lorp BYNG oF Vimy arrived August 2nd, 1921, fresh
from the fields of Flanders and other battle grounds: left
camp for tents of peace and was warmly welcomed upon
coming to Canada. Lady Byng, with the eye and taste
of a landscape artist, quickly discerned possibilities for
improvements harmonising with the landscape. Her
contribution was a rock garden. But the utilitarian, as
well as the aesthetic, claimed her attention. During the
carly part of his official term, arrears of accumulating
repairs were adjusted. Lord Byng's reputation as an organ-
iser caused pressure to induce him to accept the command
of the Metropolitan Board of Police of London, which
office he now holds.
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L

LORD WILLINGDON LADY WILLINGDON

Lorp WILLINGDON assumed the office of Governor-
General on August 3, 1926, and arriving in Ottawa,
accompanied by Viscountess Willingdon, Their Excellencies
lost no time in manifesting wholesome interest in Rideau
Hall. At every step, constructive interest was taken by
Lady Willingdon, her discrimination winning the encom-
iums of competent architects. The maintenance of Their
Excellencies’ Quebec residence has in no manner been
neglected. In the estimates of 1927 Parliament voted
additional sums for 1928, thereby taking many artistic
features to the historic mansion. To enumerate His
Excellency’s activities since assuming office would be
superfluous at the present time—for they have been
observed and appreciated from ocean to ocean. Added
to this his contribution of labour and intelligence during
the Jubilee of 1927, followed in 1928 by journeys to
every section of Canada, usually accompanied by the
Viscountess, have been more than edifying and always
contributing to the popularity of Their Excellencies.
Her Excellency returned from England in November last
(1928). Meanwhile the Governor-General was perfecting
his policy of knowing Canada and its people.
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PREMIERS OF THE DOMINION

1867-

The Right Honourable Sir John Alexander Macdonald,
Canada’s first Prime Minister at Confederation, the 1st of
July, 1867, was born in the City of Glasgow, Scotland, on
the 11th of January, 1815. His father emigrated to Canada
in 1820, finally settling in Kingston, Ontario, where he died
in 1841. The future statesman was articled to then a well-
known barrister, Mr. George MacKenzie, and called to the
Bar February 6th, 1836, soon becoming head of a pros-
perous legal firm. In 1843 he was elected to the City
Council and in 1844 Member of the Upper Canada Legis-
lature, by a substantial majority. In 1854 he was instru-
mental in forming a coalition of parties, which resulted in
the creation of the Liberal-Conservative party. In 1856
Mr. Macdonald was leader of the Upper Canada section of
the Tache-Macdonald ministry and in 1857 Prime Minister.
He was knighted in 1867 and subsequently made an Im-
perial Privy Councillor.

Perhaps no question of policy during the troublous
parliamentary debates of that period produced more acri-
mony, bitterness, sectional discord and personal recrimin-
ation, than the selection of a permanent centre for the seat
of government. In 1856 the Assembly became a perambulat-
ing institution—capitals being Quebec one session and
Toronto the next, alternatelv. It seemed an impossibility
to solve the problem, as Kingston, Quebec, Toronto,
Ottawa and one or two other growing corporations aspired
to the honour, justly ambitious to become permanently
advantaged by the presence of a national body of legislators.
Finally, after a prolonged struggle, Quebec seemed likely to
be the choice. However, the Lower House having in 1856
voted $200,000 towards defraying expenditure upon Quebec
buildings aroused the ire of the Legislative Council, which
body rejected the item on the ground that it ‘‘had not been
consulted in the matter'; thus a new supply bill, eliminat-
ing the objectionable vote, had to be rushed through
various stages of the Assembly. Then, the seat of govern-
ment issue, early in the session of 1857, was submitted
squarely to the Assembly* former debates and sectional
tactics having utterly failed to produce harmonious settle-
ment. The Tache-Macdonald Government had been formed
in 1856 and early in the session of 1857, carried resolutions
““to submit the question to the Queen' praying ‘‘that Her
Majesty would be graciously pleased to exercise the Royai
prerogative by the selection of some one place as the per-
manent capital of Canada, and directing that the sum of
$1,125,000 be set apart for the erection of suitable buildings
and accommodation for the Government and legislature
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at that place.”” It would be superfluous to enter into any
prolonged statement of what followed. In various quarters
the Government was denounced as countenancing ‘‘degra-
dation,” the action of the House characterised as “‘revolt-
ing”” and ‘‘humiliating.” The proposition of the Adminis-
tration had been sustained by a vote of 61 to 50 and the
setting aside a stated amount of revenue for the purpose
by 64 to 48, parliament proroguing on the 10th of June,
1857.

Early in 1858 it was known that Queen Victoria had
decided that Ottawa should be the city selected for the seat
of government, but when the House met, the government
of the day candidly announcing that they “would stand
loyally by the Queen’s decision.” On the 28th of July Mr.
Dunkin moved, seconded by Mr. A. A. Dorion, one of the
ablest men in the House, “that an humble address be
presented to Her Most Gracious Majesty that this House
humbly prays Her Majesty to reconsider the selection she
has been advised to make of a future Capital of Canada
and to name Montreal as such future capital.” Other
amendments followed, one of which declared (moved by
Mr. Piche) ‘“‘that in the opinion of this House, Ottawa
ought not to be the permanent seat of government for this
Province.” This being carried by 64 to 50 votes. The Hon.
George Cartier announced that the Government, “‘not-
withstanding a majority voting in their favour, decided that
they were bound to resent what was an insult to the Queen,
they as her servants should resign.”” which they did. They
did not seek a dissolution; Mr. Brown failed to form a
stable government; the Governor-General had informed
Mr. Brown that he would not be entitled to advise dis-
solution, in case he and his colleagues failed to establish a
stable administration, and Tache, Macdonald and their
colleagues accepted new portfolios, thus returning to power.
This was called *‘the Double Shuffle’” and was held by the
Courts of the Land to be perfectly defensible under the
then existing law. However, the act was subsequently
amended. Ottawa became the Capital, Confederation was
perfected and Ottawa is still the Capital. This mav interest
the generation of to-day.

In 1862 his Administration was defeated. he returning
to office two years later. He took a foremost part in the
Charlottetown and Quebec conferences and was very
largely instrumental in bringing about Confederation, along
with Messieurs Galt, Pope, Brown, Tupper and others. His
reward was the first premiership of united Canada. Sir John
Macdonald regained office on the National Policy. other-
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wise Protection issue, in 1878. In 1882, 1886 and 1891 he
was victorious at the polls. In 1878 the policy of the Cf)n-
servative party was Protection for National Industne‘s;
in 1882 construction of the Canadian Pacific Railway; in
1887, a finished C.P.R., and increasing revenue under tl?e
national policy and justification of general legislation; in
1891 the national policy in preference to unrestricted
reciprocity.

He died at Earnscliff, Ottawa, June 6th, 1891. at the
age of 76 years and 4 months. His widow (now deceased),
was created Baroness Macdonald. A daughter, the Hon.
Mary Macdonald, resides in England. His son, the Hon.
Hugh J. Macdonald, was Minister of Interior in the Gov-
ernment formed by Sir Charles Tupper in 1896, afterwards
becoming Premier of Manitoba, and after that the much
respected Chief Magistrate of Winnipeg. Recently he suf-
fered severe illness which carried him off.

The Hon. Alexander Mackenzie was ("anada’s second
prime minister. Born near Dunkeld, Perthshire, Scotland,
January 22, 1822, he came to Canada in 1842, settling
near Kingston, and then at Sarnia, Ontario, engaging
in the contracting business. From 1852 to 1854 he edited
the Lambton Shield, a Reform newspaper, and became
a warm supporter of George Brown. Mr. Mackenzie
was elected to the legislative assembly in 1861, and sup-
ported Confederation. \WWhen Mr. Brown withdrew from
the coalition government in 1865 Mr. Mackenzie refused
office in the government. In 1867 he was elected to both
the Federal and Ontario parliaments and held both seats
until 1872 when dual representation was abolished. In 1873,
on the fall of the Macdonald administration, he was called
on to form the first Liberal administration in Canada. His
government was sustained at the polls in 1874 but defeated
in 1878. As leader of the Liberal party he received many
eulogistic acknowledgments for consistency in maintaining
economic principles. He was an ardent advocate of Free
Trade—conscientiously so, and perhaps over-cautious on
railway construction. In 1880 he resigned the leadership of
the Liberals in favor of Mr. Blake. Mr. Mackenzie was
much respected for his honest and straightforward char-
acter; he died in Toronto in 1892,

Sir John J. J. C. Abbott was a Canadian, born at St.
Andrew’s, Quebec, in 1821. In 1855 he was appointed dean
of the law faculty of McGill University and became chief
counsel for the Canadian Pacific Railway in the early davs
of that company. In 1849 Mr. Abbott was elected to the
legislative assembly of Canada for Argenteuil countyv and
continued to sit for this constituency for many \'ezl-rs. In
1862 he was for a short while solicitor-general in the Sicotte-
Macdonald administration. As legal adviser of Sir Hugh
Allan he was mentioned in the Pacific Contract investiga-
tion. A confidential clerk in the office of Mr. Abbott re-
vealed the private letters which brought about the resig-
nation of Sir John Macdonald’s administration on the fifth
day of November, 1873. Mr. Abbott was appointed to the
senate in 1887 and on the death of Sir John Macdonald in
1891 was chosen to take over the leadership of the Conserva-
tive party. Sir J. J. C. Abbott held this position only a few
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months, however, and resigned in December. He died
in 1893.

Sir John Thompson was born in Halifax, Novemper
10th, 1844. In 1865 he was called to the bar of Nova Scoti,
and in 1877 waselected to the Provincial house as Conserya.
tive Member for Antigonish. In 1878 he was Attorney-Gep.
eral in the Holmes administration and in 1882 was Prime
Minister of the province. But in the general elections of that
year his government was beaten and he accepted a judgeship
in the supreme court of his native province. In 1885 he was
offered the position of minister of justice by Sir Johy
Macdonald and in the same vear was elected for Antigonish.
Mr. Thompson steered the government through the Rigl
crisis and the Jesuit Estates’ difiiculty with great skill. Op
both subjects his speeches met with national acclaim. His
logical arguments were gems of judicial logic and profound
knowledge of precedent. In 1892 he was appointed leader
of the Party and Prime Minister. While on a diplomatic
mission to Great Britain he collapsed at a function in
Windsor Castle, and died December 12th, 1894. \r.
Thompson was created a K.C.M.G. in 1888. He adorned
every position to which he had been elevated.

Sir Mackenzie Bowell, Canada’s fifth Prime Minister,
was born in Suffolk, England, in 1823, and came to Canada
in 1833. He was a printer’s apprentice with the Belleville
Intelligencer, of which he ultimately became editor and
proprietor. In 1867 he was elected to represent North
Hastings in the Dominion House and sat for this con-
stituency continuously till 1892. In the latter year he was
appointed to the Senate, but in 1906 retired to private life.
He was then over eighty-three vears of age. In 1878 he
l.ecame Minister of Customs in the Macdonald government.
In 1894, on the death of Sir John Thompson, Mr. Bowell
became Prime Minister. He resigned in 1896, and was suc-
ceeded by Sir Charles Tupper. After the defeat of the Con-
servative party under the last named leader in 1896, Mr.
Bowell assumed the leadership of the party in the Senate.
He died at Belleville in 1917 at the age of ninety-four.

Sir Charles Tupper, Bart., a brilliant statesman, “The
War Horse of Cumberland,” who was fated to lead the
Conservative party to defeat after eighteen vears of power,
was born in Amherst, Nova Scotia, in 1821. From 1855 to
1867 he represented Cumberland in the local house and in
the latter vear, after holding scveral cabinet positions, be-
came premier of the province. He took a leading part in the
Charlottetown and Quebee conferences in 18604 and con-
ducted a memorable series of debates with Joseph Howe.
He represented Cumberland in the Dominion House from
1867 to 1884, but was not in Sir John AMacdonald's first
government when formed, having waived the invitation
(with D’Arcy McGee) to make way for Kenny. In 1870 he
entered the Cabinet and afterwards held the positions .Oi
minister of inland revenue, customs, public works and rail-
ways and canals. Sir Charles Tupper was appointed High
Commissioner for Canada in 1883 but returned to helpin the
general elections of 1887 and 1891. He held the High o
rr‘nssionership till 1896, when he was appointed leader of the
Conservative party. He assumed the premiership but held
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the honour only six months, being defeated at the general
elections. Sir Charles died in England in 1915, being the
last of the Fathers of Confederation. He was aged ninety-
four at the time of his death.

Right Hon. Sir Wilfrid Laurier, who led the Liberals
out of the wilderness after many years’ wandering, was
born at St. Lin, Quebec, in 1841. He was called to the bar
of Lower Canada in 1864. He was at this time a member
of the famous Parti Rouge, which was composed of ad-
vanced French-Canadians. It eventually drew the censure
of the church and soon died out. Sir Wilfrid Laurier was
elected to the Dominion House in 1874, after having held
a seat in the Quebec assembly since 1871. In 1877 he
attained cabinet rank when appointed minister of in-
land revenue under the Mackenzie rule. In 1887 he was
chosen leader of the Liberalson the resignation of Mr. Blake.
In 1896 he led his party to victory and won at the general
elections during the next fifteen years. In 1904 he anncunced
the Government's decision to build another Pacific Railway.
He was defeated on the reciprocity issue in 1911. In 1917 he
put up a gallant fight against a united opposition, with his
own party split on the military issue, Conscription, followed
by a Union administration. Sir Wilfrid Laurier died at
Ottawa in 1919. He was created a G.C.M.G. in 1897.
Having faith in Canada's potential resources, railway de-
velopment was rapid. Sir Wilfrid was universally popular
during the major portion of his premiership.

The Right Hon. Sir Robert Laird Borden assumed
the premiership after the defeat of the Laurier government
in 1911. He was born at Grand Pre, Nova Scotia, June
26th, 1854. In 1872 he was a professor in Glenwood Insti-
tute, New Jersey, and studied law afterwards. In 1878 he
was called to the bar. He sat for Halifax, N.S., in the
Dominion House from 1896 to 1904, and afterwards for
Carleton County, Ontario, in the general election of 1908.
In 1900 he was appointed Conservative leader, and on the
defeat of the Liberal government in 1911, was summoned
to form an administration. Before the term of this govern-
ment expired, war broke out and when the full life of the
administration had been reached, Premier Borden formed
a Union Government composed of members of bhoth
parties, the statutory period of the life of parliament being
extended. Sir Robert held the premiership from 1911 to
1920, when he resigned. Much legislation of national im-
portance signalised his occupancy of office, including the
acquisition of the Canadian Northern Railway and the old
Grand Trunk system.

Right Hon. Arthur Meighen was born in 1874 at
Anderson, Perth county, Ontario. He studied law and was
called to the Ontario bar and afterwards became partner
in a legal firm in Portage la Prairie. In 1908 he was elected
to the Dominion House, was re-elected in 1911, and in

1913 became Solicitor-General. In 1917 he attained full
cabinet rank as Secretary of State and later as Minister of
the Interior. Two years after the conclusion of the war, Sir
Robert Borden retired and Mr. Meighen was selected as
leader of the party. Under his administration the Grand
Trunk Pacific, the Canadian Northern and the Intercolonial
Railways were merged, becoming national utilities. In 1921
the general election resulted in the defeat of the Conserva-
tive and Unionist government and Mr. Meighen became
leader of the opposition. In 1926, following a parliamentary
and constitutional crisis, the Conservatives again assumed
office but were defeated at the elections. The Right Honour-
able Mr. Meighen then announced his retirement from the
leadership and for the present from public life. He now
resides in Toronto, devoting his acknowledged legal and
financial abilities to the affairs of the Canadian General
Securities, of which he is Vice-President.

Right Hon. William Lyon Mackenzie King was born
at Berlin (now Kitchener) in 1874. In 1900 he was deputy
Minister of Labor for Canada, and in 1908 was elected
Liberal member for North Waterloo. In the next cabinet
he was Minister of Labor but defeated in the reciprocity
campaign of 1911. From 1914 to 1917 Mr. King was
engaged in the investigation of industrial disputes under
the auspices of the Rockefeller Foundation, and in 1919
was selected leader of the Liberal party, succeeding Sir
Wilfrid Laurier. Upon the defeat of the Meighen adminis-
tration he was called upon to form a government and took
office at the end of the year. In 1925 he was victorious at
the polls and again in 1926, when the Meighen administra-
tion was defeated. Mr. King still retains office as Canada’s
tenth premier, and has adopted a policy of wide national
expansion, the Dominion being represented at Washington.
D.C., by a Minister to the United States, Hon. Vincent
Massey, the United States by the Hon. W. Phillips at
Ottawa. France has also decided to have a representa-
tive at Ottawa and Canada is represented in France by
an ambassador, the Hon. Philipe Roy, who served Canada
in Paris faithfully, for many vears.

As Prime Minister of the Dominion, Mr. King's activities
in 1927 were unceasing. This was during the commemor-
ative ceremonies celebrating Canada’s Diamond Jubilee.
the Sixtieth Anniversarv of Confederation, Mr. King
delivering several addresses appropriate to various events
marking the occasion. In 1928 he made a tour of the
Dominion, devoting several weeks to an exposition of his
Government’s policy, including many speeches dealing with
Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Alberta, as well as visits to
the National Park and dedication of the same. His recent
achievements at Geneva in connection with the League
of Nations and the signing of the anti-war pact at the
ceremony, participated in by fourteen other nations. was
an event gratifying to all Canadians.



PART 11
HISTORIC MILESTONES

THE CRIMEAN WAR

GREAT BRITAIN AXD FRANCE SHOULDER TO SHOULDER

Great Britain and France declared war against Russia,
March 28, 1854, in alliance with Turkev. The allied forces
aggregated 58,000—(26,000 being British soldiers) com-
manded by lLord Raglan and Marshal St. Armand. In
Canada, the engagement was known as the “Crimean
Expedition.” The troops sailed from Varna, 3rd September,
disembarking on the 14th September, at Old Fort, Eupa-
toria, thirty miles from Sebastopol, without opposition.
The first hand-to-hand struggle was an attack upon Alma
Heights (20th), defended by about 45,000 Russian troops
under Prince Menschikoff, entrenched upon the Heights of
Alma (considered impregnable). However, the Russians
were driven from their entrenchments, and utterly de-
feated, similar disasters following, peace being declared in
April, 1856, the allies re-embarking on the 12th of July of
the same year.

When British regiments in London, Upper Canada, were
ordered for active service abroad, many moistened eyes
listened to the popular air, “The Girl I Left Behind Me.”

The writer recalls a ‘“farewell concert,” which took place
at his parental home on Clarence Street. He well remembers,
two young officers, Captain Chester and Lieutenant Fraser,
of the 23rd, and other subalterns. All joined in vocal and
instrumental music. The military guests were embodiments
of manly virility, seemingly carefree and happy as though
life would always vouchsafe unalloyed contentment. Alas,
not for long! The writer's mother had been educated under
the best English and French masters. She was courteous
and hospitable; and, playing accompaniments to both ballad
and operatic selections, was at times the centre of attrac-
tion. A few days after this, the regiments departed. Four
months after, dispatches conveyed naught save depressing
news. Many of those splendid fellows died beneath British
colours—died on the field of Inkerman or storming the
Redan. Each mail contributed a chapter of tragedy, for the
major struggle was practically bolstering the Turk, strength-
ening and perpetuating his autonomy, vile methods and
fanatical belief. Common rumour was that on many occa-
sions Turkish soldiers, when charging the enemy, were
stationed in the front ranks, in order to prevent their
retreat. Public sentiment then, as today, was averse to
“the sick man of the East;"’ most of the collar-work falling
upon the soldier chivalry of Britain and France—while
Turkish hordes were prodded and forced to the battle-front.
However, each country was stimulated by half-concealed
designs, as most people are who help others; possibly this

applies not only to nations but individuals in various walks
of life. Sebastopol had been besieged in September, 1854,
but information filtered slowly through pink loop dispatches
to the colonies. The fortress, vaunted as impregnable,
stubbornly disputed the enemies’ advance until September
following: then it was stormed. Hence allied achievements
at Inkerman, on the 15th of November, 1854, and Balaclava
on the 25th of October—historic, consequent upon the
“Charge of the Light Brigade''—held anxious syvmpathisers
in harrowing suspense for a lengthened period.

Echoes of those old sad days are revived as heroes who
faced perils and lived to perpetuate memories, are chronicled
in the press; but anyone desirous of analysing events
minimized in history should read the letters of Sir W. H.
Russell, correspondent of the London Times.

I recall a letter from Ellis Cutting, a Crimean veteran
written from Cedar Rapids, Michigan, on the 26th of
October, 1924. The veteran passed from the scene a few
months after writing to me.

CEDAR RaPIDS, MicH., U.S.A.

“Dear Sir: Oct. 26, 1924

“In answer to your question I surely remember Lord Cardigan and
also General Scarlett. I often fancy I see Scarlett standing in his
saddle shouting to his men to ‘come on.’ His red head and face are
often in my mind, also the face of Cardigan, when he saw what had
befallen his men; and I surely remember the words to Lord Raglan,
when all was over!

“I spent a pleasant time yesterday, the 70th anniversary of that
battle. I have been since I came to the United States, a railroad
engineer on the Rock Island Line, and was on that road 45 years and
am now one of their pensioners. I was in their service 45 years and
26 of the engineers and firemen gave me a banquet yesterday on the
70th anniversary of that battle, and we had a good time and the
ladies are giving me a birthday party on the 4th of next month, my
88th birthday, and so I am not forgotten yet. I assure you I have a
pleasant time and enjoy good health and am real happy and content.

(Sgd.' Erris CUTTING,
401 S 26th St.,
Cedar Rapids, Mich.”

Without consulting authorities, it may be stated that the
old hero Cutting only claimed to be one of the last of those
who rode “into the jaws of death; into the mouth of Hell,”
at Balaclava. Not the last of Crimean veterans, for on the
2nd of January, 1925, announcement was made of the death
of Arthur Maxwell Wade, aged 87, a Crimean War veteran
who served as a naval officer on the battleships T7ibune,
Russell and Agincourt. He lived in Montreal for many years,
finally settling in Vancouver; also Dennis Tierney, who died
in March, 1923, aged 94 years, a native of Fitzroy Harbour,
Carleton Co., Ontario. His career was varied and adventur-
ous; a very interesting life. When a lad, sixteen vears of age,
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he enlisted and served for over ten vears in the British army.
He was a cavalryman, in the Crimean War, subsequently
participating in the Indian Mutiny, 1857-58; later, he was
sent to army posts at Portugal, Ireland and the East and
West Indies. Serving for a considerable time in Bermuda,
he returned to Canada, married and settled down to civil
work. The old hero left a family of eleven children—all
living in their native settlement or within Canadian
boundaries.

The city and district of Ottawa have been distinctly
noticeable for the number of India and Crimean War
veterans; gradually these heroes are passing from the scene.
One of the last was John Rawlins, who lived for a long time
on Broad Street. He died in June, 1923, at the advanced
age of 99 years. Born and educated in England he entered
in the Imperial army, fought in the ranks during the siege
of Sebastopol, and although not a member of the famous
Light Brigade, witnessed the immortal charge and often
told his children and their children of the deeds of the
Gallant Six Hundred. Rawlins had a few good friends whose
tributary floral offerings marked his last resting place.
Canada was the better for his existence, as besides the
memory of his life, he left an honourable lineage comprising
Frederick, John, Jesse and James, sons, and two daughters,
Mrs. Richard Rawlins, Ottawa, and Mrs. Jolie, Ottawa; 28
grandchildren and 35 great-grandchildren.

It may be interesting to readers to record the fact that
Captain Isaac Coffin, a native of St. John, New Brunswick,
Canada, died in London, England, on the 5th of February,
1929.

Early in 1929, supposedly the last Crimean War Veteran
ended his life by suicide. His age was well in the 90’s.

The total casualities of the Allies at Balaclava were stated
to be 600. Official returns state the number of men who
answered their names at the first roll-call after the tragic
charge of the Light Brigade:

Charged Came Out Losses
4th “Light Dragoons’ .. ... ... 118 39 79
8th “Hussars”............... 104 38 66
11th “Hussars”......... ... ... 110 25 85
13th “Light Dragoons”........ 130 61 69
17th “Lancers”.............. 145 35 110
607 198 409

Total loss 76 per cent; five hundred and twenty horses killed and
wounded.

Years after, the writer read the story engraved upon a
memorial tablet, in St. Paul’'s Cathedral, London, Upper
Canada, perpetuating the deeds of heroes who gave their
young lives for Britain, home and duty; many of these,
including Chester and Fraser, were enrolled in that list of
departed. It recalled the incidents already chronicled, when
the 23rd Regiment left London for active service. It re-
called too, memories of that black year, including the
terrible ravages of Asiatic cholera and a long list of railway
disasters; one in particular at Sifton’s Cut, near London,
where a landslide caused frightful casualties, an immigrant
train, mostly foreigners going to the United States, being
smashed into kindling wood. At that period, a sect called
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“Millerites” including also Cummingites, were prophesying
the “second advent of Christ’’-—this to take place within a
few months. The ‘‘great comet” was described as a har-
binger of woe to the world, and the Russian war declared
to be the battle of Armageddon! The writer’s mother, a
devout Christian, was greatly impressed by the predictions
of these fanatical dreamers; more particularly the startling
prophecies of an English reverend named Cummings. We
had services in the morning, in the evening and at bedtime.
The writer dodged a few ceremonies. intent upon cultivating
friendly acquaintenance with conductors and engine-drivers,
thereby compassing the privilege of free rides in the little
locomotives and on the rear end of passenger cars—for
railways were only then operating in Upper Canada. To be
candid, I never took much stock in threatened world
annihilation, for it was impossible for one dreaming of what
might yet be gained when he had nothing to lose, reasoning
too with boyish effrontery against the possibility of the
entire universe being destroyed by one fell catastrophe.
Hence he determined to get the most out of existing attrac-
tions, taking chances on what others anticipated. So, the
world did not come to an end, although, if thunderstorms
and freshets could have superinduced chaos, the supply
was abundant during that particular year. One reverend
dignitary, Bishop Cronyn (whose daughter, the saintly
Margaret, afterwards married the Honourable Edward
Blake, of Toronto, and another daughter, Rebecca, Mr.
Samuel Blake, Q.C.) seemed a rayv of sunshine and hope,
wherever he appeared. The writer looked upon him as some
heavenly ordained being sojourning in our midst, when he
might have been in a higher sphere of happiness, removed
from a world of care, misery and threatened desolation. The
dear old man remained many vears after the horoscope of
Armageddon.

It must be conceded that there were justifiable features
for that Russian war. Although ostensibly waged in the
interests of the ‘“‘sick man of the East (as Nicholas of
Russia cynically designated the ruler of Turkey) it to some
extent threatened to gravely affect Empire interests in one
particular direction. Constantinople was a point of ad-
vantage for Turkey and a standing menace in the East,
the wily Sultan concentrating work in strengthening his
foothold on the Black Sea and eastern end of the Mediter-
ranean. The Czar of Russia, autocratic and aggressive,
claimed that, being head of the Greek Church, he was in
duty bound to protect Christian Greeks resident in Turkey.
Consequently he proceeded to destroy the Turkish fleet
and was about to invest Constantinople, when Britain and
France intervened by declaring war. As before stated, the
first defeat of Russia was at Alma River, followed by the
siege of Sebastopol, a rugged fortress on the Black Sea. The
war demanded a toll of thousands of lives, at a cost to Great
Britain of $385,000,000.

Turkey in 1914! The same old Turkey; always ungrateful,
always treacherous. However, the “‘sick man of the East” is
not likely to forget the brilliant Allenby or ‘‘the uncrowned

King of the Arabs,” that resourceful tactician. Colonel
Thomas Lawrence!



THE SEPOY UPRISING

THE NANA SaHIB REBELLION—CLOUDS GATHER OVER
CanapA—THE Dawx oF BRIGHTER Davs

War! The Sepoy uprising of 1857 in India; rebellion un-
checked by any trammels, treaty provisions or ‘‘Articles”
regulating hostilities. In short: civilization suspended, Satan
incarnate and his hounds unleashed; murder, rapine and
plunder—eighteen months of red butchery. The tragic
events pass in review as vividly as though occurring one
year ago. ‘‘The rebels hold possession of Delhi.” This dire
intelligence followed by “‘Mutiny in Lucknow.” ‘“Lawrence
besieged in the Presidency,” “'Massacre at Cawnpore (June,
1857).”" Then prolonged, heartbreaking silence and anxiety;
not an indifferent public alone, awaiting details, but thou-
sands scattered throughout the American continent, whose
relatives were in danger; innocent victims within the red
zone of barbarian action.

Meanwhile a staggering financial collapse palsied commer-
cial and industrial circles in the Canadas; banks suspended,
real estate operators were bankrupt, chaos over the land.
It must be remembered that in those days, news arrived
at snail-like pace, comparatively speaking.

Late in the autumn of 1857 and summer of 1858, the
clouds of business depression in Canada dispersed, feverish
speculation in land was abating; gambling in stocks and
minor enterprises discontinued, while Grand Trunk Railway
building proceeded, with such activity that few labourers
were out of employment, and suffering of other classes
greatly minimized. \What would the present generation
think of the cost of necessaries of household in 1857 com-
pared with 1929? Here are a few market quotations of that
day: Bread 4 cents a loaf; eggs 5 to 6 cents per dozen; butter
8 to 10 cents per lb.; milk 3 cents per quart; potatoes 15
cents per bushel; apples 5 cents per peck (four quarts);
chickens 20 to 25 cents per pair; hay $3.00 per ton; sugar
3 cents per lb. In fact, every commodity required in domestic
life, including clothing, could be procured at prices suffi-
ciently reasonable to ensure the poorest wherewith to
appease appetite, furnish his house or clothe himself and
family. The same standard was applicable to building and
heating. Happily the Grand Trunk contractors continued
active construction. The line had been extended from
Montreal to Toronto in 1856 and from Toronto to Sarnia—
opening in 1858.

By the last month of 1858, British vengeance crushed
rebellion in India; but at a shocking sacrifice of life and
treasure. Mutiny had been for a long time forecast. Sepoys
fully crediting an alleged legend and prophecy to the effect
that British supremacy would end one hundred years from
the battle of Plassey. The period having arrived, fanatical
agitators cunningly took advantage of a new rifle, the cart-
ridge of which necessitated the use of a mixture of tallow
and lard as lubricants. To the Hindu, the cow was sacred,
the Mohammedan deemed the hog unclean, hence the
native troops serving under British officers, professed to
(some really did) believe that as the end of the cartridge
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had to be bitten off, the government introduced the weapon
with the design of outraging their religion. Delhi had been
stormed and reduced by the 20th of September, 1857. Sir
Wm. Lawrence, the British Administrator in the Punjab,
with the co-operation of the loyal Sikhs, overpowered the
Sepoys at the start. Sir Henry Havelock was able, for the
time being, to relieve Lucknow, but not until November,
was that devil's hole captured by troops commanded by
Sir Henry Havelock and Sir James Outram. Cawnpore had
fallen in December, 1858, after a merciless attack under
Sir John Campbell. The prolonged agony was over and
throughout Canada and the other provinces joy bells pro-
claimed a people’s gratitude for the triumph of British
arms. To this day the words of Jessie Brown, of Lucknow,
“Dinna ve hear it? 'Tis the sound of the pibroch,” is dear
to the hearts of the clans and held in reverence by de-
cendants of those who passed through that ordeal of
horrors. The writer recalls the avidity with which his
father and mother opened the Illustrated London News

- containing woodcuts of a score of cannon, each with a

Sepoy lashed to its mouth, blown into eternity! Then peace.
Many will remember subsequent events, when her late
Majesty, Queen Victoria, was proclaimed Empress of
India, in London, 1876, in Delhi, 1877. Delhi became the
capital of India. It was the year Her Majesty was
proclaimed Empress of India that the Beaconsfield govern-
ment (Disraeli) acquired the Khedive's shares in the Suez
Canal. The amount paid to the Khedive was $20,000,000;
this vouchsafed to Great Britain not only vast commercial
advantages, but established her right to a voice in Egyptian
affairs; soon to be asserted, for within six years Arabi Bey,
a spectacular character in the Egyptian army, declared
war against Europeans. British bombarded and reduced
Alexandria. Sir Garnet Wolseley was victorious in the battle
of Tel-el Keber, captured Arabi and restored order. Thus
in 1882, the wisdom of the government was vindicated.
Great Britain was in controul in Egypt. Recently the value
of Suez Canal shares exceeded $140,000,000; interest and
dividends being estimated at 2115 per cent on the original
purchase! Today, that enterprise is one of Great Britain's
most lucrative assets.

The writer ventures these details during earlier vears
because they exercised much influence upon his after career.
More, he believes the young men of today will derive
benefit from renewing acquaintance with historic incidents
recalled by one who observed the effect upon Canada in the
making.

The year 1858 witnessed, not only the closing of desperate
troubles in India, the completion of the Grand Trunk
Railway to Sarnia, rapidly recovering business stagnation
in both Upper and Lower Canada, but promised magnetic
communication between Europe and America. Canada, at
that time, had several lines of cable; one of ten miles,
between New Brunswick and Prince Edward Island,
finished for operation in 1851, and another between Cape
Breton and Newfoundland, in 1856. This was over 80 miles
in length; added to which Mr. F. N. Gisborne (afterwards
connected with the public service in Ottawa) perfected a
line connecting Newfoundland with Nova Scotia. Then an
Atlantic cable, thousands of miles in length; it was almost



unbelievable, verging upon the miraculous. When the
Atlantic cable reached its Canadian terminus on the 5th of
August, and a message was flashed to the President of the
United States, James Buchanan, from Her Majesty Queen
Victoria, the world was astounded. Then a hopeless period
of anxiety; a cable breakage occurred; but the spirit of
determination was in no degree impaired. The mammoth
Great Eastern steamship was chartered, beginning work in
1865; again the cable severed and on the 22nd of July,
1866, the Great Easiern resumed the task and landed the
cable at Newfoundland on the 10th of August. After that,
cable communication increased, lines multiplied, until not
many vears ago it was announced that twelve cables had
been laid across the North Atlantic ocean, between Europe
and America. Next, Canada was in communication with
Bermuda; all the fishing on the Gulf of St. Lawrence and
Bay of Fundy, over a score of cables bringing far distant
river points into communication with the mainland. Today,
a telephone cable across the Inlet to Vancouver, has been
in operation for 25 vears. To those who love their country
and ardently pray for its development and further expan-
sion, the chronicles of cable progress should be more than
satisfactory.

CIVIL WAR IN THE UNITED STATES
CANADA AN ASYLUM FOR REFUGEES

War between North and South was declared. From the
autumn of 1861, in fact, to 1865, London, Upper Canada,
possessed many attractions forsouthernrefugees;thepopula-
tion did not exceed 12,000; a majority of newcomers from
the South were well advanced in years and found at this
point a very enjovable and restful environment. Those
fearing kidnapping sojourned farther east. The local hotels:
Tecumseh (built in 1854), and Strongs Hotel, attracted
many guests, but scores sojourned at Colonel Stephenson'’s
Hotel, St. Catharines (he was the uncle of Rufus Stephen-
son, of Chatham, editor of the Planet, and afterwards M.P.
for Kent). Others tarried at Henry Hogan’s, St. Lawrence
Hall, Montreal, and the Queens, Toronto. Another element
composed “‘Crimpers” and ‘“‘Substitutes;”’ the former some-
whatafter the orderof the “‘press-gangs’ of sailor days. Young
men were rendered helpless or reckless through spirituous
liquors, inveigled across the border, at Windsor, Lake
Erie or eastern points, and induced or forced to enter the
American Army. This process for swelling ‘“‘horse, foot and
artillery”’ was not confined to any one section of Canada;
men from Quebec, Nova Scotia and New Brunswick, finding
no difhculty crossing. Of course, the ‘“‘crimper” was liable
to punishment if caught, but proof was not always forth-
coming. The ‘‘substitute’’ agent offered tempting bait; at
that time, rich young men or young men with rich relatives,
when drafted into the army, could cancel the obligation by
sending a representative to the drafting station—an active
branch of the service. Many a heart was broken, consequent
upon the disappearance of an only son; a deserted wife
solaced by a salving remittance of $1,000 and a husband’s
fond farewell, for the time being. In scores of such cases
the substitute was out of employment and out of funds,
thus replenishing the family exchequer. During those days,
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it was said that a son of the Hon. Joseph Howe, had been
induced to enlist in the Northern Army. This was verified
by Mr. Howe in July, 1865, during the great speech he
delivered at the International Commercial Convention in
Detroit, favouring rencwal of the Reciprocity Treaty. He

said:—
“One of my sons fought in the Army in the North and no reward

from Reciprocity could compensate his parents for their hours of
anxiety: but they were rewarded by his certificate of faithfulness and

bravery.”
It will be remembered that Mr. Howe opposed entrance

of Nova Scotia into confederation. He joined Sir John
Macdonald’s Government and in 1873 became Lieut.-
Governor of his Province. Howe was one of the Dominion’s
great men. He was born in 1804 and died on June 1st, 1873,

The Trent affair was by no means forgotten; military
ardour impelled thousands of Canadians to drill, competent
veterans perfecting them in the grim tactics of war. Besides
this, batteries of artillers and regiments of infantry had
arrived from military headquarters in England; chartered
transports from British ports conveying troops to Quebec,
Kingston, Toronto, Guelph, London, Hamilton, St. John,
Niagara, Port of Colborne, Dunnville, Dalhousie and St.
Catharines. London was especially favoured by the presence
of Major Penn’s Grey Battery, Col. Carter's 63rd Regiment,
Military Train, Rifle Brigade, Roval Engineers and other
forces.

TRENT, SAN JACINTO AND ALABAMA
ENTANGLEMENT

DEATH OF THE PRINCE CONSORT

In November, 1861, Captain Wilkes, of the war steamer
San Jacinto, fired a shot across the bows of the British mail
steamer Trent, as she was approaching the Bahama Channel,
sending out boats manned by marines, heavily armed;
these boarded the Trent. Two passengers were aboard,
Mason, of Virginia, and John Slidell, of Louisiana, Com-
missioners for the Southern Confederacy, en route to
England. This outrage was intensified by an enthusiastic
reception accorded Captain Wilkes upon his return to the
Northern States. According to Articles of War, the action
of Wilkes constituted piracy; consequently, when the Trent
arrived in England, after due investigation, the British
Government demanded immediate liberation of the South-
ern envoys, intimating that any delay would be considered
a declaration of war. A crisis had been reached. for the North
was already hard pressed, and invasion by a foreign force
might turn the scale. Happily, Charles Francis Adams was
American Envoy to Great Britain. British troops were
hurriedly mobilized and soon cleaving Atlantic waves. Arriv-
ing at St. John, New Brunswick, Guards and Rifles were
relieved upon hearing that President Lincoln had ordered
the immediate release of the Commissioners, who would sail
for England within a few weeks. Naturallv, Lord Lyvons,
British Minister at Washington, was directed by Lord John
Russell to take active steps tending to redress the wrong.
It appeared in evidence that Wilkes had far exceeded any
right hitherto acknowledged; he had demanded that the
commander of the T'rent should board the San Jacinto,
but that officer having refused, it was not insisted upon.
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The British Government flatly declared that ‘‘certain in-
dividuals had been forcibly taken from on board a British
vessel, the ship of a neutral power, while such vessel was
pursuing a lawful and innocent voyage—an act of violence
which was an affront to the British flag and a violation of
International law. . . . the Government of the United
States must be fully aware that the British Government
could not tolerate such an affront to its national honour,
nor allow to pass without demanding full reparation.”
Acting upon President Lincoln’s edict, Mr. Seward ordered
that the two envoys and their two assistants should be
returned to the protection of the British flag. During this
unpleasant San Jacinto episode, some legal controversialists
discovered through the archives of the war department,
that Great Britain was responsible for a parallel case
occurring in 1807. Some British men-of-war were anchored
in Chesapeake Bay, when several bluejackets deserted,
enlisting on board the United States frigate Chesapeake.
At that time their escape was effected, but a month or two
afterwards, the deserters paraded the streets of Norfolk,
Virginia, under the colours of the American flag, escorted
by a recruiting officer. The British consul having been
informed by British officers that the men were deserters
from the Chesapeake, at once demanded their surrender.
This official requisition was contemptuously refuted. The
next day Admiral Berkeley dispatched a boat from the
British flagship, with orders to board every warship in
port, delivering a sealed despatch. Further instructions to
the various officers in command of the British vessels were
that so soon as thev were without the limits of United
States waters, the Chesapeake should be searched and
deserters recaptured; the same rule to apply should any
American warship demand the right to search British
vessels. His Majesty's ship Leopard encountered the
Chesapeake. Captain Humphrey hailed the Chesapeake,
expressing a hope that he would be permitted to present
Admiral Berkeley’s letter; an officer from the Leopard went
aboard; but his mission was unsuccessful. Captain Hum-
phrev again hailed the Chesapeake:—'‘Commodore Barren

JOHN SLIDELL

57

CAPT. (ADMIRAL) WILKES

must be aware that the order of the British Commander-
in-Chief, must be obeyed.” The reply was, I do not
understand vou.”' The next courtesy, firing of a shot across
the Chesapeake's bows. Finally a broadside thundered from
the portholes of the Leopard, and when Commodore Barren
hailed that he would send a man aboard, the answer was—
further broadsides. Barren struck his colours and British
forces boarded the Chesapeake. In this horrible orgie a
number of marines belonging to the crew of the Chesapeake
had been ruthlessly killed and a score wounded. Commodore
Barren being one of the sufferers, the latter notified Captain
Humphrey that he surrendered the Chesapeake as a prize
of war and was ready to deliver her. On the other hand,
Humphrey rejoined that he had executed his orders, had
obtained the deserters and was joining the squadron. It is
not to be wondered at that the people of the United States
denounced the British action in unmeasured terms; every
State of the Union stood aghast. President Harrison imme-
diately issued a proclamation requiring “‘all armed vessels
bearing commissions under the Government of Great
Britain, then within the harbours of the United States, to
depart therefrom,”—"interdicting the entrance of any
British ship, armed or mercantile, into American ports or
waters.” This tragedy was not to end there. The act of the
Leopard was repudiated by the British Government.
Humphrey was recalled and Berkeley suspended; the seed
had been sown, the harvest had yet to be reaped. The
San Jacinto was at fault and war was threatened by Great
Britain. In 1861, in the case of the San Jacinto, President
Lincoln unhesitatingly ruled:—“This is the very thing the
British captains used to do. They claimed the right of
searching American ships and carrying men out of them.
That was the cause of the war of 1812. Now, we cannot
abandon our principles. We shall have to give these men
up and apologize for what we have done.”” Abraham Lincoln
was right; this episode is mentioned simply because one
hot-headed act upon the part of a British Admiral was the
main factor productive of increased hatred of Canada; not
that alone, but as a reminder of the cost in life and money



to Canada. This ill-considered proceeding was partially
responsible for many future annoyances.

During these depressing vears the Prince Consort, Albert
died, December 14th, 1861, leaving Her Majesty Queen
Victoria prostrate and disconsolate under so sudden a
bereavement. Since those sad days, her diary and letters
have been published. The Prince Consort passed shortly
after the Mason and Slidell affair. Queen Victoria wrote,
just subsequent to her husband’s demise:—

“I have been unable to write my Journal since the day my beloved
one left us and with what a heavy broken heart I enter on a new
year without him. My dreadful, and overwhelming calamity gives
me so much to do that I must henceforth merely keep notes of my
sad and solitary life. This day last year found us perfectly happy,
and now. Last year music woke us; little gifts, new year’s wishes,
brought in by maid and then given to dearest Albert, the children
waiting with their gifts in the next room—all these recollections
were pouring in on my mind in an overwhelming manner. Alice slept
in my room, and dear baby came down early. Felt as if living in a
dreadful dream. Dear Alice much affected when she got up and
kissed me. Arthur gave me a nosegay, and the girls’ drawings done
by them for their dear father and me.”

Notwithstanding what indeed proved a life-long calamity,
the Queen bore her extreme misfortune with heroic fortitude,
attending to affairs of State with more than ordinary
devotion. The settlement of what for a time presaged serious
trouble between Great Britain and the United States, thus
involving British America, Her Majesty not unnaturallv
attributed to the farseeing advice of the dead Prince
Consort. The summary submitted to the Queen by Viscount
Palmerston is of historic value, being official :—

“Viscount Palmerston presents his humble duty to your Majesty,
and begs to state that the Cabinet, at its meeting this afternoon,
had read to it Mr. Seward’s long note announcing the determination
of the Federal Government to release Messrs. Slidell and Mason;
and the Cabinet considered what answer it would be proper to give.
There are in that long answer many doctrines of international law
laid down, which your Majesty's Government could not agree to,
and it was thought best to refer those parts of the note to your
Majesty's Law Officers for their suggestions as to the answer to be
given.

“But in the meantime Lord Russell will prepare a despatch to
Lord Lyons, accepting the release of the prisoners and the declaration
in Mr. Seward’s note that Captain Wilkes acted without any orders
or authority. as a full satisfaction of the demands of the British
Government; but he will add that there are many doctrines laid down
in Mr. Seward’s note, to which your Majesty's Government cannot
consent, but upon which observations will by another occasion be
sent. Lord Russell will at the same time express a confident expect-
ation that the persons taken out of the Eugenia will be released upon
the same principle upon which the release of Messrs. Mason and
Slidell has been granted. Viscount Palmerston would beg to submit
to your Majesty that Lord Lyons has conducted the very difficult
and important negotiations in which he has been engaged, with
great ability and judgment, and that the successful issue to which
it has arrived has been in a large measure due to the great discretion
which he has shown in its management and Viscount Palmerston
would submit for your Majesty's gracious consideration whether it
might not be well that your Majesty should mark your approval of
his conduct by promoting him to be a Knight Grand Cross of the
Civil Order of the Bath.”

The Queen, through her official secretary, General Grey,
formally acknowledged Viscount Palmerston’s communi-
cation:—

“The Queen being much fatigued with many affairs of a private
nature and being so weak and exhausted from her utter misery and
desolation, makes use of General Grey’s pen.

“She cannot but look on this peaceful issuc of the American
quarrel as much owing to her beloved Prince, who wrote the obser-
vations upon the draft to Lord Lyons, which Lord Palmerston so
entirely concurred in. It was the last thing he ever wrote.”

The stricken sovereign's reference to her domestic tribu-
lations, coupled with the reaffirmation of her Consort's
services to the country, were a reflex of the sentiments of
millions of subjects throughout the Empire.

Another occurrence following the Trent affair, was that
of the Alabama. Memory revives those dark davs, and it is
well that a new generation should become conversant with
details. At that time, the semi-neutrality of a respectable
body of Englishmen was the reverse of neutral; the Lan-
cashire operatives would suffer from a cotton famine and
in the minds of many there existed a hope that the great
nation now in a death struggle would be forced to agree to
separation from the South. The Trent affair had engendered
bitterness and antagonism towards Canada; thousands of
Southern refugees were finding hospitality here; the reci-
procity treaty then existing, was vielding advantageous
profits to Canada, and trade interrupted and intercourse
restrained, would beyond cavil, prove gravely prejudicial.
At that period, another serious crisis threatened further
complications. It was discovered that a craft was being
built by the great firm of Laird, at Birkenhead. England;
the vessel, of course, had not been baptised. nor vet a
registry name announced—just ‘“290.”" Mr. Adams repre-
sented the United States in Great Britain, and at once
called the attention of Lord John Russell to the craft
under construction; that dignitary, a statesman possessed
great talents, hampered by many irascible trairs. All Mr.
Adams asked was, that the new ship building at Birkenhead
be inquired into and that the government on being *‘satisfied
that it was to be employed as a southern cruiser. should
prevent her departure.” Lord John Russell quibbled; the
American envoy again represented that all he asked was
an investigation, and action only in case the *290" came
under the Foreign Enlistment Act. Then followed, what
Lord John Russell thoroughly enjoved—correspondence;
naturally delay, and one fine afternoon he consulted the
Lord High Advocate; that gentleman was ill, but finally
on July 31st, a mandate was issued by the British Govern-
ment to “seize the vessel.” Simultaneously, “290" sailed
from England, Captain Semmes appeared on deck. having
arrived at Terceira (a western island), 24th of August,
arrayed in a Confederate uniform and christened 290"
The Alabama. The Alabama was instrumental in destroving
over $4,500,000 in property within the holds of =mall craft
and capturing over sixty vessels of more or less (principally
less) value. In the summer of 1864 he was forced to fight
the Reersarge off the coast of France—a boat iron clad
amidships, well armed and a much superior crew. An hour
decided the duel; the Alabama went down, its crew were
rescued by the Keersarge and Captain Semmes and some
of the officers were picked up by the Deerhound, an English
yacht. When the bill was forwarded to the treasury depart-
ment, a little in excess of $15,000,000, voluminous corre-
spondence followed; eminent counsel were averse to pav-
ment; but finally, the whole question was referred te arbitra-
tion. By the Treaty of Washington in 1871, it was decided
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to refer the whole to a commission to meet at Geneva,
Switzerland. An award of 815,000,000 was registered against
Great Britain. How much was paid to sufferers in the form
of ‘‘reparation,” the deponent saveth not. This did not
include a long list of titled gentlemen and other capitalists
in Great Britain, who invested in Confederate bonds.

CANADA AND SLAVERY
A PEEP BEHIND OLD-DaY CURTAINS

No doubt Canada’s sympathies gravitated towards the
Southern slave, despite the fact that slavery had existed
within the bounds of Canada for a lengthened period; but
neither to the extent nor under the @gis of Imperial sanction.
Mr. Frederick Landon, M.A., of London, Ontario, has com-
piled many interesting particulars upon the subject of
Slavery, and Canada as the refuge for thousands who
escaped, by what was for many years termed the “Under-
ground Railway.” Professtor W. H. Siebert’s very informa-
tive volume upon this question; Drew’s “ North Side View
of Slavery,” Mitchell's “Underground Railwayv,” North-
rup’s ‘“Slavery in New York,” Howe's ‘‘Refugees from
Slavery in Canada West,” have been carefully studied by
Mr. Landon, including opinions expressed by Canadian
newspapers of the fifties. Canada had known slavery at an
earlier date, but had long since cleared herself of the blot.
The French introduced slavery into Canada in an effort to
meet the ever-prevalent shortage of labour. It existed all
through the old régime and was not changed by the passing
of the country into the hands of the English. Indeed it was
not until the beginning of the nineteenth century that
slavery disappeared, though at no time and in no locality
was it ever existent on a large scale. The early disappear-
ance of slavery in Canada, had the effect of creating an
anti-slavery sentiment. A Fugitive Slave Law made freedom
impossible, even in Boston. There was danger for the
fugitive after 1850, except in Canada. From 1850 to 1860,
therefore, the negro immigration that had been a trickling
stream ever since the war of 1812, became a torrent;
thousands of coloured people crossed the border every vear.
Prof. Siebert has charted the main routes by which the
fugitives made their way to Canada and his map shows
most clearly the important influence which free British
provinces exerted upon slavery through their geographical
location. Along the northern boundaries of the states of
New York and Pennsylvania, there were ten main points
from which the runaways crossed into Canada, the more
important of these being on the Niagara frontier. On Lake
Erie and the Detroit River there were eight sources whence
entrv could be made into Canada, the Detroit River, of
course, taking first place. At Fort Malden (Amherstburg)
as many as thirty a day entered in the period after 1850.
On Lake Erie proper, a considerable number seem to have
come in by Kettle Creek (Port Stanlev), thence making
their way to London or Ingersoll.

Canada’s sincerity proclaimed to the people of the United
States that slavery would never add to the welfare of the
black race, as the south claimed. Canada also showed that,
though brutalized by slavery the best instincts of the Negro
race were reasserted in freedom, degraded bondsman de-

59

veloping morality and intelligence. In short, (anada stead-
ily gave the lie to the plea that slavery was the state be':st
suited to the Negro, and the one best calculated to raise him
intellectually and morally.

The Anti-Slavery Society of Canada was organized in
Toronto and continued active until the Emancipation
Proclamation had been made effective and the United
States had itself removed the blot from its fair name. The
objects of the Anti-Slavery Society of Canada were declared
to be “to aid in the extinction of slavery all over the world
by means exclusively lawful and peaceable, moral and
religious.” Rev. Dr. Willis, principal of Knox College,
Toronto, was president of the Society all through its
history; among others who associated themselves with its
work were George Brown, the editor of the Globe, and Oliver
Mowat, afterwards Premier of Ontario. From Toronto the
work of the Society spread to leading centres of negro
population, branches being formed and a steady campaign
prosecuted. The Globe, under Mr. Brown, proved a stout
ally. Working relations were entered into with the anti-
slavery societies in Great Britain and the United States, a
large amount of relief work being looked after by the
Women's Auxiliaries. Though the churches generally, with
the exception of the Presbyterians, held somewhat aloof
from the work of the Society, recruits in plenty were drawn
from the clergy. A Presbyterian clergyman was president
of the Society all through its history; the first secretary was
a Methodist minister; and on the committees, appointed
from vear to vear, there was alwayvs to be found a good
representation of the clergy.

The anti-slaverv movement had about it an atmosphere
of crusade, that give it a spiritual power with many people.
Nor must it be overlooked that to some Canadians of the
time, there was pleasure in striking a blow at the institution
that seemed to be the chief power at Washington. Not that
the average Canadian loved the northerner or despised the
southern slaver. The opposite would be nearer the truth;
but, when the north permitted its laws to be used to arrest
runaways in the streets of northern cities, dragging them
back to slavery, the Canadian of the time was not far out
when he associated the north with south, in the guilt of
slavery. That belief was nurtured by the constant attempts
at compromise, and it was not until towards the end of the
fifties that there was a clear understanding in Canada as to
where sympathies should lie. To Thomas 1) Arev McGee is
due in part the credit for a candid declaration of his opinion
in this respect. He saw and described the southern Con-
federacy as a "‘pagan oligarchy’ and strongly championed
the cause of the north; on the other hand Canadian svm-
pathies were divided.

Mr. Landon, commenting upon general results, expresses
doubt that either side, north or south, made converts to its
own particular views. Indeed, in 1860, the South had
reached the point where denunciation of slavery ceased,
when no further efforts were being made to ameliorate the
slave’s condition, when justification of slavery had become
praise of the system, and to speak ill of the institution was
regarded as treason. Naturally, the South desired to see
the area of slave territory increased and never ceased its
demands for expansion; but as individuals, the slave-



holders were more powerfully affected by two other con-
siderations; both related to their property, namely, the
constant fear that the slaves would rise up and murder
them, and the constant loss suffered by the slaves being
spirited away. Some hold that the Civil War began when
the first negro slave was abducted, and every loss added to
the steadily growing division in the country. The climax
came when the people of the North rebelled against being
made slave catchers by a Fugitive Slave Law, and instead
gave assistance, as never before, to aiding the slaves to gain
their liberty. There was veiled war between North and
South for vears before the first gun was fired at Sumter, in
that conflict Canada had become an ally of the free states.
With the opening of the Civil War, the Canadian Govern-
ment assumed an attitude of neutrality; but of her citizens,
at least 35,000 joined the Northern armies and played their
part in war, as they had already played it in peace, many to
effect freedom for the Negro race.

HISTORIC REGIMENT
ORGANIZATION OF THE 100TH REGIMENT

The Crimean War (1854), followed by the Sepoy re-
bellion (1857) and the Civil War in the United States (1861),
naturally awakened a belligerent spirit in British North
America. For a time the Imperial authorities hesitated, but
ultimately consented to the organization of the Prince of
Wales' 100th Royal Canadian Regiment, hailed as a
patriotic event in military annals on both sides of the
Atlantic.

On the 3rd of March, 1858, authority was given to raise
an additional regiment for the Queen’s service in Canada.
The corps was promptly recruited and entered upon the
rolls of the British army as the “100th or Prince of Wales’
Royal Canadian Regiment;” subsequently, 1st of July,
1881, on the institution of the Territorial system in the
British army, the regiment was merged with the old 109th
Regiment, forming two regular battalions of ‘“The Leinster
Regiment.”” At the earnest solicitation of the then officers
of the Regiment, the title of ““Royal Canadians’ was re-
tained. A memorial, presented to His Royal Highness The
Prince of Wales, in 1896, petitioned that the original title
and designation be restored to the corps and that the former
distinctive emblems, the beaver and the maple leaf, em-
blazoned on the regimental colours; also a recruiting depot
for the corps established in Canada.

The Indian Mutiny was the direct cause of its organiza-
tion. During the Crimean \War, hundreds of Canadians
offered their services to the British Government, but had
not been required. As the mutiny in India developed, it was
deemed advisable to accept a regiment from Canada, and
a proclamation was issued authorizing the enrolment of the
100th. Recruiting at once began in all the chief centres of
Upper Canada and Quebec. Before the end of June, the
last draft of men to complete the establishment of twelve
companies of one hundred men each, was on the way to
England. The regiment went through a course of discipline
at Quebec, but was not regularly organized until the last
three drafts reached Shorncliffe Camp, where it remained
for several months. Lieut.-Col. John Fletcher, C.M.G., a

veteran ex-member of the Regiment, reviewing events con-
nected with this Regiment, emphatically declared (1896)
that the stories which had been circulated to the effect that
it was impossible to recruit the required number of men in
Canada, and that the officers had to recruit men in Liver-
pool to fill the ranks, were entirely false. As a matter of
fact, he added, “‘the Regiment reached England consider-
ably over strength. Lieut.-Colonel Baron de Rottenberg,
an old army officer, then doing service as Adjutant-General
of the Militia of Lower Canada, was appointed to the
command of the new regiment.”” The appointment of a
senior Major was left until the arrival of the Regiment in
England, while the junior majority was conferred upon
Lieutenant Dunn. V.C., then retired from the Army and
living in Toronto. He had won his commission and the
Victoria Cross for gallantry at the famous Charge of the
Light Brigade.

Major Dunn, in order to qualify for his commission in
the 100th, had to raise two hundred men for the Regiment.
Six captaincies were conferred upon Canadians providing
they recruited eighty men each, and six Lieutenants, com-
missions were offered to Canadians recruiting forty men
each. Four ensigns commissions were also awarded in
Canada to those passing the necessary examinations, and
the captains and lieutenants had to pass strict examinations
besides recruiting the requisite number of men. The other
commissions in the regiment were distributed among
officers transferred from existing regiments in the army,
most of them on promotion for service during the Crimean
War. The Canadian captains were T. Clarke, of Toronto;
John Clarke, of Montreal; Bruce, of London; McCartney,
of Hamilton; Smythe, of Brockville; and Price, of Quebec.
The lieutenants who left Canada with the regiment were:
Fletcher, DeBellefeuille, Casault, Duchesnay, Wallis and
Carrier. The latter gentleman was afterwards connected
with the Ottawa Citizen as financial manager. Shortly after
the regiment reached Shorncliffe, various officers were
gazetted to the 100th. To be captains without purchase:
Captain and Brevet Major, T. M. Weguelin, 56th Foot;
Captain R. B. Ingram, 97th Foot; Captain P. G. B. Lake,
2nd W. L. Regiment; Lieutenant Henry Cook, 32nd Foot;
Lieutenant James Clery, 32nd Foot; Lieutenant H. G.
Browne, 32nd Foot. To be lieutenants: Lieutenant G. B.
Coulson, 49th Foot; Lieutenant J. Lee, 17th Foot; Lieuten-
ant J. Lambe, 50th Foot; Lieutenant F. W. Benwell, 33rd
Foot; Lieutenant H. L. Nicholls, 39th Foot; Lieutenant J.
Dooley, 17th Foot; Lieutenant R. L. Bayliff, 33rd Foot.

When the regiment was enrolled the men were served
with old-fashioned uniforms, including the queer “coatee,”
from stores which had been in Canada since the War of
1812, and it was not until the regiment had been disciplined
into something like shape at Shorncliffe, that the regula-
tion uniforms, including tunics and shakos, were served
out. Shortly afterwards, it was inspected by His Royal
Highness The Duke of Cambridge, who several times
halted during his inspection of the ranks to express to his
staff his admiration of the physique of the men. “Splendid
fel.lows,” Lieutenant (afterwards Colonel) Fletcher heard
His Royal Highness say twice, as he passed down the front
rank of his company. But the great day of all for the 100th
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was Monday, January 10th, 1859, when the Regiment re-
ceived at the hands of the Prince of Wales, its first stand of
colours, the ceremony of presentation being the first official
act of High Royal Highness’ life. The event took place at
Shorncliffe, the parade including besides the 100th, a
squadron of the 11th Hussars, four batteries of the Royal
Artillery, a battalion of the Military Train, the 11th Foot
and the City of Dublin Militia. After the presentation, His
Royal Highness (afterwards King Edward VII) who in
the uniform of a Colonel, addressed the 100th from the
saddle as follows:—

“It is most gratifying to me that, by the Queen's gracious per-
mission, my first public act since I have had the honour of holding a
commission in the British army should be the presentation of colours
to a Regiment which is the spontaneous offering of the loyal and
spirited Canadian people, and with which, at their desire, my name
has been specially associated. The ceremonial in which we are now
engaged possesses a peculiar significance and solemnity, because, in
confiding to you for the first time this emblem of military fidelity
and valour, I not only recognize emphatically your enrolment into
our national forces, but celebrate an act which proclaims and strength-
ens the unity of the various parts of this vast Empire, under the sway
of our common Sovereign. Although, owing to my youth and inex-
perience, I can but very imperfectly give expression to the senti-
ments which this occasion is calculated to awaken with reference to
ourselves and to the great and flourishing Province of Canada, you
may rest assured that I shall ever watch the progress and achieve-
ments of your gallant corps with deep interest, and that I heartily
wish you all honour and success in the prosecution of the noble
career on which you have entered.”

Colonel de Rottenburg, in the course of his reply said:—

“I assure Your Royal Highness that we are deeply grateful for
this act on your part. The great Colony in which this Regiment was
raised, amongst whose ranks hundreds of its sons are serving, will
also feel most grateful for the honour which the first regiment raised
in a colony has received from Your Royal Highness, and I can assure
your Royal Highness that, at the call of our Sovereign, Canada
would send ten such regiments as this one in defence of her Empire
should such an emergency ever arise to require their services.”
These colours were placed in the Library of the House of

Commons, at Ottawa, where they were deposited with
military honours at the close of the Parliamentary session
of 1888. That this ceremony and the raising of the 100th
made a great impression upon the public mind in England
at the time was evident. The London M orning Herald, on
January 14, 1859, said editorially :—

“How gratifying must it be to those who look to the final glory
of the Empire that the son of our Queen should have made so charac-
teristic and so grand an introduction to his profession as that of
presenting colours to a regiment voluntarily raised in that territory

; of the setting sun where we all have so many associations that bring
back thoughts of love and honour. Canada was, as Oliver said of
Dunkirk, the spoil of our bow and spear. From its first origin until
the day on which the Prince of Wales described it as a province and
not a colony, we have all looked to Canada as the mainstay to British
dominion in the Western world. Perhaps there are not in any other
of all the colonies of England as many valued friends as Her Majesty’s
subjects can boast to have in Canada. Like the ancient colonists of
Ireland, the British-Canadians have held their kingdom in the teeth
of general rebellion and, perhaps, may have been but sadly recom-
pensed: but, still, there is no doubt that of all the distant settlements
which the English have created, Canada stood and stands nearest
to the national heart: and, if we believed in Roman augury, we
should predicate from the presentation of colours to the 100th a
long career of honour to the Prince of Wales. We do not triumph
as against any other American country that Canada has shown this
great testimony of her faith in the stabilitv of Rritish connection,
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- but we hail as another mark of the honours achieved in Her Majesty's
reign that the first colours delivered to a regiment volunteered from
a distant colony have been delivered by our Sovereign’'s eldest son.
We cannot but give exceeding weight to the circumstance that such a
contingent as is now at Shorncliffe has been contributed by our great
Province in America and takes its name from the oldest son of our

beloved Queen.”

The regiment served in Gibraltar, Malta, Canada, India
and Ireland. The regimental orders of November 7th, 1860,
bore the copy of a communication from the Major-General
commanding the Infantry Brigade at Gibraltar. The
General expressed his satisfaction at the clean and soldier-
like appearance of the 100th, and at its steadiness at drill.
The order was signed by Fred. Middleton, A.D.C., then
a Major, but who subsequently commanded the Canadian
troops during the North-West Rebellion of 1885. While
at the Rock the Royal Canadians came off conquerors
successively in shooting, foot racing, boxing, drilling, cricket-
ing, acting and rowing. For three vears after the 100th was
raised, it was recruited from Canada, a depot being estab-
lished at Toronto, of which Lieutenant Fletcher was for
some time in charge. The depot was abandoned on account
of the expense, and in 1861 Lieutenant Fletcher and Lieuten-
ant de Bellefeuille left the Regiment to take up appoint-
ments on the staff of the Canadian Militia; Lieutenant-
Colonel Fletcher subsequently winning the C.M.G. for
services on the frontier, where he was in command during
the Fenian Raids.

The 100th returned to Canada at the time of the Trent
excitement in 1861, and quartered in Montreal for some
time. Before it left again, their being a prospect of a long
peace, many of the original members of the regiment took
their discharge from it. While quartered in Montreal,
serious internal trouble occurred in the regiment, and
Major B. Van Straubenzie was detached from the 8th Foot,
to take over the command from Colonel Cook, and re-
organize the regiment, which he successfully did. The
Major subsequently accepted a staff appointment in the
Canadian Militia, and soon became a familiar figure in
Canadian military circles. In 1898 agitation for the restora-
tion of the 100th to Canada had its origin in an article in
the Canadian Jilitary Gazette. In this the opinion was
expressed that “the Dominion should be willing to devote
more of her sons, as well as of her means, towards the
armed forces of the Crown. There are plenty of lads and
young men in our cities and towns who will not engage in
farming, and for whom the army and navy offer equal
inducements with the other paths of life open to them."

The 100th was during the late war (1914-1918) re-
organized and gazetted as ‘“The 100th Foot Leinster
Regiment.” This was disbanded on July 31, 1922, by Royal
Warrant, and, while it still appears in the Army list, there
is now no regiment known by this name.

In closing this too brief story of the 100th Regiment, it
were inexcusable to omit reference to one who by his
bravery made the name of Canada known throughout the
civilized world—Colonel A. R. Dunn, of Toronto.

Lieutenant (afterwards Colonel) Alexander Robert Dunn
was born in Toronto in 1833; a son of the Hon. John Henrv
Dunn, Receiver-General for Upper Canada. The hero's
mother, Mrs. Dunn, was described in the social chronicles



of that day a popular and lovable woman, and spoken of
by the chronicler, Mr. Scadding, as ‘“‘one of the graceful lady
chiefs in the high life of York in the olden time."” Lieut.
Dunn entered the Imperial service early, sharing in the
magnificent charge of the Light Brigade at Balaclava,
gaining the Victoria Cross. He was then scarcely 23 years
of age; was 6 feet 2 inches in stature, a remarkable athlete
and swordsman. His comrades of the 11th Hussars loved to
dwell upon the prodigies of valour performed by him during
this awful melée; single handed he encountered the Russian
Hussars, two at a time, cutting them down and rescuing
many comrades. Sergt. Bentley, Sergt. Bond and Private
Levett owed their lives to him. He was the only cavalryman
who received the Victoria (‘ross, unanimously awarded by
his comrades, when called upon to decide who was most
worthy of it. Poor Dunn afterwards did much towards the
formation of the Hundredth Regiment, known as the Prince
of Wales’ Royal Canadian Regiment, in 1857-38. Dunn,
assisted by General James Henry Craig Robertson was
gazetted Major and subsequently succeeded Baron de
Rottenburg in command, as Lieutenant-Colonel, being
gazetted Colonel in 1864. The dull monotony of barracks
had no active attractions, and at his request he was trans-
ferred to India, meeting General Napier, afterwards Lord
Napier of Magdala. He was with that soldier in the Abys-
sinian expedition against King Theodore. On the 25th of
January, 1868, he breakfasted with a brother officer and
started out towards Senafe on a deer hunting expedition.
His comrade found him shortly afterwards drooping over
an exploded rifle, the contents having entered his body.
This great Canadian and splendid soldier of the Empire
was buried afar in Abyssinia, a stone being erected bearing
the inscription: "'In memory of A. R. Dunn, V.C., Colonel
33rd Regiment, who died at Senafe on the 25th of January
1868. Aged 34 vears and 7 months.”

CANADA'S MARKSMEN
THE STORY OF WIMBLEDON

In those days it was
customary for Canadians
to look to Great Britain
as exemplifying the best
of everything; naturally,
the splendid achieve-
ments of her soldiery
commanded the admira-
tion of embryo defenders
of the Empire in this
portion of the world, for
the Dominion has since
produced many marks-
men who distinguished
themselves on the rifle
ranges of the Mother
Country. It may, there-
fore, gratify even the
casual reader, to become
conversantwith theearly
effortsof Canadianswhen
endeavouring to perfect volunteersin use of therifle. Canada’s
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LT.-COL. SKINNER

citizen soldiery, since the days of the T7rent affair and long
before that, had proved themselves possessed of fighting
fibre, equal, sometimes superior, to that of any nation in the
world.

The late Sir Casimer Gzowski, of Toronto, was what
could reasonably be designated ‘‘thorough™ in anything
he undertook, and especially proud of the record made in
after years by some of the members of the Ontario Rifle
Association. The work eventually accomplished by him was
not confined to the Province of Ontario, but radiated
throughout the Dominion. He lived to see the marksmen
of Manitoba and British Columbia, as well as the Eastern
Provinces, distinguish themselves on the other side of
the Atlantic. The heat and burthen first rested upon
Ontario’s rifiemen, and when in 1871, Lieutenant-Colonel
J. A. Skinner (father of the late Mr. R. Skinner, of Van-
couver), of the county of Oxford, was selected to organize
and command the first team of volunteer marksmen, to
represent the Province of Ontario, at the National Rifle
Association, at Wimbledon, England, assumed responsi-
bility for collecting funds necessary for carrying out the
undertaking. No more capable, loyal and trustworthy
officer could have been chosen. That gentleman experi-
enced many drawbacks; few there were at that period, who
could afford to leave business for two months, to take part
in the first contest in which Colonial subjects were to
participate. A team of twenty was decided upon eventually;
each officer commanding a volunteer corps in the Province,
having been notified, the necessary quota was secured. The
Provincial Legislature (Ontario), together with city and
town councils, responding to the call for pecuniary aid,
the sum of about $8,000 was contributed. Lieutenant-
Colonel Skinner visited fully sixty-eight centres, people and
press extending earnest sympathy and support.

The best marksmen were personally appealed to; it was
arranged that passage from Canada to Wimbledon should
be provided, as well as subsistence, and any prizes won
should be proportionately distributed. Colonel Moffatt, of
London, Ontario; Colonel Gillmor, of Toronto; Major
Phillips, of Kingston; and Colonel Forrest, at Ottawa,
undertook the superintendence of preliminary trial matches.
One hundred and thirty-seven marksmen put in an appear-
ance at these matches, forty-seven out of that number
being selected for efficiency trials. The final competition
match took place at Hamilton, on the 7th of May, 1871,
thirty-three attending, these subject to further test during
three days. under Colonel Skinner’s personal supervision.
Leave of absence for three months was granted to the follow-
ing officers: Lieut.-Colonel J. Skinner, 13th Battalion,
Hamilton; Capt. W. H. Cotton, No. 2 Battery, Ottawa
Brigade, Garrison Artillery: Lieut. A. P. Patrick, No. 3
Battery, Ottawa Brigade, Garrison Artillery: Ensign John
Burch, 2nd Battalion; Lieut. J. Little, 13th Battalion; Capt.
D. Gibson, Toronto, Garrison Artillery; Capt. A. R. McCle-
neghan, No. 6 Company, 22rd Battalion: Ensign T. Wastie,
No. 5 Company, 7th Battalion; Captain W. R. Bell, 2nd
Battalion, Rifles, Grand Trunk Railway.

Mr. C. J. Brydges, then General Manager of the Grand
Trunk Railway, extended cvery courtesy, sending free
transportation to the men selected. The marksmen chosen



were as follows: Captains Alex. McCleneghan, William R.
Bell, W. H. Cotton, Donald Gibson and F. Werner. Lieuten-
ants John Little, J. Burch and Thomas Wastie, Frederick
Sache, Sergeant G. Murison, Private D. Oronyteka, Private
E. A. Macnachton, and J. Mason, A. A. McDonald, James
Harris, W. T. Jennings, R. G. Kincade, Hugh Wilkinson,
R. Ormand (Colour-Sergeant), and T. McMullen, Sergeant.

Arriving at Montreal, the riflemen were cordially re-
ceived by Colonel Osborne Smith, officers of the volunteer
force and citizens generally. They sailed from Quebec on
the S.5. Scandinavian, 10th of June, arriving at Liverpool
on the 21st, and spent some davs for practice at Altcar,
twelve miles from Liverpool. During their sojourn in
England, nothing could exceed the kindness of Sir Peter
Tait, Captain Tait, of the "London Irish Brigade,”” Dr.
Parsons, Prince Arthur, the Crown Prince of Prussia, the
Crown Prince of Denmark, Lady Lisgar (wife of Canada’s
Governor-General), Lord Spencer, Lord Heatherby, Lord
Lindsay. Sir Hope Grant, Sir Stafford Northcote (after-
wards Lord Iddlesleigh}, and many other prominent people.
Other visitors were: Mr. D. Mclnnis, of Hamilton (after-
wards Senator); Mr. Charles Magee, of Ottawa; Colonel
Cumberland, of Toronto (Northern Railway); Mr. John
Gordon and Major Croft, of Toronto; Mr. Carruthers
(afterwards M.P.), of Kingston; and many other Canadians,
besides Lord Elcho (Elcho Shield); Lord Bury, Mr. Mont-
gomery, Alderman Beasley, John Morley, M.P.; Mr. Hope
Morley, Mr. Leaf, Mr. Cook, Mr. French, Mr. A. B.
McPherson, Mr. Buchanan, Sir John Rose, Captain
Hutchinson, Sir Randal Roberts, Doctor Rae, Mr. Phillips,
Colonel Stable, Major Bonsfield, Mr. Taylor, Mr. W. Powell
Mr. Jackson and Mr. George Gibbs, whom the chronicler
of that day states “took a most friendly interest in the
mission of the visiting Canadians.” In his report, Colonel
Skinner adds: “The big-hearted London Scottish contrib-
uted greatly to our enjoyment of camp life, and we were
much indebted to them for many of the pleasant evenings
we passed at Wimbledon.'' A banquet was also given to the
visitors by Sir Peter and [.ady Tait, at their Putney home.
Earl Ducie, president of the Council, and the Countess
Ducie. virtually threw ~“\Windmill Cottage’ open to the
(Canadians, while a splendid banquet was tendered to them
by the Merchants Guild of the City of London, Mr.
Morlev, M.P., being chairman. This was the first occasion
that a Colonial team entered the list against British Volun-
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teers, the visitors having to face twenty of the crack marks-
men belonging to the British Volunteers. Seven out of the
twenty Canadians succeeded in securing twenty-three
prizes, amounting to $473, but none succeeded in getting
into the second staff of the "Queen’s.” The competition
ended on the 21st of July and on the 22nd the Princess
Louise (wife of Canada’s Governor-General in 1879, after-
wards Duke of Argyll), presented each Canadian with a
commemorative badge. Mr. Martini presented two “‘Mar-
tini rifles;”’ and, it being found that many of the ("anadian
Rifles would not stand the Wimbledon test, new rifles were
issued to those requiring them. Before leaving, Colonel
Skinner had a special cup made, which was presented to
the Liverpool Volunteers, as a memento of the visit of the
Ontario team to Altcar, in 1871. This was the contingent
that first undertook the arduous and responsible duty of
proving to their trans-Atlantic brethern the kind of fibre
Canadians were made of. Colonel Skinner, the pioneer, was
justly rewarded by the people of South Oxford, who a few
vears afterwards (1874) elected him member of the Dominion
Parliament. When he returned to Canada, Colonel Skinner
earnestly advocated these matches being continued and
declared open to the Dominion. Hence, vear after year,
Canadians have distinguished themselves abroad and
brought back many trophies, after contests against the
hitherto invulnerable British marksmen. In 1890 Bisley was
adopted as the annual meeting place, the last meeting at
Wimbledon being in 1889. In recent years, Canadian marks-
men at Bisley have registered the following results, when
competing for the Royal Prize:—
The Queen’s Prize 1895 was won by Pte. T. H. Hayhurst, 13th
Hamilton Regiment.
The King’s Prize in 1904 was won by Pte. S. J. Perry. 6th D.C.O.R.
The King’s Prize was won in 1911 by Pte. W. ]J. Clifford. 10th
Regiment.
The King’s Prize was won in 1913 by Pte. W. A. Hawkins, 48th
Regiment.
The King's Prize was won in 1924 by Pte. D. Burke. G.G.F.G.,
Ottawa.
The King's Prize was won in 1925 by Sapper A. Smith, later R.E.
The King’s Prize was won in 1926 by Sgt. A. G. Fulton, late
Queen’s Westminster.
The King's Prize was won in 1927 by Capt. (". H. Vernon, late
R.ANDLC. (T).
The King’s Prize was won in 1928 by L.-Corp. A. C. Hale, late
King Edward’s, O.T.C.
The King's Prize was won in 1929 by Col. Blair, Vancouver.



Liberating Ireland by way of Canada

FENIAN RAIDS INEFFECTIVE

Canadians in various positions, including a majority of
parliamentary representatives, were always open in expres-
stons of sympathy towards Ireland and the advocacy of
legitimate aspirations towards broader self-government and
freedom from many irritating restrictions. Strange to say,
some Irish in the United States were never satisfied unless
striking at England in the cause of liberation.

Prior to Confederation (June, 1866), Canadians were
called to oppose the inroads of a body looked upon as
raiders, but in reality a Fenian organization devoted to
the liberation of Ireland and obsessed by the idea that
the best method of accomplishing their purpose was to
murder Canadians. A force of these stage-struck warriors
gathered at Ridgeway, not far from the Niagara boundary
(Buffalo being kept wide open to receive the flying corps
in case of unanticipated retreat). They were met by a body
of opponents from the Niagara District, Hamilton and
Toronto and on the 2nd of June, 1866, after losing all those
who ventured within rifle shot and killing a few brave
fellows from Toronto and elsewhere, made an inglorious
run on the return journev, being received with loudly
laurelled acclaim at the hands of a crowd which had, accord-
ing to the instincts of self-preservation, considered it the
acme of discretion. Their commanding authority was
General Stephens, who, doubting that Buffalo was far
enough removed from the field of operations, remained
with his chief military bodyvguard at an hotel in New York,
where, accompanied by his wife, he appeared upon the
hotel piazza and delivered speeches, while his wife posed
as an Irish priestess, crowned with wreaths of shamrock.
That was all, except that the decision was to mobilise and
come again for another Canadian reception.

THEN By WAY OF THE NORTH-WEST

The next military manoeuvre found what was left from
the Ridgeway holocaust, joining the half-breeds and a few
Indians. in 1869-70, as far as they could get from the scene
of their exploits of 1866; that in the Canadian North-Wexst
Territories. Some were drafted with the active Provisional
forces, others became war authorities in a Provisional Gov-
ernment; in fact evervthing went as well as the poetic
marriage bell until a prominent soldier, Sir Garnet Wolseley
and Canadian troops marched up from the east—then these
mighty warriors again sought safety by unprecedented
sprinting. That was all save that some good men were
deceived, a few bad men injured—but a poisonous example
left behind.

THE FixaL Ram or 1870
Still the O'Neils, the Cosgraves, the Savages and the
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Stephens, including vocal renderers of. that heart-moving
ballad which wailed about ‘‘news goin’ 'round” how the
shamrock was ‘“‘forbid by law to grow in Irish ground,”
seemed convinced that the root of the evil was a Canadian
perennial—so organized again. This was in 1870, breaking
out in both Ontario and Quebec, some said a Confederation
visit. Whatever motive mayv have impelled this sudden
explosion, it proved more serious than military authorities
had reason to credit; a nasty eruption, breaking out in two
places, threatening to doubly jeopardise the marauders,
for they were facing unanticipated resistance from men like
Colonel George and Robert Denison, Col. Lindsay, and
commanding officers East and West. On the 6th of April,
1870, the British Minister at Washington informed the
Ottawa Government of an impending Fenian raid over the
borders into Canada. Sir George Cartier was Minister of
Militia and Sir John A. Macdonald. Premier and Minister
of Justice. A rather gruesome situation in case of raiding
failure. Sir John had named Sir George My French-
Canadian twin brother.”” However, the catastrophe ‘‘mate-
rialized"—many Quebec regiments were ready; Montreal
cavalry; the 50th Huntingdon borderers; the 21st Battalion;
the Montreal Garrison Artillery and Field Battery. One
thousand men called out in the counties of Chateauguay
and Missisquoi and these were held at headquarters—the
camp strength being 6,200. Simultaneously, the militia was
called out on the Detroit River and Niagara front. the
Grand Trunk Brigade, Mount Roval and Victoria Rifles,
the Chausseurs in Montreal, the 60th Rifles (regulars),
H Battery Roval Artillerv, Gunboat Prince Alfred and
troops distributed and quartered at every strategic point.
On the 24th of May, 1870, President Ulvsses (Grant invoked
the Neutrality Act. which might have been done earlier as
it was from Washington that fears of a Fenian raid were
made known to Canada. Still there may have been red tape
obstacles. A writer, Captain John A. Macdonald. states:
“At 11 a.m., 25th of May, General O'Neil, as had been done in
great European wars, addressed his troops, telling them, ‘You are
the advance guard of the Irish American army for the liberation of

Ireland. . . . Forward . . . March . . . The eyes of your country are

upon you."”

Canadian forces occupied Eccles Hill, then more troops
from Vermont and Burlington arrived. The Canadians
opened briskly: their opponents wavered but fired several
vollevs. Private James Keenan “ventured too far” and
received a ball wound in his lez. The invaders again wavered
and General O'Neil bawled another stimulating address:—

“Men of Ireland, I am ashamed of vou. You have acted disgrace-
fully. ... I will give you another chance comrades! I will go on
with my officers and die in your front. 1 leave vou now to the com-
mand of General Bovle O'Reilly."” .



O’ Neil left, concealing himself in the Richards Hotel,
until arrested by Genera! Foster, US. Marshal, and con-
veyed to St. Alban’s, Vermont. More troops arrived at
St. Alban’s. The banks and other places were looted (leaving
damages to be asked by Canada but never paid). Mean-
while the 60th Missisquoi, under Colonel Brown Chamber-
lain, raked their opponents fore and aft. These stopped
marching and took to running, but was defeated everv-
where; not many were killed as even the Snider Enfield
rifle would not drive death-dealing cartridge far enough.
So the Grand Army of the Irish Republic melted into space,
thoroughly intimidated but with, generally speaking, un-
diminished ranks. It has been said that there would have
been a different storv had real Irishmen been at the front.
One is inclined to believe there would have been real
fighting.

It is true that a select number were found in Winnipeg
and adjacent districts assisting the half-breeds and Indians,
but their achievements in sprinting when danger threatened
had by no means deteriorated.

NORTH-WEST TROUBLES, 1883

From many points of view, the vear 1885 was interesting
in many particulars, the one solacing event being the rapidly
approaching completion of the Canadian Pacific Railway,
both east and west, and the hoped-for driving of the last
spike at Craigelachie. Early in the spring (March) rebellion,
an Indian uprising on the Canadian North-West prairies
as well as forest stretches north-west, powerfully sustained
by half-breeds, startled the Government at Ottawa and
the general public in eastern as well as western settlements
throughout British Columbia and the ocean shore cities of
Vancouver and Victoria. By the 30th of March, General
Middleton was hastening to the fronts from Ottawa, while
thousandsof Canada’ssoldiery rallied under the commandsat
the head of which were such men as Lieut.-Colonel Grasscett,
Royal Grenadiers; Lord Melgund, afterwards Lord Minto,
(Governor-General) ; Lieut.-Colonel Montizambert; Colonel
Williams of Port Hope, commanding the Midland Battalion;
Colonel Straubenzie; the lamented Major Howard, of
Gatling gun fame; Major Dawson; Captain Mason; Captain
Manley; Surgeon-Major Casgrain; Doctor King; Major-
General G. S. Ryerson, Army Service; Lieut. Fitch (a popu-
lar Toronto boy); scores of officers and brigades of the best
fighting men on the American continent. That certainly was
an order of some dimensions. The force lacked a battalion
of Canadian Mounted Police to make it absolutely invin-
cible! But these splendid fellows did all they could in a
hundred places and at a hundred vital points. At Ottawa,
as in the trouble which involved Sir George Cartier in
1869-70, the Minister of Militia at this period was Sir
Adolphe Caron, thoroughly versed in military routine. An
incident found its way into club land, during the North-
West trouble illustrative of the minister’s departmental
priority, which the writer vouchsafes to be absolutely true.
No sooner had the rebellion assumed definiteness than the
question of convevance of supplies had to be considered.
Rivalry was limited in that section of Canada, but there
were competitors. Just after the Government had decided
upon sending troops, one of the most popular and prominent
officials of Mr. James Hill's railway system arrived in

Ottawa from St. Paul, sent his card into the Militia Depart-
ment and, with a brief delay, was enlightening Sir Adolphe
Caron upon the dangers and difficulties of forwarding sup-
plies and equipment in that far-off region. After the issue
had been fully ventilated, the St. Paul gentleman remarked,
“Well, Sir Adolphe, we will undertake the contract. Our
road is equipped for it and we will not only give satisfaction,
but $100,000, for vour election fund!” Sir Adolphe was on
his feet in a second, exclaiming, ‘‘Colonel Guthrie, I would
ask vou to leave my office, but I know you to be a gentle-
man and that what vou offer is the custom of vour country,
s0 let it pass. I may say, as you know, we have our national
line.”

It must be remembered that in April, 1885, when the
rebellion occurred, the Canadian Pacific Railway could be
operated only as far west as Biscostasing, on the north
shore of Lake. Here a break in sectional construction
occurred, leaving a gap of over forty miles for sleigh trans-
port and in spring a weather temperature of ten to twenty
below zero, four feet of snow and considerable forest. Camp
Desolation. From that point flat cars were laid on the heavy
snow, conducive to a rocky jolting run over 150 miles; then
20 miles march, across the ice to McKellar's Bay; then flat
cars to Jackfish Bay; again 20 miles march and next flat
cars to Nipigon, and yet 14 miles to the main line. Much of
this was accompanied by rain, snow, slush and frost. Winni-
peg was reached; that meant hospitality and enthusiasm.
Off again for the West, mostly train transportation; then
action of another kind in various centres of disturbance.
General Middleton was at Clarke’s Crossing. Forces were
despatched, Lord Melgund and Colonel Montizambert in
command, to cross the North Saskatchewan. Cut Knife
(Creek and Castleton were critical points and by the 21st of
April the roar of cannon and the aggressive crack of fire-
arms generally spoke the language of death. Then came
Batoche, surrender, victory, The uprising had proved a
failure and justice called upon the malefactors to account
for their misdeeds. Alas! In some homes in towns, hamlet
or city throughout the Dominion there stands a vacant
chair sacred to the memory of a Canadian hero who gave
his life for Canada and the Empire. In this connection it
should be remarked that the rebellion of 1885 in the North-
West was the first occasion upon which Canada determined
to deal with serious internal aggression without calling for
Imperial co-operation. Doctor Ryerson, of Toronto, who
was one of the first to tender his services, says, “In the
North-West field forces there were no Imperial soldiers
except General Middleton and Captain Haig, R.E.”

CANADA FOR THE EMPIRE

REBELLION IN THE DARK CONTINENTS

On the 9th of October, 1899, President Kruger, of the
Boer Republic, issued an ultimatum demanding “‘arbitra-
tion, withdrawal of troops from the frontier and compliance
within forty-eight hours.” This was rejected by Great
Britain. Strange to say, less than fifteen vears afterwards,
Austria.placed a similar limit in her ultimatum to Servia,
always the impossible when war had long before been
determined upon. True, the German Kaiser boasted that
he had sent Her Majesty Queen Victoria plans and sugges-
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tions prepared by his military aces for the subjugation of
South Africa. At the same time, he was planning to accom-
plish the mastery of the world! But that is another story.

By one climbing mountains in British Columbia’s mining
area, little was heard of war echoes in South Africa; what
we heard had been very disquieting. That vast stretch of
country was 7,000 miles removed from our peaceful Do-
minion. | had business in the east, so found myself in
Montreal, late in September, having been at the Capital
for a brief stay, and was certainly surprised to observe the
undercurrent of public sentiment favouring the policy of
Canada participating in an effort to lighten the burthen
borne by the Motherland. Scores of our prominent mili-
tary men had proffered services; to such an extent in fact,
that far-off Queensland had voluntarily tendered armed
assistance. When in Montreal, I casually met Mr. Charles
Cassels, then a very prominent citizen. He was so warmly
obsessed by the war spirit that I agreed to have a talk with
Mr. Hugh Graham, of the Star, one of Canada’s outstand-
ing journalists. The office was then under course of rebuild-
ing, and I found him in the third storey, surrounded by
carpenters’ and builders’ equipment—but at his desk. He
gave me a hearty reception; we had a lengthy conference,
the result being my consenting to write a general appeal to
the Canadian public. This appeared on the front page of
the Star, two days after, surrounded by telegrams from
prominent men of all classes, the mayors of cities and other
officials, approving the Star's policy of immediate action
by those in authority. We had talked about the possibility
of Sir Wilfrid Laurier consenting to assume so great a
responsibility and I did not hesitate to say, ‘‘Mr. Graham,
I have known Sir Wilfrid since 1874. He is loyal to Great
Britain and I venture to say will do his duty, but remember
—it is a serious move for him, so give him time to meditate.”
Mr. Graham said, “All right, T hope so.”” On the 3rd of
October, the Right Hon. Joseph Chamberlain cabled Lord
Minto:

“Secretary of State for War and Commander-in-Chief
desire to express high appreciation of signal exhibition
of patriotic spirit of the people of Canada shewn by
offers to serve in South Africa.”

On the 13th of October the Government passed an Order-
in-Council to authorize a moderate expenditure without
summoning Parliament.

“As such expenditure under the circumstances cannot
be regarded as a departure from the well-known principles
of constitutional government and colonial practice nor
construed as a precedent for future action.”

The result was that two contingents of Canadian forces
went to South Africa. I have always remembered Mr.
Graham’s action in a crisis, more particularly when recalling
his great efforts years before in raising immense sums for
help in the terrible famine in India. His rise to the peerage
was well deserved. The South African war was raging in
November, 1900, when Sir Wilfrid advised a general elec-
tion and was sustained.

“Thank God for the news you have telegraphed me."”
These words were cabled by Her Majesty Queen Victoria
to General Redvers Buller, in response to his message
(February, 1900) announcing that Ladysmith (besieged
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since the 2nd of November, 1899), had been relieved. But
the end was not yet, although for a brief time many viewed
this triumph as virtually settling the war. Lord Roberts and
Kitchener had arrived at Capetown in January of 1900,
Lord Dundonald’s forces had captured Cengolo Hill; Monte
Christo was reduced by Lyttleton’s and Hylliard’s brigades,
Lord Roberts had reached Paardeberg and issued a pro-
clamation promising protection to the Free States; the
Boer main positions between Tuegela and Ladysmith had
been carried and Cronge surrendered at Paardeberg. The
Canadian troops, daring to a degree, eliciting unstinted
praise from veteran regulars, had rushed the enemy’s
trenches, 4,000 prisoners being captured, the British loss
being 18 officers and 245 others. Then came the spec-
tacular surrender at Ladysmith. Kruger, the Boer president,
sanctioned peace offers which were promptly rejected by
Lord Salisbury’s Government, after which Lord Roberts
captured Bloemfontein and surrender of arms ordered,
while Methuen advanced towards Mafeking ferry at Warren-
town. At this stage the enemy appeared to become desper-
ate, when one of their generals (Piet Joubert) died at
Pretoria on the 27th of March, 1900. By the end of that
month the British made steady onward progress; again the
Boers resorted to the white flag appeal, using it for ambush
purposes, by which Captain Elworthy was entrapped and
murdered, together with another officer and 21 other men.
On the 17th and 18th of May, Mafeking which had been
under siege and gallantly defended by Major-General Baden-
Powell and his men from the 13th of October, 1899, the
enemy succumbed and the siege was raised. From that
period, with very few reverses, the British forces followed
up relentlessly; Queensland, Canada and other auxiliary
troops behaved splendidly, but enteric fever prostrated over
57,000 victims, 9,000 dving, my son, Edward Compton,
Trumpeter for the Strathconas, among the number.

On the 30th of May, President Kruger made rapid flight
from Pretoria to Waterbalboven and the Gordon High-
landers and City Imperial Volunteers, under French and
lan Hamilton, defeated the Boers at Roodeport, while the
British flag floated over Johannesburg. Then followed
British reverses at Roodevat. Paget defeated the Boers
near Leeuwkop and on the 7th of July (1900) Paget and
Clements captured Bethlehem. From this date a series of
triumphs signalised the progress of Kitchener, Bruce Ham-
ilton, Methuen, Redvers Buller, Baden-Powell, Pole-Carew,
Ian Hamilton. Despite this, Kruger, in comfortable quarters,
continued to telegraph Botha: “Keep on fighting.”

Then arrived news of Queen Victoria’s last illness and
death; she had striven to maintain peace and subsequently
restore it. King Edward cabled Kitchener on the 30th of
January, 1901 :

“One of the Queen’s last enquiries was after yourself
and the gallant army under vour command.”

Again in March, the future Lord Kitchener telegraphed
Botha offering ‘‘Peace and Amnesty.” This too was rejected;
still it was evident that the Boers were sparring for time,
with an eve towards the treasury and other concessions
from the British Government. Treachery in white flags,
unwarlike ambush, cold-blood assassination were resorted
to, even murdering groups of natives. Thus month after



month desultory fighting was interspersed with tactics of
savagery; unarmed constables shot down—martial law was
extended in Cape Colony. Finally the Britishmilitary authori-
ties determined upon adopting British fighting and dogged
British methods towards reducing the enemy to impotence.
On the 15th of August, 1901, a proclamation was issued
calling upon the Boers to surrender ‘‘before the 15th of
September under pain of banishment and confiscation of
property.” The propitiatory response was the wrecking and
firing of a train at Waterval on the 30th, thus causing the
death of Lieut.-Colonel Vandeleur, 16 others and 25
wounded. Immediately following trains were wrecked and
looted in Cape Colony by the Boers the first week in
September. British reprisals were British—out in the open:
1. On the 5th of September, Col. Scobel captured
Lotter’'s command near Petersburg, killed 19 Boers,
capturing Lotter and Breedt and 102 prisoners.

2. 1-4 September, Methuen captured General Lemmer,

killed 19 Boers and grouped 44 prisoners.

3. September 10th, Schecpen’s command routed at

Laingsburg by Col. Crabbe, Van de Merive killed
Du Plessis and 37 prisoners.

The white flag was again outraged and Captain R. Miers
murdered. Then ensued sudden attacks from ambush,
guerilla operations, white flag atrocities, a few advantages
gained by the Boers and then—collapse!

A Peace Conference was held on May 13th, at which
Louis Botha, DeWet, Delary, Smuts and Hertzog faced
Lord Milner and Kitchener in Pretoria. Train wrecking
Hindon surrendered and by the 29th of May, 1902, the
Boer delegates returned to their headquarters at Vereenig-
ing. The terms of surrender were:

Unconditional surrender; Imperial grant ot $15,000,000
and loans for Boer repatriation; no death penalty on
rebels: Dutch language to be used in law courts when
necessary. Accepted and signed by the Boers before
Milner and Kitchener, at Pretoria.

King Edward VII sent a message of thanks to Lord
Kitchener on the 1st of June, 1902. On the 2nd of June,
Lord Kitchener congratulated the Boers on the good fight
they had made and welcomed them as citizens of the
Empire. The thanks of the King and Parliament to the
army and navy, colonials, Indian force, volunteers, a grant
of $250,000 to Lord Kitchener, “who had dealt with 90
mobile Boer columns over an area larger than the European
States.” Vote in the House of Commons, 380 yeas—44 nays.
On the 23td of June, 1902, Lord Kitchener sailed for Eng-
land, leaving Lieut.-General Lyttelton in command.

THE RoLL CALL
Total British forces in South Africa—448,343.
Total mobilised in South Africa up to May, 1902, segre-
gated as follows:

Troops already there. . ............... 9,940
British force (home).................. 337,219
India. .. ... 18,534
Colonies. . . ... ..o i 30,238
In Africa (Volunteers and standing
organizations) . . ................... 52,414
Total.......... ... .o, 448,345

The cost of the war (British) is recorded as exceeding
$1,115,000,000.
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ABRAHANM LINCOILN JEFFERSON DAVIS

BOX IN FORD THEATRE WHERE JOHN WILKES BOOTH
LINCOLN WAS SHOT LINCOLN'S ASSASSINATOR
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Echoes from Tragic Surroundings

Death of Lincoln and D’Arcy McGee

Reciprocity abrogation (1866) traced to a later date, may
enlighten those anxious to solve a problem perplexing to
some statesmen and still worthy of interest to the present
generation. The American Congress declared against reci-
procity because during their civil wars we had supplied
their market and the balance was in our favour! The
fratricidal struggle between North and South closed in
April, 1863; after that grim tragedy stalked beside the
Angel of Peace; scarce had General Lee surrendered at
Appomattox, than the assassination, in Ford’s Theatre, of
Abraham Lincoln, President of the United States, by John
Wilkes Booth, startled everycivilized community. There
was mourning throughout the North; equally so in Canada,
for family and a nation bereaved. The world lost one whose
humane instincts went out to the oppressed of all lands;
whose patience and wisdom had preserved the Ship of State
from a thousand perils. It was Abraham Lincoln whose tears
fell upon the pulseless form of poor Colonel Ellsworth, of
the New York Zouaves, done to death by a Southern
sympathiser (1861), who resented the hauling down of a
confederate flag. Four years after, April, 1865, that President's
heart was stilled by the bullet from a weapon in the hands
of a fanatical traitor to his country. When Lee surrendered,
newspapers published lurid accounts of the dramatic event;
but the end is told by General Grant, who became President
some years afterwards (1869-1877). The following was his
statement.

“The talk of surrendering of Lee's sword and my handing it back,
this and much more that has been said about it, is the purest romance.
The word sword or side-arms was not mentioned by either of us,
until I wrote it in the terms. If I had happened to omit it, and General
Lee had called my attention to it, I should have put it in the terms,
precisely as I acceded to the provisions about the soldiers retaining
their horses. Lee and I separated as cordially as we had met; he
returned to his own line and all went into bivouac for the night at
Appomattox.”

Looking backwards, recalling those lurid days, with a
record of ghastly horrors, that mad sectional war, in which
brother killed brother and fathers cursed their sons: parting,
never to meet again, one would imagine that Providence
having decreed peace, prosperity and partial amity, no
possible motive could tempt the present generation to
revive an issue fraught with such heart-searing memories.
Time is said to be the great panacea for human ills; why
reopen sores scarcely healed? In 1924, nearly sixty years
after battles had been fought and victories won or lost, a
controversy was raging as to the numbers engaged in killing
one another! Would not silence have been more Christian-
like? How many unfortunate conscripts and volunteers did

the South rally during the war? “Six hundred thousand,”
Mr. Cornelius Hite estimated. This added fire and brim-
stone to the controversy. Northern writers were asserting
that their armies slaughtered almost that many, and an-
nounced the fact that since 1903 the war department with
a corps of expert ‘‘Analyzers’” had been computing from
the “Roster’’ (register) the active forces of North and South
(including re-enlistments) for the whole period of the war;
2,138,948 for the North and 1,600,000 for the South. The
North then had a population of 30,000,000; the South
(white) 9,000,000. To arrive at this estimate, the fact was
emphasized that the confederate law was designed ‘“‘to
bring in the entire white population capable of bearing
arms, from seventeen to fifty years of age.” So, after many
years, the wound was opened again. The process seemed
almost inhuman—certainly uncommendable, perhaps repre-
hensible.

But Canada likewise had troubles. Already the termina-
tion of the struggles be-
tween North and South
was liberating the activ-
ities of thousands inim-
ical to Great Britain, the
result being the mobiliza-
tion of what was under-
stood to be a Fenian or-
ganization, one branch
under Generals Stephens
and O’'Mahoney ;another
under Roberts and
Sweeny. Both Arch-
bishop Connolly and
D'Arcy McGee de-
nounced the desperate
marauders, who not only
proclaimed their deter-
mination to destroy and
occupy a portion of
Canada, but drive the
English out of Ireland! The venerable Archbishop of Halifax
(Connolly), addressed his letter to the Lieutenant-Governor
of New Brunswick, a lengthy but effective and patriotic
document. In this he warned the Irish malcontents:

D’ARCY McGEE

“If they come on their own resources, it will indeed be a laughable
scare. Two million Protestants and 1,800,000 Catholics, who have
mothers, wives, and daughters, happy homes and free altars, and a
Government of their own choice, will meet them as they would the
freebooter and assassin with knife in hand on the trail of his victim."”



D’Arcy McGee had, a few months before, at the annual
concert of St. Patrick’s Society, Montreal, spoken elo-
quently upon behalf of Canada and her population, adding:

““At the risk, however, of sharing the fate of all unmasked advisers:

I would say to the Catholics of Upper Canada in each locality, if

there be any, the least proof that this foreign disease has seized on

any, the least among you, establish for your own sake, for the Coun-
try's sake, a Committee which will purge your ranks of this political
uprising. Weed out and cast off those rotten members, who, without

a single Government grievance to complain of in Canada, would

yet weaken and divide us in these days of danger and anxiety.”

These words cost the life of D’Arcy McGee, and on the
7th of April, 1868, the Dominion lost a great citizen!

Poor McGee recovered sufficiently to be present during a
portion of the session of Parliament; ere two months had
elapsed he fell by the hand of an assassin.

Canada was not destroyed, nor were the English driven
out of Ireland; the results proved the correctness of Bishop
Connolly’s forecast! Alas! not so in Ireland, for the long list
of crimes committed there were black stains upon the
escutcheon of civilization. The writer was in New York,
where returned Irishmen held an open air meeting; both
General Stephens and his wife, the latter crowned with
shamrock, were received with wild enthusiasm when appear-
ing upon the portico of the Metropolitan Hotel. He (the
writer) in perfect innocence inquired of one of the spectators
*if that was General Stephens?”” The man fairly glared with
indignation, replying, ‘“Yes, that’s General Stephens and
you know d d well it is.”” Not knowing what penalty
attached to ignorance of the patriot’s name, a sudden dis-
inclination to remain for the speeches developed; nothing
further followed, except that I made a hasty start for the
hotel at which I was sojourning. Fine hostelry, safe—and
comfortable! Today every well-thinking Irishman is proud
of Ireland liberated, Ireland prosperous, as a Free State!

The tragic fate of D’Arcy McGee recalls the name of
James Goodwin, then a prominent citizen of Ottawa. This
gentleman was not only a devoted friend of the great
Irishman, but a worshipping admirer. He passed from the
scene many years ago. 1 frequently listened to his reminis-
cent conversation, with reference to poor McGee. Only a
true-born Irishman could have spoken in such eulogistic,
almost reverential terms. He spoke of Sir John Macdonald—
Sir John personally and politically, D’Arcy McGee, as a
patriot who died in the cause of Ireland and sacrificed his
life for Canada.

After dwelling upon the broad principles inspiring his
leader and his confidence in Canada's future, poor McGee
retired to a room always reserved for him, usually resting
on a sofa or his bed, beside which were paper, pens, ink and
pencils. In this position he wrote most of his speeches or
prepared notes for future use. Each page when completed
was dropped to the floor, the whole being subsequently
gathered and placed upon the table. A strange, almost
weird, occurrence was a dream, the particulars of which he
related to Mr. and Mrs. Goodwin. This was only two days
before he was called hence. “Oh such a dream, such a
dream,” he exclaimed—'‘Such a fearful dream.” Reminded
of this by Mrs. Goodwin, he said:—*1 seemed to stand on
the cliff overhanging Niagara Falls; I saw a boat in which
two men were seated, rapidly running down the current.

1 warned them as 1oudly as possible; then they appeared to
reverse the boat, pulling up stream—but I fell forward into
the boiling abyss.” This was on Sunday evening; on April
7th (Tuesday), 1868, he was assassinated. A letter to Mr.
Hughes, of Toronto, quoted elsewhere, bears date the 20th
of February. Poor McGee wrote another, supposed to be
the last, addressed to Sir John Macdonald, who had written
warning him to be careful and to be “on guard against
treachery.” Answering this, over his signature, on the 25th
of February, the ill-fated statesman added a postscript:
“Many thanks for your hint about my personal safety. [
shall not forget it.”” Joseph Pope verifies this in his “Memoirs
of Sir John Macdonald.” Parliament voted an annuity of
$1,200 to Mr. McGee's widow and $5,000 each to his two
daughters, added to this, debts and encumbrances upon his
property were liquidated by subscriptions freely contributed
by his personal and political friends. Sir John Macdonald
truly said, in a letter to a friend, *‘his only crime was that
he steadily and affectionately advised his countrymen in
Canada to enjoy all the advantages that equal laws and
institutions give to Irishmen and to Roman Catholics.”

FRANCO-PRUSSIAN WAR

July, 1870, witnessed
a struggle between
France and Prussia,
defeat of France at Wis-
senburg, Worth, Saar-
brucken, Bionville, Gra-
velotte, Sedan! William
of Prussia, acclaimed in
the Hall of Mirrors,
Palaceof Versailles; Paris
surrendered; a war debt
of staggeringproportions;
the splendid provinces
of Alsace and Lorraine
ceded to—the conquer-
ors. Tragic events, con-
secrated by blood freely
shed by the flower of
French chivalry. France,
prostrate beneath the
iron heels of an implac-
able foe. This was the harvest reaped from the seeds of
pride, arrogance and imperial ambition. This the red record
of the Franco-Prussian War, beginning in July, 1870, and
closing with capitulation of Paris, on the 28th of January,
1871.

Canada viewed with horror the awful events of those
days; her people were intent upon perfecting a Union of
provinces, the consolidation of races, religious toleration
and constitutional methods. Great Britain too was intent
upon broadening and strengthening the ties of human
b.rotherhood, the preservation of peace and glory of civiliza-
tion, by consummating a settlement of many vexing issues
between our people and the United States.

What was the effect of the war between France and
Prussia? Who were the intriguing monsters responsible for
deluging the soil of France with the blood of her sons;

NAPOLEON III AND FAMILY
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piling high, mounds of inanimate humanity? The story is
brief and readily chronicled. On one hand a ruler, Louis
Napoleon, Emperor of France, anxious to redeem his grow-
ing unpopularity, fearing internal trouble and feverishly
ready to adopt any
method impelling con-
centration of the French
populace upon higher
aspirations. What more
attractive than drawn
swords for the recovery
of lost possessions and
supremacy over Eu-
ropean principalities?
Why ignore what seemed
a providential opportun-
1ty? Spanish adherents,
with the consent of King
William of Prussia,
head of the Hohenzol-
lerns, had announced
the candidature of Leo-
pold, hereditary Prince
of Hohenzollern, for the
Spanish throne. A sharp
protest was immediately entered by the French Legislative
Assembly against any foreign potentate presuming to aspire
to the throne of Charles the Fifth. Leopold,on the 12th of July,
formally withdrew his candidature. Ordinarily, such action
would have solved the problem. Not so in this unfortunate
case: Louis Napoleon and his advisors wanted war. So did
Bismarck, Von Moltke and Von Roon—heads of the German
army. Whether they were confident of being able to bring
their deadly scheme to fruition by agencies at work in
France may never be known. Nevertheless, fate played into
their hands and when fate wavered, the damnable trickery
of the German trio proved triumphant. France demanded a
pledge from the King of Prussia that no further attempt
should be made to compass the design of placing a Hohen-
zollern on the Spanish throne; in fact, Bennedetti, the
French ambassador, followed the Prussian King to Ems and
meeting him on a public promenade brusquely submitted
the proposition, demanding royal assurance that it would
meet with his approval. Meanwhile, Bismarck, Von Moltke
and Von Roon awaited results: The King of Prussia tele-
graphed a despatch authorizing his ministers in his name to
refuse Royal Sanction. This message was tampered with by
the conspiring trio, rendering the language used not only
curt and insulting but, virtually declaratory of extreme
measures rather than conciliatory suggestions. The King of
Prussia hastened to his capital, received at the railway
terminus by Bismarck and his co-intriguers, as well as the
Crown Prince Frederick. Superfluous to say, within a few
hours, mobilization of the North German Army was decided
upon, and contrary to expectations, South Germany at
first remained neutral; Bavaria and Wurtemberg stood
steadfast; then the Princes of South Germany declared for
the King of Prussia, organization was active and thorough;
the Crown Prince Frederick at once taking command of the
United Army. Then no more was heard of Leopold or his
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Spanish Crown proclivities. Bismarck and his colleagues
had plunged two powerful nations into war—had, it was
declared, already induced Bazaine to surrender Metz, of
which he was subsequently found guilty and exiled (although
grave doubts exist as to his treachery, for he was a Marshal
of France). The ill-fated Prince Imperial accompanied his
Royal father, receiving his “‘baptism of fire,” finally wit-
nessing the Emperor’s escape from the battlefield, whence
he found a home at Chislehurst, England. The Prince, nine
years afterwards, was killed in the Zulu War, having
accompanied a British regiment, by consent of his mother,
ex-Empress Eugéne. As is well known, France became a
Republic; her people intent upon recovering greatness, great
in the effort. They dreamed of days and triumphs to come—
France regenerated, Alsace and Lorraine redeemed, her
people liberated. That dream was fulfilled in 1918.

On the outbreak of the Franco-Prussian War, the Queen
wrote to Gladstone :—

“The Queen acknowledges Mr. Gladstone's letter of yesterday.
She is glad to hear that the very serious aspect of affairs as regards
our army, and the line which we may have to take with respect to
the integrity fo Belgium, are to be seriously considered in the Cabinet
to-morrow.

“The feeling in the country and in Parliament, the Queen feels
sure, is for measures being taken before the session closes, as expressed
by Lord Russell, quietly to increase our forces. And she thinks also
that a decided expression on the part of England not to allow Belgium
to be attacked would prevent a greater extension of this wicked war.
To call Parliament together again in the Autumn would cause far
greater alarm, and be, as it always is, very unpopular.”

If through life, Queen Victoria was firm in dictates, she
was equally firm in her friendships. She believed in the
divine right of sovereigns but possibly from an ethical
standpoint. Towards Napoleon, the dethroned Emperor
of France, her sympathy went out in all fullness. When the
Franco-Prussian war began, she carefully chronicled passing
events. As intimated above, it was feared that the guarantee
of Belgium's integrity might be violated, but nearly forty-
five years were to elapse
ere this tragic occurrence
startled the world. One
of the earliest notes in
her diary (September 5,
1870), shews the trend
of her compassionate con-
cern:—

“Balmoral, Sept. 5,1870
—Heard that the mob at
Paris had rushed into the
Senate and proclaimed the
downfall of the dynasty,
proclaiming a Republic.
This was received with ac-
clamation and the pro-
clamation was made from
the Hotel de Ville. Not one
voice was raised in favour
of the unfortunate Em-
peror. How ungrateful. It
was agreed that the follow- -
ing message should be VON MOLTKE
conveyed to the Empress,

viz: ‘That I was not insensible of the heavy blow which had fallen
on her, nor forgetful of former days.’ No one knows where she is.”




-After the war, Queen Victoria received Napoleon at
Windsor. She wrote in her journal:—

“At a little before 3 we went down with our children and ladies
and gentlemen to receive the Emperor Napoleon. | went to the door
with Louise and embraced the Emperor ‘comme de rigueur.’ It was
a moving moment, when I thought of the last time he came here in
'55 in perfect triumph, dearest Albert bringing him from Dover, the
whole country mad to receive him, and now. He seemed very much
depressed and had tears in his eyes, but he controlled himself and
said, ‘Il y a bien longtemps que je n’al vu votre Majeste.”

The German Crown Princess, daughter of Victoria, con-
tinued writing to the Queen letters full of advice on in-
ternational affairs. These were believed to be inspired by
Bismarck and irritated Victoria. One of the Queen's replies,
written on July 17, 1877, was as follows:—

“Darling Child—I will now answer your letter of the 11th relative
to Egypt, the proposal about which, coming from you, has indeed
surprised me very much, and seems to me Bismarck’s view. Neither
Turkey nor Egypt have done anything to offend us. Why should we
make a wanton aggression, such as the taking of Egypt would be.
It is not our custom to annex countries (as it is in some others)
unless we are obliged and forced to do so, as in the case of the Trans-
vaal Republic. Prince Bismarck would probably like us to seize
Egypt, as it would be giving a slap in the face to France and be
taking a mean advantage of her inability to protest. It would be a
most greedy action. I own I can’t for a moment understand your
suggesting it.

“What we intend to do we shall do without Prince Bismarck’s
permission, for he has repeatedly mentioned it to Lord Odo Russell.
Buying the Suez shares is quite another thing. That was more or
less a commercial transaction. How can we protest against Russia’s
doings, if we do the same ourselves.”

Providence was kind in calling Her Majesty before the
last of German emperors not only violated Belgium's
integrity, but outraged every law of God and man.

THE TREATY OF WASHINGTON

In 1871, the Imperial Government came to an under-
standing with the United States in connection with disputed
issues. The fishery question, of grave importance to Canada,
together with claims of the United States for damages sus-
tained by American citizens, consequent upon the Alabama
offences were main features demanding consideration. By
the abrogation of the Reciprocity Treaty of 1854, rights of
both expired. As time elapsed, the position became critical
consequent upon accumulation of disputed issues not un-
naturally causing irritation; thus, when one party to a
grievance was unduly aggressive, accession to the list of
demands created unnecessary friction and uncalled-for
clamour. On the 26th of January, 1871, Sir Edward Thorn-
ton, British Minister at Washington, addressed a letter to
the United States Secretary of State, proposing a joint
High Commission to ‘“‘treat and discuss the mode of settling
the different questions that have arisen out of the Fisheries,
as well as all those which affect the relations of the United
States towards Her Majesty's possessions in British North
America.” A conciliatory reply was received, from Washing-
ton, dccepting the Imperial offer, but suggesting that the
Alabama claims adjustment was essential to the restoration
of cordial and amicable relations between the two Govern-
ments. This also was included in the disputed points. The
Premier of the Dominion had reluctantly consented to
participate in the formal arbitrament; but trouble was

brewing. for the week following initial proceedings contrib-
uted elements of discord; happily Sir John Macdonald
possessed marvellous reserves of patience; his political life,
so far, had demanded self-suppression, irrespective of
personal sacrifices. He formed a far from enviable opinion
of either the honesty or ability of American representatives
at the Joint High Commission; in fact, the Canadian
Premier openly inferred that a modicum of veracity char-

acterized American allegations. Consequent upon a few

carelessly defined provisions in the Oregon Treaty, the

ownership of the Island of St. Juan in the Strait of Juan de

Fuca, off the coast of Victoria, B.C., was referred to the

Commission. The Imperial authorities appointed five Com-

missioners—Earl De Grey and Ripon: Sir Edward Thornton,

Sir Stafford Northcote, Sir John Macdonald and Montague

Bernard, Professor of International Law, University of

Oxford. The American representatives were: Hon. Robert

C. Schenk, the Hon. Hamilton Fish, the Hon. Samuel

Nelson, the Hon. George H. Williams and Hon. Ebenezer

R. Hoar. Although unusual for a Colonial public man to be -
appointed to adjudicate upon what was then considered

Imperial, Sir John Macdonald, while bearing all responsi-

bilities, was vet an interpreter of Canadian views. He was,

however, well aware of the indifference of Canadian views.

He was, however, well aware of the indifference or selfishness

with which some British plenipotentiaries had been known

to dispose of Colonial questions, sometimes Colonial posses-

sions, and naturally safeguarded his position upon several

Canadian issues, by refusing to accept a place upon the

Commission until an “explicit declaration of Canadian

rights had been given by the Imperial Parliament;" also

exacting the condition that the Fishery Articles should

depend upon ratification by the Canadian Parliament. In

correspondence, the Imperial Government suggested certain

compromises on the Fishery dispute, by a money payment

by the United States, which was at once rejected. The joint

High Commission met at Washington the end of February,

continuing until the 8th of May, on which date the Treaty

was signed. This was ratified by the United States on the

24th of May and by the Imperial Parliament on the 17th

of June. Settlement of the .4labama claim (United States

against Great Britain) was referred to an arbitration board

to meet at Geneva, Switzerland. It might be well to dispose

of the dlabama award here; the arbitrators awarded over

$15,000,000. It is said that for vears a considerable portion

of that amount remained in the United States treasury,

consequent upon shortage of claimants, sutficient to absorb

sums alleged to be owing. To return to the finding of the

joint High Commission :—

(1) The statutory provisions with reference to Canadian
Fisheries, to be suspended, as far as they prevented
citizens of the United States from fishing in Canadian
inshore waters. :

(2) Fish and fish oil (with defined exceptions) to come
into Canada free of duty.

(3) Continuance of the bonded system during twelve
years or longer period according to Treaty.

(4) Right of transshipment secured to the United States
during the existence of the Treaty.
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The question of St. Juan controul was left to the arbitration
of the German Emperor, William of Prussia, who decided
in favour of the United States. The Fenian and minor sub-
jects for which Canadians made claims were not disposed
of at the Washington round table. From the opening, how-
ever, a preconcerted design appeared to be the awakening
of Imperialistic devotion; failing that, resort to Imperial-
istic coercion. Sir John, on the 18th of April, 1871, wrote
to Doctor Tupper, giving details of a caucus attended by
the British Commissioners, with Lord de Grey as chairman:
“He (de Grey) thought we had better go on provisionally with the
details of the article on the fisheries and for this purpose assume
that H. M. Government had given its consent to the principle of
arbitration; but that the U.S. commissioners should be distinctly
informed that if Her Majesty did not assent to the proposal, our
labours in this respect would go for nothing. The others expressed
their concurrence in this view. . . . I said that as a majority of them
had so decided, it was necessary for me to consider my own position
and what I should do to keep myself right. I stated that I did not
believe Canada would ratify the arrangement and my belief had
been strengthened by your telegram which had gone home to Eng-

land. . . . Lord de Grey was taken aback by this and said ‘it was a

very grave statement to make,” involving serious responsibility,

and after such a formal statement he thought that he and his English
colleagues should together consider what should be done.”

It must candidly be admitted, judging from correspond-
ence and open speech, Sir John was convinced that against
him were arrayed not only his British colleagues, but all
the representatives of Washington interests. Restrictive
confidence was justifiable after analysing allegations ad-
vanced by certain dignitaries during the proceedings.

While the Dominion’s first Minister was combating, step
by step, carefully prepared propositions made by Mr. Fish,
Mr. Hoar and other American members, the telegraph wires
were flashing particulars to Ottawa. Some of the objection-
able concessions demanded by Washington, were received
with hospitality by the English Commissioners, nor did they
appear to comprehend Canadian insistence upon clear
definitions of what each clause meant, how it could be
misconstrued and what unfair advantage might hereafter
be claimed under either common law, equity or an American
Secretary of State, for these were not all like Evarts, or
Root, or Hughes.

On the 23rd of April, replying to a message from Sir John,
Sir George Cartier telegraphed:—

“We are sensible of the gravity of the position and alive to the
deep interests which Canada has in the settlements of all disputes
between Great Britain and United States. The Queen’s government,
having formally pledged herself that our fisheries should not be
disposed of without our consent, to force us now into a disposal of
them for a sum to be fixed by arbitration, and free fish, would be a
breach of faith, and an indignity never before offered to a great
British possession. The people of Canada were prepared to exchange
the rights of fishing for reciprocal trade rights to be agreed upon;
but if these cannot be obtained, she prefers to retain her fisheries,
and protests against the course which against her will is being pur-
sued with reference to her interests and property. We were never
informed that the fisheries would be inextricably mixed with the
Alabama question, and could not have apprehended that an attempt
would be made to coerce us into an unwilling disposal of them to
obtain results, however important, on other points in dispute. Our
parliament would never consent to a treaty on the basis now pro-
posed.”

It must not be forgotten that the American Commission-
ers had, while demanding free navigation of the St. Law-

rence for all time, positively refused to even discuss the
freedom of navigation on the same terms so far as affected
British interests. Finally, the treaty was agreed to, after
some compromise measures. Even the expiring stages were
distasteful in the estimation of Canada's Prime Minister.
He thus wrote to Sir George Cartier, referring to official
reports of proceedings:—
Washington, May 6, 1871,
““The language put into the mouths of the British Commissioners
is strictly correct; but I cannot say so much for our American col-
leagues. They have inserted certain statements as having been
made by them, which, in fact, were never made, but which they
think it of importance should appear to have been made, in order
that they may have an effect on the Senate. My English colleagues
were a good deal surprised at the proposition, but as the statements
did not prejudice England. we left them at liberty to lie as much as
they liked.”

Sir John continued by referring to his final conference
interview with Lord de Grey:—

“I told him that while I had, as in duty bound, done all that I
could to prevent serious mistakes being made with respect to Cana-
dian questions and to make the Treaty as little distasteful as possible
to the people of Canada, vet I must repeat my opinion that the
arrangement, with respect to the fisheries were decidedly injurious
to Canada, whose interests had been sacrificed or made altogether a
secondary consideration, for the sake of getting a settlement of the
Alabama and San Juan matters. I concurred entirely in the opinion
expressed by the Canadian Government in your telegram, which
stated that the Canadian Parliament would not sanction the arrange-
ments, and said the time had come to decide what course I should
take. It was quite true that Canada would still retain, in a great
measure, the control of the fisheries question, by the clause which
stated that the fishery articles should only take effect when the
necessary legislation was had by the Dominion parliament; but this
had been done in a manner least beneficial to Canada, as, in the case
of her refusal to ratify the treaty, it would be patent to the people
of the United States that Canada and England had a different policy
upon the question, and that we could not expect any real support
or backing from the Mother Country.”

Lord de Grey appeared to have forgotten Canada, seem-
ingly oblivious as to the probability of Sir John Macdonald’s
public career being abruptly terminated within a few
calendar months. Sir John wrote to Sir George Cartier:—

“He (de Grey) replied that, in the first place, he considered it
was the duty of us all, as plenipotentiaries acting on behalf of the
Imperial Government, to carry out the positive instructions sent to
us, whatever our individual opinions might be; that I was sufficiently
protected by the fact that, on the two occasions, when I differed
from my colleagues, the questions were submitted to H.M. Govern-
ment and after such submission the articles were settled by direct
orders from home; that the protocol sufficiently shewed that we
acted under direct instructions. He further stated and pledged his
honour for the sincerity of his statement, that he believed my refusal
to sign would involve the certain rejection of the treaty. He said
that, in fact, he had not the shadow of a doubt on the subject, and
put the question to me, as to what my feelings would be if the negoti-
ations fell through. It would then be shown to the world that the
Alabama question was incapable of a peaceful solution, and sooner
or later, whenever England happened to be in trouble elsewhere, a
solution would have to be found in a war with the United States.”’

In fact, Sir John Macdonald’'s communications with Sir
George Cartier and Doctor Tupper, during the Washington
proceedings, prove beyond cavil that he was not only
astonished but deeply grieved over the insensate methods
of the British Commissioners on one side and American
selfishness, greed, and shortage of veracity on the other.
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In the early stages of the Conference he candidly scored
his British co-commissioners upon the questionable reticence
observable in the message from the Colonial Secretary to
the Governor-General at Ottawa, in that it did not state
there was any necessary connection or interweaving of
different subjects; contending that Canada had been un-
fairly dealt with by so mingling the points at issue, all in
reality being separate and distinct in their bearings. There
is no reason for doubt that the great Canadian imperialist,
with a full slate before him, much as he desired to promote
peace and British prestige, would have hesitated ere accept-
ing a seat at the board. Having done so, he was not the
man to retreat. He wrote to Sir Charles Tupper as well as
Sir George Cartier, on the 29th of March:—
“I am greatly disappointed at the course taken by the British
Commissioners; they seem to have only one thing on their minds—

that is to go back to England with a Treaty in their pockets, no
matter at what cost to Canada.”

All Lord de Grey and his colleagues seemed to think of
was a settlement favourable to Great Britain; their policy
appeared to be—‘‘Jockey for place,” conciliate Washing-
ton; appeal to Canada’s loyalty; failing success—brow-beat
and terrorise. Happily, on certain points, Sir John stood
firm, patience and self-assertion wrung surly acquiescence
from a body of men quite ready to jeopardise loyalty as
existing in a very loyal section of the British Empire.
Finally, the wheels were reversed; questions quite foreign
to settlement of the Fisheries dispute, were relegated to
other sources for arbitrament, Canada, true to the Mother
Country, although slightly shaken, stayed in the Empire
ring and remains there today—a national Entity.

The House of Commons met at Ottawa in the spring of
1872 and in May the country heard from the lips of Sir
John Macdonald one of
the most convincing
speeches ever delivered
by him. For several
hours there had been
verbal uproar, continu-
ing after he resumed
his seat, but in a minor
key; the defence was
unanswerable, from the
point of view that
(Canadians made sacri-
fices for the Mother
Country. The Hon.
Willam  Macdougall
had consulted his sup-
porters at a specially
called public meeting
(North Lanark), and
when he conveved
their message to the
House of Commons, followed by Sir Charles Tupper, Sir
Leonard Tilley, Sir George Cartier and John Hylliard
Cameron, there was a lull in proceedings. The Hon. Speaker
Cockburn, then submitted the resolutions:

On the 3rd of May, 1872, Sir John Macdonald moved

EDWARD BLAKE
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for leave to bring in a bill, to “carry into effect certain
clauses of the Treaty negotiated between the United States
and Great Britain, in 1871,” to which the Hon. Edwarq
Blake (West Durham) had moved an amendment as

follows.—

This House feels bound to declare that while Her Majesty's loyal
subjects, the people of Canada, would at all times make any reason-
able sacrifice in the interest of the Empire, there is just ground for
dissatisfaction pervading the whole country as to the mode in which
our rights have been dealt with in the negotiations at Washington,
and the subsequent proposal of our Government that England should
accept a Canadian loan as the price of the adoption of the Treaty
and the abandonment of the claims in respect of the Fenian raids,
which affect not merely our peace, but also our honour and our
peace.

Mr. E. V. Bodwell had also moved an amendment, the
result being: total for, 51; against, 125. Government major-
ity, 74. The vote of Mr. Blake's amendment was, yeas, 52;
nays, 125. A final vote was taken (17th May) on the
motion for second reading of the bill: yeas, 121; nays, 5.
Government majority 66.

A few months subsequently a general election was
gazetted and the country at once thrown into a vortex of
excitement. The Hon. Alexander Mackenzie as leader of
the Opposition, a man of hard common sense, logical and
gifted with more than ordinary perspicacity, made the
Washington ‘‘surrender’” the chief topic of his platform
addresses, while Edward Blake, a brilliant Canadian,
excelled himself in attacks upon Sir John Macdonald's
sacrifice of Dominion rights. ‘It is the beginning of the
end’’ was his favourite expression, and beyond doubt car-
ried weight with the electorate. The Government was sus-
tained but by a decreased majority.

AWAKENING OF THE NORTH-WEST
STorY OF THE UPRISING OF 1869-70

Hon. WILLIAM MACDOUGALL APPOINTED LIEUTENANT-
(GOVERNOR

How wise the world would be were men and women
capable of reversing the order of affairs, viewing and decid-
ing by what transpires in the future instead of venturing
upon the wide field of creating or abiding by precedents.
So must Sir John Macdonald have thought, after finding
himself a member of the Royal Commission to settle
various intricate questions of vital consequence to Canada,
while rartially yielding certain points when demanded by
diplomats representing the United States. That story will
be found elsewhere. So, with the Hon. William Macdougall,
commissioned Lieutenant-Governor of the North West, but
in every vital respect powerless to even enter the land he
was sent to govern. Instead, although inspired by optimistic
hopes, he found stupendous obstacles, countless difficulties,
startling problems, with discontented hordes barring his
entry to the proposed seat of government—capped by ham-
pering suggestions from the Administration at Ottawa.
Sir John Macdonald’s diplomacy saved the situation at
Washington, but the first Lieutenant-Governor of the North
West Territories passed through an ordeal few men would
have experienced and escaped with their lives. Sir John
Macdonald at Washington in 1871 had he foreseen accu-



mulated complications would have rejected a seat at the
round table. So no doubt would Mr. Macdougall, had he
foreseen nothing else than disappointment and tragedy: the
empty honour followed him throughout.

And this was the situation:—

(1) Canada had neither accepted nor paid for title
to the country; (2) Mr. Macdougall had been confined in
Pembina, U.S., and no possible communication with the
outside boundaries permitted; (3) Two months after his
appointment, Mr. Macdougall was counselled from Ottawa
to approach Riel in a conciliatory spirit (Sir John Mac-
donald, 20th Nov., Ottawa, 1869); (4) Riel had formed his
Provisional Government on the 24th of November and
intent upon starving Mr. Macdougall, took possession of
the Hudson's Bay Company’s fort, two miles from Pem-
bina; (5) Both the Hon. Joseph Howe and Doctor Tupper,
M.P., had visited Winnipeg, but neither was commissioned
to take counsel with Mr. Macdougall, who was left to shift
for himself; (6) Ottawa had so far refused to pay the pur-
chase price of the North West estate, hence Canada had
no title, it being vested in Her Majesty the Queen; (7) Mr.
Macdougall appears to have been kept in ignorance of
many complications at Ottawa, or informed too late; (8)
Mr. Macdougall had been directed from Ottawa to consult
Governor McTavish and Archbishop Tache. Mr. McTavish
was dangerously ill, Archbishop Tache attending the
Ecumenical Council at Rome; thus the first appointee to
the Lieutenant-Governorship was virtually a prisoner in
Pembina; (9) Under circumstances strangely environed and
much to be deplored, he had been sworn in; a ‘round
robin"’ was signed by scores of loyal subjects, and if Mr.
Macdougall was to blame, what position did the govern-
ment at Ottawa occupy? All the wrong, all the errors were
in no degree attributable to Mr. Macdougall, for he did
his utmost to restore order, but was ruthlessly denied entry
into the country whose affairs he had been sent to administer.

For two hundred years, all Rupert’s Land and the North-
West Territories, comprising 800,000 square miles—were
virtually subject to the jurisdiction of the Hudson’s Bay
Company. In 1869-70, an auxiliary bulwark of the British
Empire was absorbed by the Dominion of Canada; the
Honourable William Macdougall being elevated to the
Lieutenant-Governorship of this vast acquisition.

Formal measures for the taking over of Rupert’s Land
and North-West Territories attained practical significance,
when, on the 4th of December, 1867, Hon. W. Macdougall,
M.P., introduced resolutions in the House of Commons,
requesting Her Majesty's consent to the transfer of Rupert’s
Land and the North-West Territories to the Dominion of
Canada. These, sanctioned by Parliament, were forwarded
to the Home Government and within reasonable time, Lord
Monck received a dispatch from Downing Street intimating
that the law officers of the Colonial Department and law
officers of the Crown had arrived at a decision upon the
Hudson's Bay title; furthermore, that it would be impos-
sible to vest control by Canada over the Territory without
an act of the Imperial Parliament, and possibly without a
tentative arrangement with the Hudson’s Bay Company.

A brief epitome of alleged rights of the Hudson's Bay
Company will enable readers to more fully apprehend
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Canada’s position: in 1670 Charles 11 granted a Charter
to ‘‘Prince Rupert and seventeen other noblemen and
gentlemen’’ securing to them the right to trade in a territory
draining into Hudson's Bay. In 1869 the company sur-
rendered to Queen Victoria the rights granted by King
Charles II, as well as other rights exercised or assumed,
and all the lands and territories within Rupert’s Land;
the company, however, retained its posts and stations with
the right of selection of a block of land adjoining each post
and certain rights to land in the Fertile Belt, the bound-
aries of which were defined as follows: On the south by the
United States boundary; on the west by the Rocky Moun-
tains; on the north by the northern branch of the Saskat-
chewan; on the east by Lake Winnipeg, the Lake of the
Woods and the waters connecting them. In 1872 a further
agreement was made as to the land in the Fertile Belt.
Not until 1925 did the Dominion succeed in finally settling
all disputes, when the London Times, through its Ottawa
Correspondent made the announcement that settlement
had been made between the Dominion Government and
the Hudson’s Bay Company in regard to which the Com-
pany was held to be entitled in the Western Provinces.
Under the deed by which the Company surrendered the
ownership of Rupert’s Land it claimed 7,100,000 acres. As
a result of negotiations with the officials of the Depart-
ment of the Interior the Company agreed to accept $6,639,-
000 (£1,327,000) in satisfaction of its claim. The dispute
dated back to 1869.

The agreement reached in 1869 was confirmed by
legislation; after which, the Canadian government appoint-
ed the Hon. William Macdougall, Lieutenant-Governor.
For years prior to this, he had been a Minister of the Crown,
having before that risen, step by step, in public estimation.
As a journalist, he advocated reforms subsequently crystal-
lized into legislation; was one of the Secretaries of the
“Reform Convention,’’ held in 1859, when vital issues were
considered, some suggesting acquisition of the North West.
This assemblage was under the auspices of what was known
as the ““Constitutional Reform Association,” held at the
Rossin House, Toronto, on the 9th of November, 1859.

Another meeting at Markham (Upper Canada), not far
from Toronto, approved of by delegates, mortally discon-
certed Mr. George Brown of the Globe, who in pitiless ful-
minations assailed opinions expressed ly Mr. Macdougall
in the columns of the North American, Canada Farmers and
Examiner. Mr. Brown foresaw naught save revolutionary
results, demanding a halt and the virtual court martial of
the offending knight errant. Subsequently, Mr. Macdougall’s
publications were merged with the Toronto Globe, thus
avoiding further censored thraldom. Defeated in Perth,
after a bitter contest (1857), he found a snug harbour in
North Oxford, which seat he retained until the next general
election. Then followed intermittent cabinet positions (in-
cluding Sandfield Macdonald’s brief premiership) with serv-
ice in the Coalition Government of 1864 (his colleagues
being Mowat and Brown) and in a final cabinet position in
Sir John Macdonald’s Confederation Government (1867),
retiring to accept the position of Lieutenant-Governor of
the Canadian North-West, in 1869. This was the man who
some critics did not, and even now do not, hesitate to



condemn as lacking judgment; he may have lacked judg-
ment; not in evading a very invidious, if not compromising
ordeal; rather, endangering his reputation by consenting to
accept an office, not at that time, nor for months following,
logically or legally in the gift of the Government. At the
time, William Macdougall made his defence, in writing and
speech; but for many years afterwards, although again in
Parliament in 1878 and before that in the Ontario Legisla-
ture, avoided further controversy upon painful subjects.
Once in the Montreal Witness he spoke rather bitterly,
because reminiscently, of the North-West trouble.

There are some today who speak disparagingly and write
lightly “‘of the spirit that's gone.” Do these know the facts?
Have they analysed the evidence, investigated circum-
stances, conditions, intrigues and motives underlying that
disastrous epoch?

When Mr. Macdougall accepted the office of Lieutenant-
Governor, no valid reason existed for believing that the
transfer of Rupert's Land would be postponed indefinitely,
or selfishness or indifference, or both, upon the part of the
Hudson’s Bay Company, as well as Downing Street,
London, either retard or jeopardize the situation. What are
the facts?

The appointee was commissioned to depart for the North
West the latter part of September, 1869, with instructions
to proceed to Fort Garry and to make arrangements for the
organization of the government of the North-West, ‘“‘upon
hearing of the transfer of the country to Canada.” His com-
mission as Lieutenant-Governor clothed him with full power
to assume duties of that office on the 1st of December, 1869.
His entry into the Territory was disputed; he was virtually
alone, his life in jeopardy, his family terrorized. With the
exception of Colonel Dennis, whose diplomacy was far from
infallible, although a firm believer in the future of Canada’s
newly acquired heritage. Mr. Macdougall, without com-
petent advisers, became the victim of prolonged uncertain-
ty, liable to be condemned for whatever policy he adopted;
praised or censured, according to the veering of each politi-
cal, racial or sectional gale. Who, at the most critical time,
was the ambassador from headquarters, authorized to
dictate, to warn, to caution, to co-operate or suggest? The
name has never been revealed; hence it is reasonable to
suppose no such dignitary was appointed. To be sure one
military attendant was added to the staff; but certainly not
invested with authority other than alreadyv vouchsafed the
pseudo governor. In a general summing up, it must be
remembered that advices from the East, including tele-
grams, departmental dispatches between Ottawa in Canada
and Pembina in the United States, were liable to confisca-
tion by Riel’s emissaries. Mr. Macdougall being powerless
to counteract rapidly recurring events in the North West,
hence, the gravamen of his offence appears to have been
over-confidence in those who should have protected him
from the machinations of enemies within British posses-
sions, encouraged by sympathetic adherents across the
border.

On the 20th of November, 1869, Sir John Macdonald
wrote Mr. Macdougall:

“It appears to me that you should ascertain from Governor
McTavish the two leading half-breeds in the Territory, and inform
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them at once that you will take them into your council: This man

Riel appears to be the moving spirit, is a clever fellow, and you

should endeavor to retain him as an officer in your future Poljce,

If you do this promptly, it will be a most convincing proof that yoy

are not going to leave the half-breeds out of the law."

Again:—

“It is, however, difficult at this distance, to give you anything
like advice, as, long ere this reaches you, circumstances may have
altered, so I can only wish vou well through it.”

Sir John's divination of the situation, viewed from
Ottawa, fairly outlined a course of diplomacy advisable
under existing conditions, providing the situation at Fort
Garry remained unchanged. It so happened, however, that
Governor McTavish was seriously unwell, and the Prime
Minister’s suggestions failed to reach their destination be-
fore the malcontents (24th of November) had formed a
Provisional Government. Mr. Macdougall's communica-
tions were treated as ‘‘contraband of war''—seized and
suppressed, whensoever attempts were made to reach the
high-and-mighty Riel or his conspiring satellites. Moreover,
no two half-breeds of influence would have jeopardised
their lives by violating
pledges made to Riel and
the Provisional Govern-
ment. Theproblem might
have been solved, if be-
fore the first day of
November an Order-in-
Council had been passed,
formulating a policy of
“patient waiting,” and
a duly accredited Min-
ister of the Crown dis-
patched to Pembina, to
co-operate throughout
with Mr. Macdougall.
This was not done, and
certainly the prospective
Lieutenant-Governor
was powerless to accom-
plish alone that which subsequently required Sir Garnet
Wolseley, in command of a thoroughly equipped armed
force, to accomplish; not forgetting that seven months had
elapsed between the formation of Riel's Provisional Gov-
ernment and the arrival of troops from Eastern Canada.

Not until May, 1870, was Canada’s fiscal agent (Sir John
Rose) authorized to pay the purchase money accruing to
the Hudson's Bay Company for the purchase of the North-
West Territories, and not until the 23rd day of June (1870)
that the Imperial Government legally transferred Rupert's
Land to the Dominion of Canada. Six months after the
date of William Macdougall’s elevation to an office at the
time beyond the jurisdiction of the Dominion Government,
Sir John Macdonald wrote to Sir John Rose:—

“T}.le longer Riel remains in power, the more unwilling will he be
to resign it, and I have therefore no great confidence in his ratifying
any arrangements made here with delegates. Under these circum-
stances, the preparations for the expeditionary force must not be
delayed. We shall receive the delegation with all kindness and I
think, beyond all doubt, make an arrangement with them; but we

shall, at the same time, prepare for the expedition to leave by the
end of April or beginning of May.”

LOUIS RIEL




Sir John's faith in the preparedness of the Imperial
Government was not justified by results. Lord Grenville
urged the Dominion authorities to countenance the accept-
ance of military assistance in the North West, safeguarded
by first paying the purchase money (81,500,000) to the
Hudson’s Bay Company; while Sir Edward Clinton
Murdock’s “Instructions” included a proviso that ‘‘the
military were not to be employed to force the people to
unite with Canada.”

Sir John Macdonald wrote to the Governor-General, Sir
John Young (Lord Lisgar) with reference to the almost
asinine reservation that, even though troops were sent to
quell rebellion in the North West, the etiquette of picnics,
not articles of war, or laws applicable to treason or sedition,
should prevail:—

“They are to be of no use. If we accept the country we are com-
mitted to its conquest, and must go on. We cannot return the country
to Her Majesty or to the Hudson's Bay Company. Again, why should

we be called upon to pay for troops that may be ordered not to act
when they get to Fort Garry?”’

This was common sense, propounded by a statesman who
fully understood the pink loop tactics characteristic of
Downing Street. Beyond peradventure, like Lord North
and His Majesty, King George of old, Sir Clinton Murdock
and his ilk were fully prepared to extend mental hospitality
to a policy resembling in a moderated sense that which, a
century before, terminated disastrously, in one portion of
America.

But Mr. Macdougall, hampered by murderously inclined
insurgents, was expected to keep the peace; in other words,
discharge the duties of a policeman, powerless to use his
baton. In all fairness, he was under existing conditions
entitled to more consideration. Happily upon returning to
the East, one Provincial as well as two Federal constituen-
cies honoured themselves by electing him to represent
them.

Years of association with the Hon. William Macdougall
convinced the writer that few public men—apparently cold,
impassive, unimpressionable — possessed to a greater degree
sterling gifts of heart and mind. Sentimental to-a fault,
generous, simple in his tastes, full of the spirit of forgiveness
and loyal friendship, he apparently, did not know what
bitterness and acrimony meant; his well-stored mind re-
'sponded readily to the call of political ally or opponent;
he delighted in counselling young associates, at times
seeming as though his whole being rebelled against retain-
ing vengeful or unmanly feeling. He cared little for wealth
or luxury, finding solace in his library, and peace and con-
tentment in the home circle. He had been wrongfully
censored on many occasions, betrayed by party politicians
scores of times, but maintained both dignity and courtesy;
one of his favourite precepts being, “‘Our Saviour never
preached a doctrine suggestive or approving of treachery
and hatred towards a fellow man.”" Not long ago, the writer
perused a letter written by Lord Byron, in which Richard
Brinsley Sheridan, the author and orator, was referred to.
Byron wrote: ‘I saw him (Sheridan) weep at Robbins' the
auctioneer. The occasion of his tears was some reference or
another to the sturdiness of the Whigs, in refusing office
and maintaining principles. Sheridan rose and said:
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“Sir, it is easy for my Lord G. or Earl B. or the Marquis B. or
Lord H., with thousands upon thousands a year, some¢ ‘presently
derived or inherited in either sinecure or acquisition from public
money, to boast of their patriotism and resist temptation; but these
do not know what temptation others have kept aloof from, who
had equal pride, at least equal talents, and not unequal passions,
and nevertheless know not, in the course of their lives, what it was
to have a shilling of their own.’ In saying this, he wept.”

The writer thought of William Macdougall; unlike
Sheridan, he was never impecunious; a call upon him for
charity or moderate financial assistance seldom met with
a rebuft.

A phase in the North West uprising, one gravely com-
plicating the situation, is worthy of careful consideration,
namely: the critical illness of Sir John Macdonald, in the
early summer of 1870. For months before, he had com-
plained of indisposition, but resolutely insisted upon devot-
ing many hours, even to midnight, in personal efforts tu
solve the North West problem and its unanticipated
entanglements. Many of his letters at that period were
dictated by Sir John to his secretary, Mr. Charles Drink-
water (afterwards Secretary of the Canadian Pacific Rail-
wav). This gentleman’s handwriting so much resembled the
chirography of the Prime Minister that few could distin-
guish one from the other. Examining some lengthy corres-
pondence between Sir John and Mr. Macdougall, and
personally conversant with the late Mr. Drinkwater's pen-
manship, the writer was astonished at the similarity. This
fact is emphasized in view of the possibility of the Conser-
vative chieftain’s approaching illness, prior to 1870, being
questioned. Few readers in 1929 can estimate the political
rancour of those dark days and the almost inhuman per-
secution and misrepresentation by which enemies sought to
overwhelm him. When, on Friday, the 6th of May, 1870,
telegraphic messages were flashed throughout all conti-
nents: “Sir John Macdonald is prostrated by a- critical
collapse;”" political hostility moderated for the time being.
In the House of Commons, Sir George Cartier announced
with deep regret, that the Premier was in a critical condi-
tion, although after the lapse of a dayv, medical attendants
were hopeful of recovery. co

Doctor Bown, member for North Brant, and Doctor
Grant (afterwards Sir James Grant) were unremitting in

‘their efforts to alleviate the terrible sufferings of their dis-

tinguished patient. The former, addressing the House, said
that he “had received a note, calling him to the bedside of
the afflicted statesman, and found the symptoms alarming.
The disease was biliary calculus, from which he suffered
excruciating agony, until late in the evening. Remedies
applied were effectual in relieving him. He spent a restless
night, and at nine o’clock that morning, there was a slight
improvement, subsequently confirmed. He was still unable
to be removed, and, of course, to attend the proceedings in
the House.”

Sir John had been working incessantly at Council
meetings, and with his usual devotion to duty where
great national issues were involved, neglected personal
interest or physical comfort. Serious problems demanded
the concentration of every mental attribute upon
questions of vital moment to the people of the Dominion.
The North-West troubles were critical; added to this, many



of his associates were far from inclined to assume responsi-
bilities, personal or political. Even Alexander Campbell, his
colleague (afterwards Lieutenant-Governor of Ontario) was
in no degree enamoured of the proposed acquisition of
Prince Rupert’s Land and the Territories; the same with
the Hon. Joseph Howe, for the time being doubtful as to
the efficacy of the Government policy. After the murder of
Scott, another element, to a great extent racial, consequent
upon Louis Riel being leader of the half-breed malcontents,
produced further entanglements. In all candour, it must be
said that dissatisfaction consequent upon Hudson’s Bay
procrastination, seemingly countenanced by Lord Grenville,
as well as Sir Stafford Northcote complicated the situation.
In some instances, Sir John Macdonald was left to bear the
responsibility for many grave decisions, but chivalrously
assumed the burthen. His illness emphasized this; was, in
fact, an object lesson, which—though tragic in many
particulars—brought into bold relief the shady side of
administrative life. Those who had been vouchsafed oppor-
tunities for observing events during the past few years, fully
realized that the passing of Sir John Macdonald would be
an irreparable national loss. Civine beneficence otherwise
ordained. By the beginning of June, the stricken statesman
was able to expedite convalescence; visiting Prince Edward
Island. The end of September found him again actively
discharging the duties of his department.

Concerning the sad episode of 1869-70, Mr. Macdougall
was very reserved; evidently having determined—after the
publication of ““Six Letters addressed to the Hon. Joseph
Howe, M.P.,”” Secretary of State—to consider this chapter
in his life closed. In 1881 a party of Eastern men visited
Manitoba, myself among the number. The ex-Governor
was received very cordially at Emerson, where a banquet
was tendered him; he was also the guest of his son-in-law,
Mr. George Brown, then manager of the Ontario Bank in
Winnipeg, but refrained from reopening old wounds. Not
for years after did he offer any further reasons for having
been driven out of the country in 1869-70; this was in 1895
replying to a letter from Mr. William Houston, of Toronto.
Both gentlemen were born in York (now Toronto) and had
been connected with the Globe. Mr. Houston was an able
exponent of Canadian constitutional law and a lecturer of
cultured prominence. In his response, Mr. Macdougall
guarded against a suspicion of recrimination. He briefly
recounted the circumstances leading to his appointment as
Lieutenant-Governor, his experiences at Pembina, condi-
tions existing during his sojourn, the brutal assumption of
authority upon the part of a group of half-breeds, their
domineering tactics when warning him against any attempt
to reach British territory, insisting upon quartering them-
selves in his private residence; his family were terrorized
and his life threatened, the marauders becoming so aggres-
sive that Mr. Macdougall armed himself and household
with revolvers. His mail and telegrams were tampered
with, his authority flaunted. After reciting these facts, he
referred to his recall, but reflected upon no one as precipi-
tating his appointment and failing to protect him in the
hour of tribulation. He remained a personal friend of Sir
John Macdonald, who seldom addressed him otherwise
than ‘“‘“William."”
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In 1869 Mr. Macdougall suffered bereavement conse-
quent upon the death of his first wife, to whom he had beep
married for twenty-four years; she was the daughter of
Mr. Joseph Easton of Millbank, Ontario. In 1872 he
married Mary Adelaide, daughter of John Beatty, a promi-
nent physician of Cobourg, Ontario, a lady universally
respected, and one whose gentle ministrations solaced him
during a prolonged illness, occasioned by a fall from the
platform of a car in motion at Cobourg station. He died in
May, 1905, in his eighty-fourth year at his residence in
Ottawa, comforted by the presence of his much-loved wife
and family. The Government of which Sir Wilfrid Laurier
was Prime Minister
granted the widow a
crown pension, in recog-
nition of eminent serv-
ices rendered the Do-
minion by her distin-
guished husband. Mr.
M. O. Hammond in his
“Fathers of Confedera-
tion’’ haspreserved many
interesting episodes in
the life of his old friend
and journalistic coad-
jutor, while that brilliant
oratorand journalist, the
Hon. Joseph Howe, after
associating with William
Macdougall in public
life, placed on record that
which was not only deserved but doubly significant when
delivered by a great contemporary from whom he had
many times differed: “Mr. William Macdougall is the
ablest parliamentary debater I ever heard.”

LOUIS RIEL ELECTED M.P.

The return of Lieut.-Governor Macdougall from a situ-
ation presaging deplorable eventualities, naturally created
intense feeling throughout the Dominion, and without un-
duly enlarging upon agitation following public meetings,
inflammatory appeals and political discord, mainly centred
upon Federal as well as Provincial Governments, both being
invoked to adopt summary methods whereby Riel, the
President of a newly formed Provisional Government at
Fort Garry, should be brought to justice and tried for his
offences—one in particular, condemnation of Thos. Scott,
an Ontario man, and carrying out of the death sentence,
despite intercession of leading men and women of Selkirk
Settlements. It may, therefore, be advisable, without en-
larging upon the gravity of Riel’s crime, to briefly refer to
events following Sir Garnet (afterward Lord) Wolseley's
expedition to the disaffected country in 1870, quelling of
the Riel-Lepine uprising, the insurrection of Metis and
Indians, restoration of peace, and vindication of law and
order.

Louis Riel owed much to Bishop Tache, that eminent
prelate ensuring him his education and preparation for a
life of active usefulness. His Grace was in Rome when the
insurrection reached a climax. Appealed to by Sir John
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Macdonald, Prime Minister of the Dominion, he returned
immediately, travelling post haste to Fort Garry. Too late,
however, Thomas Scott was dead and Wolseley had crushed
the uprising. Riel and some of his emissaries had escaped,
seeking refuge in Montana. In 1873 it was announced that
he had again visited Manitoba, only crossing the border.
News was sent over the wires that the fugutive from justice
would be a candidate in Provencher, Sir George Cartier,
the French-Canadian leader in the Federal House at
Ottawa, having been elected for Provencher after being
defeated in Montreal in 1872, his death creating a vacancy
in the constituency. Meanwhile a reward of $5,000 had
been offered by the Blake-Mackenzie Government for the
capture of Louis Riel—Mr. Blake having become Premier
of Ontario and Mr. Mackenzie (subsequently Prime
Minister of the Dominion, 1873-1878), Provincial Treasurer.

In the General Election, 1874, Riel was returned for
Provencher, Manitoba, the question being—‘how is he to
sign as member of the House of Commons?” He did so:
visited Montreal for weeks, came to Hull, Quebec, crossed
to Ottawa, signed the roll and was immediately rushed back
to Hull, P.Q. Even today few are conversant with Riel’s
pilgrimage to Ottawa in 1874. The writer is able to furnish
these particulars, related by the man who was his guide
and counsellor, from the day he left Manitoba until arriving
in Montreal. That was fifty-five years ago.

Travelling in the West (1905), and detained for some
davs at the old Revelstoke Hotel, British Columbia, the
writer met an old friend from Montreal, Mr. Joseph Tasse,
then representing a house extensively engaged in cigar trade.
He was a cousin of the late Senator Tasse. who in 1882 was
elected to represent Ottawa City in the Federal House.
During a casual conversation, Mr. Joseph Tasse intimated
that he went through a rather perilous experience with
Louis Riel. Asked for particulars, he answered :—*'It is not
a secret now, and most of those who acted with and against
Riel, have passed away. I really do not see why the facts
should not be recorded.”

It may be stated here that the unfortunate man, Louis
Riel, had been once amnestied and went to Montana; but
in 1885 came back to Manitoba, led a second rebellion
which was quelled by troops under the command of General
Middleton, Louis Riel being captured, tried and sentenced
and suffered the extreme penalty at Regina, N.W.T., in
1886.

This is the story of Riel's trip to Ottawa in 1874, after
being elected for Provencher. The interesting particulars
conveved to the writer by Mr. Tasse ate given as follows:—

“When leaving Montreal in the autumn of 1873, I little
imagined what strange experiences I would have before
returning to the city I loved so well. I was eighteen years
of age, with all the term implies, for I thought there would
be little trouble getting a corner on most of the world.
Since then, needless to say, I have changed my opinion.
A voung man usually thinks he can get around the world;
but the result is, the world gets around him. To cut the
story short, however, I went to Winnipeg, better known
then as ‘Fort Garry.” Of course, our route was via St. Paul;
at the latter place I met Commodore Kitson, formerly of
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Sorel, who sent me from St. Paul to Moorehead, where I
took the Red River Transportation Company's boat.
Kitson lived in St. Paul, being the agent. That was the
first time I met Donald A. Smith afterwards Lord Strath-
cona, who was connected with the company. Arriving at
Winnipeg, I met Mr. Larivierre, formerly from Montreal,
afterwards member for Provencher.

“Meanwhile, a warrant for the arrest af Riel and Lepine,
signed by Dr. O'Donnell, J.P., had been issued. Father
Richot was then in Ottawa. I, having been in Winnipeg
for four months, and about to go East, went to pay my
respects to Archbishop Tache. Subsequently, his Grace and
Messrs. Girard, Royal, Larivierre and Dubuc, after some
explanations, requested that I should accompany Riel to
the East: it had been decided that he should travel under
the name of Pierre Louis David, consequent upon the
Ontario Government having offered a reward of five thou-
sand dollars for his arrest. I understand the name he then
assumed was for some time on his tomb in St. Boniface.
My instructions were to join Riel at Brainerd, opposite
Mg)orehead, on the Northern Pacific Railway. I went by
stage to Brainerd where two half-breeds met me, subse-
quently joining Riel. He was on horseback. The stage trail
was on the west side of the river, and in order to avoid
settlers, he had taken the St. Boniface side. I was accom-
panied by the half-breeds to Riel’s camp, where a big fire
was blazing. Riel was badly dressed, his clothes being
patched. He wore a Persian wool coat. We took the train
and went to a place called Thompson's Junction. Riel
carried a revolver. He said, ‘Joe, there is danger in being
with me; you sleep one-half of the night and I'll sleep the
other.” He had formerly worked in a wholesale grocery in
St. Paul, and was quite safe when he arrived there. We then
proceeded to Chicago and Cleveland. Arriving at the latter
place, we went to a hotel near the station, registered as
P. L. David and Joseph Tasse. After examining his room,
where there was only a wooden partition between the next
apartment, he said, ‘We won't stay here, Joe.” Riel then
went to the Presbytery, where the priest sent him to a safe
boarding house. He insisted on going to church for early
mass. There he met a lot of Canadians and some old men,
who left Canada at the time of the troubles in 1837.

“Riel confided his name and was treated with the utmost
kindness. We proceeded to Plattsburg, N.Y., where I left
him with some of the Fathers, and went to Ottawa to see
Father Richot, and learned that the Mackenzie Govern-
ment had been sustained. After leaving Plattsburg, his
former classmate, Dr. E. Lachapelle, took a great interest
in Riel, advising him to get married and go to Montana,
United States, as, if he continued to take part in political
agitation, his mental faculties would be affected. Many
friends rallied to his assistance and Pierre Lauzon, a well-
known cab man, volunteered to drive him from Montreal
to Hull, opposite Ottawa, where he, it was afterwards said,
was met by Dr. St. Jean, M.P. for Ottawa, subsequently
crossing to Ottawa, signing the roll as a member, and
immediately returning to Montreal. He was not in very
good health, and was induced to go to the asylum at Long
Pointe, where he appeared to be completely cured. Fre-
quently warned, the offer of a reward, and his seat declared



vacant in Parliament, he decided to go through the States
and settled in Montana. He was very shrewd and far-seeing.
I remember him saying to me, after being shaved, ‘If this
barber knew there was a reward of five thousand dollars
for my head, how dangerous it would be.’ I heard no more
of him again, until reading that Dumont went after him from
Batoche, then the rebellion of 1885, which cost him his life.

“Nearly all who took part in that tragic episode of 1870
are dead, including Lieut.-Governor Archibald, Archbishop
Tache,Senator Girard, ex-Lieut.-Governor Royal, Attorney-
General Clarke, who had the warrant signed, Father Richot,
and ex-Lieut.-Governor Schuliz. Riel was educated by
Bishop Tache, afterwards worked in St. Paul, then came
to Manitoba. His father had been prominent in that Prov-
ince. 'When he went to Montana, he taught school there.
Years ago, accompanied by Dr. Lachapelle, Judge Dubuc
and Lalonde (afterwards C.P.R. Passenger Agent in Mont-
real), I visited Riel's mother, at the old family place on
Red River. She bemoaned her son's fate, but felt grateful
for the sympathy expressed by many. I believe ex-Mayor
Beaugrand of Montreal collected a fund for the education
of Riel’s children, some of them still live at the old family
homestead at Saint Norbert, Manitoba.”

This closed the interview. Poor Tasse has long since been
added to the death roll of those who participated in the
Riel Insurrection, or were officially interested in it.

Louis Riel was no ordinary character; he had enjoyed
many advantages denied other young men in a new country
and, to some extent, primitive environments. In a volume
entitled “Women of Red River,” edited by Mr. W. J.
Healey, Librarian at Winnipeg, many interesting facts are
chronicled, verbally conveyed to him by the pioneer women
of various districts in Manitoba.

The second white woman in the west was Marie Anne
Lagimmiere, born near the banks of the Pembina River.
She arrived in the West the summer of 1807, accompanying
her husband inoneof the canoesof a brigade which travelled
by the fur traders’ route from the St. Lawrence, a journey
of 2,000 miles. They came up the Red River from Lake
Winnipeg, and passed the mouth of the Assiniboine on their
way to the headquarters of the buffalo hunters at the
mouth of the Pembina. There, in a wigwam, on January
6th, 1808, the first child of the Lagimmiere's was born—a
girl who grew up to become the mother of Louis Riel.
Marie Anne Lagimmiere died in 1878 at the home of the
youngest of her sons, Benjamin, near St. Boniface. Marie
Anne was the daughter of a farmer named Charles Gaboury,,
below Three Rivers, Province of Quebec. There she married
Jean Baptiste Lagimmiere, when twenty-five years of age.
They went to the Northwest, and at the end of the first
winter in the west, with her husband and others (Chalifon,

Belgrade and Paquin) all married to Indian women of the
Cree tribe, Marie Anne with her infant in a moss-bag, went
across the plains to within sight of the Rocky Mountains
and spent several years within the boundaries of the
Hudson’s Bay Company’s post at kEdmonton, known as
the Fort of the Prairies. Madam Lagimmiere gave birth to
her second child, who was called ‘“‘Laprairie” because he
was born in the middle of the prairie. At this time, there
was not a white woman within the present States of Min-
nesota, South Dakota, North Dakota, Wyoming, Idaho,
Washington and Oregon. “The first white woman,” writes
Abbe Dugas, ‘“‘who crossed the continent, south of the
International line, were the wives of the two Presbyterian
missionaries who accom-
panied their husbands to
Oregon in 1836.” These
were Marcus Whitman
and Henry Spalding.
Madame Roger Marion
(formerly Mrs. Julienne
Carriere, born in Red
River) thus referred to
LouisRiel :— ‘T often saw
Louis Riel when I was a
girl. We all thought he
was very handsome. He
was very polite and well
educated. He was a fine
horseman. Once 1 went
with Mr. Taylor, the
American Consul, to see
Louis Riel’s mother. She
would not say anvthing )
at all. She did not want to talk to strangers about her son.”

When the Riel rebellion broke out in October, 1869, Dr.
Cowan was acting Governor, consequent upon the illness
of Governor McTavish (the latter died in England a few
months subsequently, two days after landing in Liverpool,
July, 1870). Mrs. Cowan stated that she never was afraid
of Riel until the shooting of Thomas Scott. She stood with
Donald A. Smith (afterwards Lord Strathcona) at a window
of her house and saw Scott led out blindfolded. That Riel
possessed some redeeming qualities is insisted upon by one
of the old settlers, Mrs. Bernard Ross, who happened to be
sojourning in Fort Garry when Riel raised the flag of his
Provisional Government. Mr. Bannatvne said to him,
“Monsieur le President, this is Mrs. Bernard Ross. She
wants to get out and go home.” Riel bowed low, saving,
“Ladies have alwavs the first consideration in war as in
love.” And she was permitted to depart.

DONALD A. SMITH
(late Lord Strathcona)



Explorers and Their Great Work

Part |

StELIL BAnDs FroM OCEAN TO OCEAN

The Dominion's Diamond Jubilee was a grateful com-
memoration of the wisdom of those whose faith in fibre
characteristic of a people charged with the stewardship of
a vast public domain, had been triumphantly vindicated.
A North Western desert transformed from barren waste
into a garden of plenty; two prosperous ocean to ocean rail-
ways in operation, stupendous mountain barriers overcome;
each revolution of the wheels of industry proclaiming
industrial activity throughout nine Provinces; expansion
of commerce in every section; Federal annual revenue
aggregating $450,000.000, and a population each year ad-
vancing towards perfected autonomy.

A brief epitome of the situation in earlier days, naturally
suggests reference to British Columbia’s entrance into the
union, and reasons for her people expressing faith in the
ultimate success of the project. A transcontinental line
between-the Atlantic and Pacific should awaken paramount
interest in the minds of all Canadians, especially the
men and women of the present generation. Consolidation of
nine provinces was but a beginning: diverse problems re-
quired solution—first the question of money, for it must be
remembered that at that period the annual revenue, as
announced by Sir Francis Hincks (Finance Minister, 1871),
amounted toless than 816,000,000; second, of greater magni-
tude was an effort to induce a far ocean colony to merge
her fortunes with Eastern communities, thereby becoming
the keystone to the arch of national aspirations. True to

: her traditions, British
Columbia responded in
the affirmative, result-
ing in a treaty with the
Dominion and comple-
tion thereafter of a
definite contract with
capitalists, whereby
bands of steel welded
the provinces' a com-

pact, all hope, will
never be violated,never
regretted.

In 1857-58, the Home
Government appointed
a Commission ‘‘to en-
quire into the adapta-
bility of the colony of
Canada for settlement
and constructing of a

DR. HECTOR
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transcontinental railway through British territory, from
the Atlantic to the Pacific, thus connecting, and
at the same time providing. a safer and more direct
means of communicating with British possessions in
the Orient.” The Chief Commissioner, Captain Palliser.
was an officer of the Artillerv Militia, his coadjutors being
Lieutenant Blackiston, Royal Artillery, John Sullivan,
Doctor James Hector and Mr. Bourgeau. These officials.
covering a period of four years, made many informative
reports, devoted to the western shores of Lake Superior
and between that point, across the prairies and mountains,
to the Pacific, including opinions upon the feasibility of
railway construction. Doctor (afterwards Sir James)
Hector's investigations at ‘Kicking Horse Pass™™ are
perpetuated by a granite shaft, in proximity to “The Great
Divide.” Captain Palliser commented upon facilities for a
“waggon road.”

The Queen’s speech, at the opening of the British Parlia-
ment in 1858, contained the following paragraph, announcing
the Imperial proclamation elevating British Columbia to the
dignity of a Colonial appendage of the Crown:—

“I hope that the new colony on the Pacific may be but one step
in the career of steady progress, by which my Dominions in North

America may be ultimately peopled in an unbroken line, from the
Atlantic to the Pacific, by a loval and industrious population.”

Captain Palliser’s report somewhat dampened the ardour
of British statesmen. He spoke disparagingly of the country,
painted the outlook in gruesome colours, magnifying vast
expenditure and waste of capital, were an exclusively British
line constructed. He dolefully declared: “The time has now
forever gone by for effecting such an object.” It would be
difficult to conjure a more pessimistic rendering of possibilities
and probabilities. Even prospective settlement received scant
hospitality. He closed his report by registering an opinion,
that the unfortunate choice of astronomic boundary lines
“completely isolated the Central American possessions of
Great Britain from Canada in the East, and almost debarred
them fromany eligible access from the Pacific coast on the West.™

In short, Capt. Palliser, after several vears' examination
(58 to '60), fully believed in the impossibility of a trans-
continental railway—his report to the British Government
further stating:—

“The knowledge of the country on the whole would never lead me
to advise a line of communication from Canada across the continent.
to the Pacific exclusively through British territory. The time has
forever gone by for effecting such an object: the unfortunate choice
of astronomical boundry line had completely isolated the Central
American possessions of Great Britain, from Canada in the East

and almost debarred from any eligible access from the Pacific coast
on the West.”



It will be interesting for those conversant with subsequent
events, to recall that twelve years after, a report made to
the House of Commons of Canada (a survey and explorations
presently referred to) outlined a route via Yellow Head Pass
(1872-73) and a few years after (1883) by Kicking Horse
Pass—two routes to the Pacific Ocean, both through Canadian
territory!

Some years prior to the exploratory work of the Palliser
Commission, Major Carmichael Smythe, a British engineer
of high repute, published a remarkable pamphlet, in the 50’s in
which he advocated a railway from Selkirk Settlement (Mani-
toba) across the prairie. The frontispiece comprised a map of
certain portions of the United States and Canada, a red line
emphasising his proposed route, almost identical with the
line built by the Canadian Pacific Railway. The writer was in
Liverpool, England, late in the eighties when this distinguished
man’s name andachievementswere commemorated by his early
friends and admirers, who united in raising a handsome tablet
over the last resting place of one whose experience and genius
enabled him to cast the horoscope of a great work uniting
East and West—ocean with ocean.

Between Palliser and Major Carmichael Smythe, a British
explorer and engineer, Mr. Walter Moberly believed in the
latter. He had met Capt. Palliser, and a brief conference
between the two was sufficient. Moberly took the trail; he
was already prominent in connection with Provincial Govern-
ment work, meriting the confidence of Western men, including
those officially his superiors. Today, his memory is honoured
by the great Province of British Columbia, his “shack’ in
the Selkirks, the pride of pioneer contemporaries and their
descendants.

Moberly's diary containing notes of services rendered by
him to Canada are invaluable. I carefully perused them. He
claimed the honour of first discovering the district known as
“Roger’s Pass.”” His brother, Frank Moberly, also informed
the writer that he too knew of the whereabouts of the famed
“valley”; in this connection, relating an incident character-
istic of Indian wariness, ere taking chances in an expedition
surrounded by contingent hazards: "I started out with my
Indian attendant, he carrying ropes and other paraphernalia;
we arrived at a precipice overlooking wild stretches not far
removed from the point I was anxious to reach. We attached
a heavy rope to the trunk of a tree, letting the rope drop
about ninety feet. ‘Now, Charley,” said I, ‘slip down and
hold the rope steadyv.” My explorer-guide baulked; resting
against the tree he blubbered out, ‘No, no, Missur Mobbly -—
You go first an’ I'll stay here an’ pray! He stayed, but as to
the prayer, I doubt very much.”

Walter Moberly emphatically claimed to be the first dis-
coverer of the route afterwards named ‘‘Roger’s Pass.”” The
writer, however, only heard of this diffaicult engineering prob-
lem about 1883, when the Hon. John Henry Pope, acting
Minister of Railwavs, shewed him a telegraphic despatch
announcing that "A. B. Rogers has solved the finding of a
pass through the Selkirks™ —or words to that effect. Moberly
devoted the energies of a lifetime in the service of British
Columbia. Only a few weeks before he died, I was vouchsafed
the pleasure of a long conversation with him, being informed
that an appreciative Frovince, through its Government, had

awarded a crown pension of $25.00 (twenty-five dollars) per
month. A life’s indemnity! This man’s memory deserves
national recognition.

He had been assistant to the Surveyor-General for British
Columbia: had explored the Gold, Selkirk and Rocky ranges.
The life of Walter Moberly, his wonderful physical activity,
engineering attainments and practical analysis of surrounding
conditions, would prove a valuable addition to western
chronicles. In his diary may be found the record: “I blazed
a cedar tree and wrote about it—this is the pass for the over-
land railway.” It is to be regretted that Palliser’s association
with Moberly was very brief, simply a personal introduction
Moberly always regretted it, for Palliser held that the moun-
tainous Gold Range would prove an impassable barrier against
railway construction.

In 1862 Mr. Sandford Fleming published a pamphlet en-
titled “A continuous line of railway, with electric telegraph,
is better calculated to meet the permanent wants of this
country and serve the interests of the Colonial Empire than
any other means of communication, between the two oceans.”
Mr. Fleming informed various friends, including the late
George Johnson, Dominion Statistician, that his attention
was first concentrated upon the subject. Studying Major
Carmichael Smythe’s book, convinced him that the project was
feasible. In 1863 the settlers of the Red River Valley and
adjacent lands, adopted resolutions in support of “an inter-
ocean railway in British territory,” appointing Mr. Sandford
Fleming to represent their interests. Accepting the responsi-
bility, he submitted the Red River memorial to Lord Monck,
then Governor-General of Canada; then proceeded to Eng-
land and through the Duke of Newcastle, Colonial Minister,
was able to approach members of the government. The Red
River memorial, as presented by Mr. Fleming, contained
many cogent reasons for an effort being made to consummate

the great ocean to ocean enterprise, setting forth:—

(1) “The whole country through which the proposed road would
run, from Lake Superior to the Rocky Mountains, is remarkably
level. The surface of this vast region is, generally speaking, like
the ocean surface in a calm; and besides being so remarkably
level, is for the most part, free from the heavy forests, which
in Canada, and elsewhere, cause much delay and expense in
road making.”

(2) “Canada would derive great benefit from overland carrying
trade, which would spring up immediately, upon the establish-
ment of this route, while the constantly increasing traffic of
this district and British Columbia would be thereafter, an ever-

increasing source of profit.”

(3) “It would also be most expeditious, and, as a result of such
commerce and traffic along the route, Central British America
would rapidly fill up with an industrious and loyal people.
Thus from Vancouver Island to Nowva Scotia, Great Britain
would have an unbroken series of colonies, a grand confederation
of loyal and flourishing provinces, skirting the whole United
States frontier, commanding at once the Atlantic and the
Pacific.”

() *“We observe that American influence is rapidly gaining ground
here, and if action is long delayed very unpleasant results
may arise.”

The pioneers of Canada’s new North-West certainly deserve
encomiums for their far-sighted horoscope. What they ventur-
ed to forecast and Mr. Fleming’s interpretation of conditions
2



existing, as well as future possibilities, were the beginning of
practical efforts to weld east and west

“Into one coherent whole,
One with Britain, heart and soul.
One life, one flag, one fleet, one throne.”

Immediately prior to that memorial and Mr. Fleming's
activities, the Committee on Foreign Relations of the House
of Representatives in the Congress of the United States,
reported favourably upon the annexation of the British North
American Provinces! Twelve fundamental articles were ap-
proved of, one in particular:—

“That the United States would aid in the construction of a railway
from Nova Scotia to the St. Lawrence River, a railway from Ottawa
by way of Sault Ste. Marie, Bayfield and Superior in Wisconsin,
Pembina and Fort Garry on the Red River of the north to the Pacific
Ocean, by granting 12,800 acres per mile and guaranteeing dividends
of five per cent, provided such guarantee of stock did not exceed
$30,000 per mile.” : E
The Red River memorial was a challenge and an answer:

rejection of the American proposal. Then followed further
manoeuvering at Washington, publicity being suppressed for
purposes quite apparent to Canadians, when revealed in 1869.
This historic document set forth:—

“The United States Senate Committee, considering the question of
Pacific Railways reports that the Northern Pacific ran for 1,500
miles near British possessions and, when built, would drain the
agricultural products of Saskatchewan and Red River districts, east
of the Rocky Mountains and the gold country on the Fraser, Thomp-
son and Kootenay Rivers, west of the mountains. From China
(Canton) to Liverpool, it is 1,500 miles nearer by the 49th parallel
of latitude than by the way of San Francisco and New York. This
advantage, in securing the overland trade from Asia, will not be
thrown away by the English, unless it is taken away by our first
building the North Pacific road, establishing agencies at Puget
Sound, fixing mercantile capital there and getting possession on land
and ocean of all the machinery of the new commerce between Asia
and Europe. The opening by us first, a North Pacific railroad, seals
the destiny of British possessions west of the 91st meridian. They
will become so Americanized in interest and feeling, that they will
in effect be severed from the new  Dominion and the question of
annexation will be but a question of time."”

British Columbia's
reply was—entrance into
an agreement to co-
operate in consolidating
the Dominion. Canada’s
answer — determination
to proceed with cons-
truction of a Canadian
Pacific Railway. The
United States built its
great trunk line towards
the Pacific, but operated
no through line without
breaking bulk. On the
otherhand, Canada’'srail-
way received passengers
and cargoes in Montreal,
neither breaking bulk nor
necessitating changes at

SANFORD FLEMING AND
REV. GEORGE GRANT

any point, until the Vancouver terminus was reached.

One of the early advocates of a trunk line from ocean to
ocean was Mr. Edward Watkin (afterwards Sir Edward).
He was connected with
the Grand Trunk Railway
and at that period a
potent factor in Canada’s
public life. The railway
was heavily indebted to
this country; so far back
as 1863, Mr. Malcolm
Cameron, a prominent
Liberal, who had been
elected a member of the
Legislative Council, men-
tioned Mr. Watkin in a
letter to Mr. Sandfield
Macdonald, then head of
the Macdonald - Sicotte
Government, as one to
be accounted with upon
the issue of arbitration
between the Grand Trunk
and Canada,in connection
with the latter’s claims
against the railway. George Brown was opposing this,enlarging
upon the‘‘crashes and smashes’ in Grand Trunk railway opera-
tions. Mr. Cameron, in his letter, detailing an interview with
George Brown, adds: ““Watkin sayvs, ‘He is a liar now and if
he shirks that he will be down on them.”” Whether this
reference was to Mr. Brown or otherwise appears chimerical.
However, Watkin did not impress the Hon. George Brown,
nor was Mr. Watkin highly esteemed by Canadians. Two
vears later, he corresponded with Sir John Macdonald, who,
on the 27th of March, 1863, replied:

.

SIR FRANCIS HINCKS

“We shall have every opportunity of talking the subjects of the
North-West over with you. If Canada is to remain a country separate
from the United States, it is of great importance that they (the
U".S.) should not get behind us by rights or by force and intercept the
route to the Pacific.”

Mr. Watkin's anxiety evidently included guardianship of
Grand Trunk interests; possibly connections with American
lines, then in course of construction. Later, Sir John bitterly
resented Grand Trunk connections with American rail as
well as steamship lines at Portland, Maine. Mr. Watkin had
written a powerful plea, A British Railway from the Atlantic
to the Pacific,” favouring a road to the Pacific, quoting Her
Majesty's speech from the Throne in 1858. In this he em-
phasized Her Majesty's inspiring message which ‘found a
fervent echo in the national heart,’ " and continued to engage
the earnest attention of England. He asked, ‘‘How is this hope
to be realized: not a century hence—but in our time>" . . .
“For Japan, for China, for the whole Asiatic Archipelago and
for Australia, such a route must become the great highway
to and from Europe, and whatever nation possesses that
highway must of necessity wield the commercial sceptre of
the world.” . . . "At the southern end of Lake Winnipeg there
still exists the hardy and struggling Red River settlement,
now called Fort Garry, and dotted all over the continent, as
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lights of progress are trading posts of the Hudson's Bay
Company.” . .. “We say then establish an unbroken line of
railway from the Atlantic to the Pacific.”

The Treaty of 1871 between Canada and British Columbia,
provided that in consideration of the latter joining the Union,
a railway should be built from ocean to ocean, construction
to begin in two years and the road finished in ten. In 1872
Parliament ratified the covenant. At that period the current
revenue of the Dominion—as stated in the House of Com-
mons, by Sir Francis Hincks, amounted to 815,512,225. The
population of British Columbia was estimated at 60,000—
20,000 Europeans and 40,000 Indians and Chinese. Canada's
white population was 3,673,944. For purposes of financial re-
adjustment, it was decided to assume the population of
British Columbia to be 60,000, segregated by a racial stand-
ard; the European class being much less proportionately.

Part 11

THE TrivMPH OF FarTH

The marvellous expansion of Canada's Northwestern do-
main certainly verified the axiom that genius, merged with
rugged determination and courage, could face and subdue the
forces of nature. From 1789—one hundred and thirty-nine
years—such men as Sir Alexander MacKenzie, David Thomp-
son, Simon Fraser, Alexander Henry, Sir George Simpson,
Sir John Franklin, the Jesuit priest Father De Smet, Doctor
Hector,Sir Carmichael Smythe, Walter Moberley, Sir Sandford
Fleming, Major A. B. Rogers, Marcus Smith and host of
topographers and engineers, blazed trails throughout vast,
supposedly impassable, mountain ranges; never deaf to the
call of duty, always faithful and fearless, ever diligent and
uncomplaining, evading no responsibilities, although entailing
almost superhuman effort. These included Joseph Heckman
(now a resident of Montreal), Secretary, “Bud” Ebberts,
Charles Perry, Henry McLeod and Henry Cambrie, the
latter subsequently a trusted executive official of the
Canadian Pacific Railway Company. Mr. Cambie was
universally popular, an intrepid engineer and explorer.
He died in 1923 at his home in Vancouver. Such beacon
lights illumine the pathway of the present generation.
It may be, and is, in diverse directions but demand-
ing similar sacrifices, similar devotion, similar concen-
tration of mental and physical activity. Nevertheless, the
voung man of today, steward of present and future,
cultivating these virtues, may and will be a potent
factor in moulding the destinies of his native or adopted
country—Canada. True, few monuments, fewer statues,
perpetuate the deeds of those rugged Pathfinders. Possibly
fewer thoughts go out towards their memories, whilst thou-
sands, nay millions, are reaping golden harvests from their
toil, their patriotism, their self-abnegation. The plea of some
may be that the country covers such a vast area, and, conse-
quent upon demands, business has so increased, that there is
not sufficient memory to cover everything. How about our
neighbours across the border? The excuse may be specious;
nevertheless, the message stands in golden letters upon the
pages of our history. The departed heroes will never be
deprived of one memory—that the Simplicity of Greatness
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and the greatness of conquest heroically achieved. It is a
world heritage as distinctive in Norway and Sweden as in
British Columbia or any of the eight other Canadian prov-
inces. With this reference to far-off davs, the writer will out-
line work accomplished by some of those mentioned above.

During the summer of 1872, engineers were in the field,
running trial lines, analysing conditions connected with
earlier explorations, compiling such historic records as shed
further light upon the character of the country through
which it was proposed to build Canada's national under-
taking. At the head of the engineering staff was one who
had already established a reputation for capability, inde-
fatigable energy and exemplary conscientiousness—Mr.
Sandford Fleming (afterwards Sir Sandford). His early
reports were enlightening; those in 1874 proved conclusively
no mistake had been made, when placing him in the fore-
front, as possessing qualifications requisite for so stupendous
a work. Honest, intrepid, physically capable of prolonged
endurance and mentally endowed with practical intelli-
gence, Mr. Fleming fulfilled his duties with a thoroughness
seldom equalled, certainly never surpassed. He loved his
work with that passionate devotion characteristic of en-
thusiasts, whose optimism never faces difficulties except to
overcome them. His reports up to 1874, detailed an explora-
tory journey from Fort Francis in Ontario to the Yellow
Head Pass, thence to ""Téte Jaune,” in the northeastern
portion of British Columbia, thence down the Thompson
river to Vancouver Island.

Dangers, difficulties and complications, seemingly insur-
mountable obstacles to be overcome, might well have
discouraged an ordinary pathfinder. Where nature frowned,
presenting apparently impregnable barriers, Nature’'s God,
omnipotent and beneficent, had endowed the explorer with
attributes equal to the mighty responsibilities assumed.
Life was perpetually jeopardised; the writer recalls the
terrible adventures of Frank Hannington and Major Jarvis
in the wilds of the North, lost amid snowstorms, frozen
streams and precipices and only saved by search parties, in
time to be restored. Despite perils encountered and over-
come—a pass through the mountains was located. Sandford
Fleming considered this the best available route at that
time (1872-74).

Sir John Macdonald was Prime Minister of the Dominion
from Confederation (1867), until November the Sth, 1873.
In 1871 and session of 1872, Parliament sanctioned an
enactment authorising the building of the Canadian Pacific
Railway in accordance with terms of Treaty with British
Columbia when (1871) entering the Union. Supplies were
voted for preliminary requirements, exploring staffs and
engineering equipment. A general election took place in
1872, the Government of Sir John being sustained. Conse-
quent upon the Opposition bitterly attacking the Conser-
vative administration, a period of discord, political dis-
ruption, charges and counter-charges followed, productive
of unavoidable crisis. On November 5th, 1873, the Govern-
ment resigned, Hon. Alexander Mackenzie, leader of what
was then the Reform Party, being invited by the Governor-
General, Lord Dufferin, to assume office. Mr. Mackenzie
appealed to the country in January, 1874, obtaining a
phenomenal majority.



November 7th, 1873 to October 10th, 187 ".

Premier and Minister of Public Works Hon. A. MACKENZIE
Minister of Justice - - - Hon. A. A. DorION
Minister of Agriculture - - Hon. L. DE ST. JuUsT
Minister of Finance - - - R. J. CARTWRIGHT
Minister of Marine - - - Hon. Sir A. SMITH

DaAvip LAIRD
D. CHRISTIE
Isaac BURPEE

Hon.
Hon.
Hon.

Minister of Interior - - -
Secretary of State . = - =
Minzister of Customs - = -

Postmaster-General - - - Hon. D. A. MACDONALD
Receiver-General - - - Hon. T. CoFFIN
Minister of Inland Revenue - - Hon. J. FOURNIER
Minister of Militia - - - Hon. W. Ross
President of Council - - - Hon. L. S. HUNTINGDON
Non-Portfolio - - - - Hon. E. BLAKE

Dissolution of the House had to some extent been un-
expected, and his public addresses upon construction of the
Canadian Pacific Railway proved far from satisfactory to
British Columbia, more
particularly the sugges-
tionof ‘‘landand water”
utilization and "‘better
terms’’ as to thespecific
naming of a date by
which the railway
should be in operation.
The Governor-General
visited the disaffected
Province, on a mission
of intercession; he was
accorded an enthusias-
tic reception, but failed
to pacify the malcon-
tents. Subsequently
Lord Carnarvon, Brit-
ish Colonial Secretary,
consented to act as in-
termediary, but the
parliamentary enact-
ment embracing Lord Carnarvon's suggestions, approved in
the Commons, was defeated in the Senate. The Mackenzie
administration, however, authorised construction of certain
sections of railway skirting Lake Superior pointing towards
Winnipeg.

HON. ALEX. MACKENZIE

THE CONTRACT

In September, 1878, dissolution of Parliament took place,
the Government meeting with overwhelming defeat. Sir
John A. Macdonald returning to power. The deck was
cleared for action. In 1880, the Prime Minister, accom-
panied by Sir Charles Tupper and the Hon. John Henry
Pope, met in London, the result being a tentative proposi-
tion, based upon just and reasonable terms, induced capital-
ists to undertake this transcontinental project and to
finish the work within ten years. The Government covenant-
ed “to complete and hand over to the Canadian Pacific
Railway Company, the lines between Winnipeg (in Mani-
toba) and from Savona Ferry to Port Moody, in British
Columbia; also as well as a branch already completed from
Emerson to Winnipeg; also, to grant the company a cash
bonus of 825,000,000 and 25,000,000 acres of land’ —the

86

company guarantee-
ing to construct inter-
vening sections, com-
prising more than
three-fourths of the
entire railway, includ-
ing the stretches of
prairie between Mani-
toba and the moun-
tainous barriers west;
thus connecting with
work already partially
completed. The first
Directorsof the Cana-
dian Pacific com-
prised the following
gentlemen :—
“George Stephen,
Duncan MclIntyre,
John S. Kennedy
of New York, R.
B. Angusof Mont-
real, James J. Hill
of St. Paul, Henry Stafford Northcote of London,
Pascoe du P. Grenfell of London and Baron ]. de
Reinach of Paris.”

Scarce had the ink dried upon official documents, cover-
ing the contract entered into by the company, and witnessed
by the Governor-General, the Marquis of Lorne, than
relentless opposition began, fomented by some whose
patriotism should have elevated their aspirations far above
mere political or com-
mercial chicanery.
Happily, that day ap-
pears to have passed,
only to be recalled as
a warning to those
who are stewards of
Canada's future.
Nevertheless, it
should not be for-
gotten that emissaries
of the Grand Trunk
Railway, a splendidly
equipped road, in
which a very respect-
able sum of Canada's
money had been in-
vested, utilised every
influence to hamper
Canadian Pacific

SIR A. A. DORION

SIR RICHARD CARTWRIGHT

financial negotiations in Europe, co-operating as well with
New York financiers. The sympathies of Henry Labouchere,
a member of the British House of Commons and editor of
a powerful newspaper called 7'7uth. were enlisted in attack-

ing Canada's first national transcontinental line. It were

well to perpetuate at least one effort:—

“The Celmadian Pacific Railway Company has begun to launch its
bonds. This railway, if it be ever finished, will run through a country
frost-bound for seven or eight months of the year, and will connect



with the eastern part of the Dominion a province which embraces
about as forbidding country as any on the face of the earth. British
Columbia is a barren, cold mountain country, that is not worth
keeping. It would never have been inhabited at all unless by trappers
of the Hudson Bay Company, had the ‘gold-fever’ not taken a party
of mining adventurers there. Fifty railroads would not galvanize it
into prosperity. The much-touted Manitoba settlement will not
hold out many years. The people who have gone there cannot stand
the coldness of the winters. Men and cattle are frozen to death
in numbers that would astonish the intending settler if he knew;
"and those who are not killed outright are often maimed for life by
frost-bites.”

Sir Henry Tyler, President of the Grand Trunk, Sir
Joseph Hickson, and, if records be reliable, Sir Edward
Watkin, united in opposition; to such an extent that Sir
John Macdonald urged Sir Charles Tupper, then High
Commissioner in London, to warn the offending con-
spirators!

“Ny Dear Tupper:

“You see we have come to the rescue of the C.P.R. The attempts
to ruin that enterprise and bear the stock are most atrocious. Can
you and Rose” (Sir John Rose, Dominion Financial Agent and
formerly Finance Minister for Canada) ‘‘get reliable evidence of the
unfavourable action of the G.T.R.—Sir Henry Tyler, Abbott and
Co.? It would be a great importance to have that evidence, if abso-
lutely necessary to use it next session. Armed with that, I could throw
out a hint that would make Hickson tremble in his boots. Canada
has power not only to see, through its government, that her interests
are not imperilled by the ambition or jealousy of any railway com-
pany, but has a locus standi as a creditor. The G.T.R. owes her
three and a half million sterling, with thirty years’ interest which
she, for the purpose of building up a Canadian Railway for Canadian
commerce, postponed to other claims. It has now become an Ameri-
can line with its terminus at Chicago and Portland. The Canadian
local transport business has been made secondary to the through
or foreign traffic, and Canada must legislate so as to put a stop to
that or enforce its debt.” . . .

(Signed) *‘John A. Macdonald.”

So circumspect were the men who assumed responsibility
for building a railway through the southern location, that
further trial surveys and other investigations were deter-
mined upon. Meanwhile

the roadbed across the
prairie was in rapid
course of systematised
advancement. Mr.Sand-
ford Fleming was again
selected as admittedly
possessing all qualifica-
tions for dependable
counsel and indefatig-
able industry. Latein the
summer of 1883, he, then
in England, was called
toCanada by the C.P.R.
directors and commis-
sioned to equip a party,
accompanied by packers,
and, as the journey pro-
gressed, engaging guides
conversant with the wild
region to Dbe explored,
comprising as it did vast mountain problems, the terribly
precipitous Gold and Selkirk Ranges, whole districts blocked

EDWARD WHYMPER
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by fallen timber, gigantic in size, interspersed with masses
of rock, lakes, swamps, streams and rugged tangles of brush-
wood. The Canadian Pacific track was then at Calgary.
Writing about this historic journey, Mr. Keith Morris paint-
ed in gruesome colours the days of starvation, hopeless
longing, lost supplies, soaked clothing and marshes through
which the explorers forced their way in water and snags up to
their hips. The party accompanying Mr. Fleming consisted
of his oldest son, Mr. S. H. Fleming, C.E. (now residing in
Ottawa), the Rev. George M. Grant, Vice-Chancellor of
Queen's University, Engineer A. B. Rogers (who had report-
ed upon Roger’s Pass a year and a half before), Al Rogers,
his nephew, together with five packers. Mr. Fleming had de-
cided upon traversing thenewly-found cleft in the mountains.
In his diary, he recorded this fact:—

“We cross clay, rock, gravel slides at a giddy height. I do not
think I can ever forget that terrible walk;<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>